
Itaúsa  GRI 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8

Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. is a pure listed holding 
company organized for the purpose of supporting 
the companies in which it holds interest through the 
performance of studies, analyses and suggestions about 
operating policies and expansion projects, providing 
resources to assist the respective business needs and aiming 
at strengthening its position in the capital market and 
related segments.

Its principal subsidiaries are alto listed companies 
holding wide business participation in Brazil and 
worldwide.   The head office of these companies, which 
operate in the manufacturing and financial sectors, as 
well as of Itaúsa, is located in the State of São Paulo.  
Duratex S.A., Elekeiroz S.A., Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. 
and Itautec S.A. represent consolidated assets of R$616 
billion and generate more than 117,000 direct jobs. 
  GRI 2.1, 2.4

With 45 years of experience, Itaúsa was appointed by the 
U.S. “Fortune” magazine the 149th largest company in the 
world, in a list ranking the top 500 companies in terms of 
results disclosed until March 2009.  The holding company 
was the Brazilian company that recorded the highest 
growth rate on the ranking, having risen 124 positions 
compared with 2008. 

Alternatives to expand its operations in the financial and 
industrial markets will always be considered.  However, 
any opportunities, however attractive, will be rigorously 
evaluated and their risks will be considered, especially 
regarding their business, their market and the country in 
which they are located. 

In the industrial area, Duratex manufactures wood 
panels. Its Deca brand produces metal and bathroom 
fittings.  Duratex is the largest manufacturer of metal 
and wood panels in the Southern Hemisphere, and the 
absolute leader in the Brazilian market.  It has production 
units in the Northern, Southern and Southeastern 
regions of Brazil, and owns commercial offices in the 
United States and Belgium, in addition to a small metal 
fittings industrial unit located in Argentina.  

Elekeiroz, a manufacturer of intermediary chemical 
products for other companies, is South America’s only 
integrated producer of Octyl Alcohols, Maleic and Phthalic 

Anhydride, Plasticizers and 2-Ethylhexagonic Acid.  In its 
115 years of existence, the company has been a pioneer 
in producing various chemicals in Brazil.  Its industrial 
activities are developed in two strategic locations: 
Camaçari (State of Bahia), Brazil’s largest petrochemical 
hub; and Várzea Paulista (State of São Paulo), next to the 
country’s largest consumer market for industrial inputs.  

Itautec is a 100% Brazilian-owned company. Founded 
30 years ago, it owns the 10th largest installed base of 
automated-teller machines (ATMs) in the world and the 
second largest in Latin America, according to Retail Banking 
Research1, and has its own network for technical assistance 
in information technology, which is the largest in Brazil. The 
company’s technological solutions supply the corporate 
and household markets and are present, through Itautec’s 
subsidiaries, in North America, Latin America and Europe. 

In the financial sector, the holding controls Itaú Unibanco 
Holding S.A., the largest financial conglomerates in the 
Southern Hemisphere in assets.  According to Bloomberg, 
the institution’s market value as of December 31, 2009 
was US$104.4 billion, and it ranked ninth among the 
world’s largest banks.   In 2009, the bank was present 
in 1,100 cities throughout Brazil.   The bank’s services 
network comprises approximately 4,900 branches and 
customer site branches, in addition to more than 30,000 
ATMs installed in all regions of Brazil.  It also operates 
abroad, with branches and offices in the Americas, 
Europe and Asia, being present in 12 countries. 

The sustainable operations of the holding and its 
subsidiaries were recognized for their inclusion in the Dow 
Jones Sustainability World Index (DJSI). Itaúsa was classified 
in six modalities of the index, and was appointed as leading 
financial services company in sustainability for the third 
consecutive year.  Besides Itaúsa, other seven Brazilian 
companies appeared in the 2009/2010 edition of the index, 
two of which also belong to the group: Itaú Unibanco 
Holding S.A. and Redecard. Itaú Unibanco, in turn, is the only 
Latin-American bank to compose the index since its creation 
in 1999, thus, for ten consecutive years. 

In the past six years, Itaúsa has supported the Bolsa de 
Valores Sociais (Social Stock Exchange) project in Brazil. The 
initiative brings together the largest national companies 
listed on the BM&FBovespa Stock Exchange.

Pça. Alfredo Egydio de Souza Aranha, 100
Torre Olavo Setubal – São Paulo – SP – Brasil – 04344-902
www.itausa.com.br
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1  Retail Banking Research is an internationally recognized organization 
conducting research studies on bank automation and systems development for 
more than 30 years. 
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Itaúsa 2009 2008 2007

Economic-financial
(R$ million, except as otherwise indicated)

Total assets 615.962 643.201    300.036

Operating revenues 115.681 83.282 59.379 

Net income 11.742 5.431 8.916 

Shareholders’ equity 57.956 48.283 33.933 

Return on average shareholders’ equity 22,1% 14,4% 28,8%

Internal generation of funds 36.013 16.930 19.403 

Distribution of income by sector  
(R$ million)

Equity income

    Financial area 3.788 3.767 3.268 

    Industrial area 166 268 271 

    Duratex 102 141 132 

    Elekeiroz 25 82 81 

    Itautec 39 44 57 

Others 3 3 53 

Total equity income 3.957 4.038 3.592 

Income/Other Assets/Liabilities, Net (-) taxes (8) 39 70 

Non-recurring income (18) (1.377) 326 

Net income of the holding company 3.930 2.700 3.988 

Social-environmental

Number of employees (1) 117.373 122.540 78.186

Investments in educational, training and  
development programs (R$ million) 119 123 82

Direct energy consumption (GJ) (1)  2.624.774 2.247.469 3.095.788

Water consumption (m3) (1) 7.902.925 9.268.145 7.797.246

Total emissions (1) 365.769 400.004 283.380

Main Indicators  GRI EC1

2009 = R$38.2 billion

Statement of Value Added – DVA (*)

2008 = R$19.9 billion

30.47%  43.32%   

36.51%  26.84%   

2.26%  2.54% 

30.77%  27.30%   

(1) The figures for number of employees, water and energy consumption, and direct and indirect emissions in 2007 do not comprise Unibanco. (*)  The Statement of Value Added (DVA) is the accounting report that synthetically evidences the amounts related to the wealth generated by the company in a certain period, and 
its respective distribution. 
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Charges, Taxes and Contributions

Remuneration of Third Parties’ Capital - Rentals

Remuneration of Own Capital
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The Itaúsa 2009 Annual Report describes the Group’s 

performance, prospects, goals and management 

model in the period from January 1st to December 31, 

2009. Itaúsa discloses its report annually and releases 

it to the Group’s internal public, clients, suppliers, 

shareholders, investors and the communities.  The 

last report, published in 2009, referred to the results 

recorded in 2008.    GRI 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 4.14

As a result of the evolution of this document and 

the Group’s management instruments, from now on 

Itaúsa’s report will rely on the guidelines provided 

for in the latest version of the GRI – Global Reporting 

Initiative, named G3.  These efforts were based on the 

analysis of previous reports so as to seek reporting 

synergies, taking into account the importance of 

the impact of each company on issues related to 

sustainability and how they can be determined by 

Itaúsa in a consolidated form.  This study involved 

various teams of companies and, seeking alignment 

around the same principles and guidelines, we carried 

out the 1st Itaúsa Annual Report Workshop, which 

defined how this meeting of indicators would happen 

in practice. 

Some of our companies have already adopted this 

model. Itaú Unibanco has disclosed its performance 

based on these guidelines since 2004, and Elekeiroz 

has first published its report this year.  Thus, the 

consolidation will take place in all governance levels 

and subsidiaries, and may offer to our audiences an 

integrated view of the economic, financial, social and 

environmental development of Itaúsa, as well as of its 

subsidiaries.  As a pattern, beginning this year all the 

Group’s companies will adopt the GRI guidelines. 

About this report
 GRI 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.5, 3.6, 3.7, 3.8, 3.10, 3.11, 4.14, 4.15



In order to facilitate identification, the icon next to  

the texts indicates the contents corresponding to  

the GRI indicator. 

The economic, financial, social and environmental 

information presented herein encompasses the 

Group’s four companies – Duratex S.A., Elekeiroz S.A., 

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. and Itautec S.A. – and their 

operations in Brazil, except as otherwise indicated.  

Economic and financial data were verified and audited 

by BDO Auditores Independentes, while social and 

environmental information has not been ascertained 

by external independent auditing.  Data collection 

involved the companies’ principal areas, and there 

was no need to reformulate the information included 

in the previous reports.  This report was submitted to 

GRI’s application level test.  GRI 3.13

For further information, see:  www.itausa.com.br  

 GRI 3.4



Message from the 
Chairman of the 
Board of Directors  GRI 1.1

Throughout the years, the Itaúsa Group has directed its 

view toward the future and, in this sense, the year 2009 was 

emblematic. By reorganizing its Corporate Governance, 

the Holding Company advanced in the search for a closer 

relationship with its shareholders, in the establishment of the 

conditions required for the sustainability of its business, and 

in the expansion of the horizon for investments.  The measures 

adopted were based on decisions that favor the commitment 

to ethics and generation of sustainable results, which are the 

fundamentals of our way of being, and, in our opinion, crucial 

requirements for the Company’s management. 

The institution of our Group’s Corporate Governance included 

changes in the composition of the companies’ Boards.  Just as it 

had been happening with Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A., Duratex 

S.A., Itautec S.A. and Elekeiroz S.A. will count, from now on, on 

market professionals and independent advisors. 

In 2009, we have also given important steps towards our strategic 

goals. In the beginning of the second half of the year, Duratex 

S.A. and Satipel Industrial S.A. merged to create the biggest wood 

panel company in the Southern Hemisphere and the world’s 

seventh largest bathroom fittings manufacturer. 



José Carlos Moraes Abreu

Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Itaúsa Group redesigned its Corporate Governance in order 

to become even more competitive and foster the sustainable 

development of its subsidiaries.  Our actions are conducted on 

the basis of a long-term view, alignment with sustainability and 

excellence in management and results.

In the first year of the integration of Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. 

and as a result of the association with Porto Seguro insurance 

company, we expanded our participation in the bank and 

insurance sectors.  

Our Group continues to grow in an orderly and sustainable 

manner. We have concentrated our efforts on medium and 

long-term objectives, giving priority to management excellence, 

alignment with social demands and achievement of results. 

We are optimistic about the future and believe that it depends on 

us to build a company worthy of the Brazilian society, as well as of 

this society’s sustainable development wishes. 
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Message from the Chief 
Executive Officer  GRI 1.1

The Itaúsa Group has firmly maintained its development trajectory 

in a year marked by uncertainty about the recovery of the world’s 

economic growth. Fortunately, we have seen signs of economic 

recovery in Brazil in 2009, despite the decline in manufacturing 

production and increase in credit restrictions in the international 

market as result of the financial crisis triggered in 2008.  The swift 

reestablishment of bank credit in Brazil, which reached 45% of 

GDP in December 2009, was fundamental for this recovery.  Credit 

conditions also increased significantly. 

The positive prospects and the markets’ confidence in the Brazilian 

economy were confirmed especially as of the third quarter of the 

year, when employment, consumption and investment indicators 

proved the most optimistic forecasts were correct.

 Amid this scenario, the Itaúsa group registered quite expressive 

results in 2009. 

With regard to our principal subsidiaries, Itaú Unibanco Holding 

S.A. completed the first year of the association that originated the 

largest private financial conglomerate in assets in the Southern 

Hemisphere, a period dedicated to the process of integration of 

the two institutions. In this period, we elected a new Board of 

Directors and defined our Executive Committee. Some decisions 

relating to our business model and market opportunities have 

also been taken.  The association between Itaú Unibanco and 

Porto Seguro resulted in the biggest car and home insurance 

company in Brazil.

In the technology market, sales continued to point upward.  The 

increase in sales, the hike in credit supply and the confidence 

of consumers in the economy should maintain the growth pace 

for hard goods sales in 2010. The restructuring of Itautec S.A.’s 

Corporate Governance will provide for the company to take 

consistent advantage of the business opportunities offered by this 

promising outlook.   

In line with our expansion strategy in the industrial 

area, the association between Duratex S.A. and Satipel 

Industrial S.A. resulted in the creation of the largest wood 

panels manufacturer in the Southern Hemisphere.  Our 

positive estimates for 2010 rely on the new company’s 

competitive advantages, which are related to management 

quality, economies of scale, geographic diversification, 

complementarity of products and a production model 

involving high integration levels.  



Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Chief Executive Officer

The Brazilian industry of chemical intermediates for industrial 

use was deeply affected by the global financial crisis in 2009, as 

well as by the common downcycle in this sector, which usually 

happens after a period of large expansion investments.  Besides, 

lower market prices also hurt the profitability of companies in 

this industry.  However, confirming the recovery of the Brazilian 

economy, the total production registered by Eleikeiroz S.A. in 2009 

was only slightly lower than that recorded in the previous year.  

The industry is giving clear signs of recovery in relation to volumes 

and revenues, which strengthens our optimism regarding the 

performance of Elekeiroz S.A.

As part of market recognition, Itaúsa was proud to rank in the 

Dow Jones Sustainability World Index (DJSI) for the sixth time, 

also being appointed, for the third consecutive year, as a leading 

company in sustainability in the financial services sector. 

For the Itaúsa Group, the operations carried out by its subsidiaries 

must be grounded on the commitment to Corporate Governance 

and sustainable actions.  The new structure of the Boards aims at 

leading the Group to make good use of new business opportunities 

and create better conditions for the development of our people. 

Looking towards the future and at a higher integration among the 

organizations of the Itaúsa Group, we will continue to endeavor 

achieving significant and relevant results for society. We are 

grateful to all those who have accompanied our journey in the 

past three years. 
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During a particularly difficult year for the world’s economy, the 

Itaúsa Group exemplarily fostered the integration between major 

institutions and guaranteed the management alignment among the 

companies, in addition to achieving excellent results. This expertise 

is in accordance with the Group’s history and guarantees an even 

sounder future for the Holding Company and its subsidiaries.





01. The Group

The companies improve their competition 
capacity by giving priority to technological 
innovation and investing in intellectual capital, 
always concentrating the strategic decisions on 
the Holding Company. 



Our principal subsidiaries are leading companies in the sectors in which they operate: Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. in the financial sector; 

and Duratex S.A., Elekeiroz S.A. and Itautec S.A., which are leaders in their respective industrial sectors. 

Ownership Structure (1)

Cia. Ligna
Seibel Family

ESA 
Family 

Moreira Salles 
Family 

50.0% ON
0.0% PN

33.5% Total

61.0% ON
17.9% PN

34.4% Total

39.0% ON
82.1% PN

65.6% Total

98.2% ON
95.0% PN

96.5% Total

1.8% ON
5.0% PN

3.5% Total

50.0% ON
100.0% PN

66.5% Total

51.0% ON
0.0% PN

25.8% Total 36.2% ON
0.0% PN

18.3% Total

10.3% ON
91.6% PN

50.5% Total

17.8% ON
17.8% Total

35.3% ON
35.3% Total

94.0% ON
94.0% Total

6.0% ON
6.0% Total

42.3% ON
42.3% Total

Free Float

Itautec

IUPAR Itaúsa

ElekeirozItaú
Unibanco (2) Duratex(3)

Free Float Free Float Free Float Free Float

(1) Direct and indirect interest.
(2) Bank of America holds the following direct interest: Common shares (ON) 2.5%, Preferred Shares (PN) 8.4% and Total 5.4%.
(3) The Egydio de Souza Aranha (ESA) family holds the following direct interest: Common shares (ON) 4.6%.
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Operating Philosophy  
and Basic Guidelines 

By concentrating all strategic decisions on the Holding 

Company, the subsidiaries achieve high productivity levels and 

are able to train their employees and develop the technology 

needed to permanently improve the products and services 

offered to the market. 

This management model also guarantees that the principles 

governing the Holding Company are fully performed by the 

Group’s companies.  People development, business ethics, 

client satisfaction and generation of value for the shareholders 

are unquestionable assumptions that guide the work of Itaúsa 

and its subsidiaries’ 117,000 employees.

Operating philosophy  GRI 4.8

• Strict and professional management of investments;

•  Participates in the preparation of the policies related to the financial 

decisions of the companies, such as indebtedness and risks;

• Independent operations in the subsidiaries; and

• Operations diversity with a defined business focus.

Basic guidelines  GRI 4.8

• Valuing human beings;

•  Ethics, social responsibility and business transparency;

•  Vocation for expansion based on management technology and a 

strong own capital base; 

•  Generation of value for the shareholders in an ongoing and 

sustainable manner;

• Team work; and

•  Training and self-development of employees to occupy leading 

positions in the companies.

Values   

  

Human capital, business ethics, client satisfaction and 

generation of value for the shareholders are assumptions that 

guide Itaúsa’s activities.  



Sustainability View  GRI 4.8

Itaúsa encourages and supports its subsidiaries in the 

integration of social, cultural and environmental practices to 

their businesses, so as to generate value for society within a 

network for not only sharing economic and financial wealth, 

but also for contributing to issues related to the preservation 

of natural resources, access to knowledge and culture and 

reduction of social inequality. 

Sustainability management in Itaúsa’s main subsidiaries is directly 

attached to the nature of each business.

Financial

In order to be entitled to international sustainability recognition 

in the financial sector, in 2009 the Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. 

consolidated its position regarding this issue by disclosing a 

document named “Essence of Sustainability”, which was drawn up as 

a result of inputs from the Group’s stakeholders and established the 

definition of the top eight sustainability challenges to be considered 

in the Bank’s actions.

The eight challenges comprising the “Essence of Sustainability” are 

as follows:

1. Transparency and governance;

2. Client satisfaction;

3. Social-environmental criteria;

4. Diversity;

5. Climate change;

6. Financial education;

7. Microfinance; and

8. Stakeholders’ engagement.

Sustainability governance, which aims to guarantee compliance 

with the commitments undertaken by the area by making initiatives 

feasible, fostering improvement of practices, and aligning decision-

making processes, was reinforced by a structure that comprises 

approximately 70 executives, including members of the Board of 

Directors, down through managers and coordinators.    
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In 2009 the Bank also instituted and disclosed its Sustainability 

Policy, which already integrates the key guidelines of the two 

institutions (Itaú and Unibanco).  The Sustainability Policy 

establishes the guidelines governing strategy and management 

before all stakeholders and are related to:

• Business management;

• Products and services;

• Internal public;

• Relationship with suppliers;

• Clients;

• Society; and

• Environment.

For further information about the “Essence of 

Sustainability” project, see: www.itauunibanco.com.br/

relatoriodesustentabilidade/pt-br/pdf/essencia.pdf.

For the full text of our Sustainable Policy, access: http://ww2.

itau.com.br/socioambiental/pdf/politica_sustentabilidade_

ItauUnibanco.pdf.

Industrial

Itaúsa instituted a sustainability department for the industrial 

sector, the function of which is to deal with the integration, 

control and development of policies and best practices within the 

companies.  The purpose of the corporate unit is to establish the 

rules and standards for the performance of environmental actions 

in the Group’s industrial business. 

 In 2007, the alignment of practices resulted in the mapping of 

environmental risks at industrial units, and raised discussions 

about the impact caused by gas emissions, waste, effluents and 

environmental regulations. This activity resulted in the creation 

of methodology references, created historical series to allow the 

recording of and follow-up on indicators and included the quantity 

and quality of each item analyzed. Therefore, it was also possible to 

define goals for the reduction and improvement actions. 



The sustainability department provides technical support to 

the Group’s industrial plants and business projects.  It provides 

permanent milestones that support risk management related to 

industrial production processes and which, given the ongoing legal 

amendments, require attention and alignment across companies.   

The communication process also included the structuring of an 

e-mail communication channel that makes it possible for society 

to have access to our practices and strategic positions on this issue.  

This relationship channel can be accessed through our companies’ 

websites. E-mails can be sent to the following electronic addresses:   

disk.meio-ambiente@duratex.com.br;

disk.meio-ambiente@elekeiroz.com.br; and

disk.meio-ambiente@itautec.com.br.

Duratex

The issues related to sustainability are a main concern at Duratex.  The 

creation of the Sustainability Committee by the Board of Directors; 

the adoption of environmental policies that are specific to each 

area (Deca, Wood and Forestry); and the adhesion to the Chicago 

Climate Exchange, in which it is possible to trade the carbon credits 

generated by the Company’s forestry base, are examples of the 

effective actions reinforcing our corporate image of a company that 

is concerned about sustainability-related issues.  Other important 

actions were the FSC environmental certification – Duratex is the 

first company in Latin America to obtain this certification for the 

sustainable handling of planted forests, granted to the forestry area in 

1995 -, the adhesion to UN’s Global Compact and the adhesion, as a 

founding member, to the Green Building Council Brazil.   

The consistency of such actions contributed for the Company’s 

inclusion in the Corporate Sustainability Index (ISE) of the 

BM&FBovespa for two consecutive years.

Environment 

 Our companies are prepared to excel in a scenario in which 

environmental issues are crucial for the industrial sector

The preparation of information used to promote best practices 

and their respective disclosure to the market allows for the 

expansion of external communication and aggregates value to 

existing practices. 

As result of this initiative, in the very first year of the  

implementation of the GRI guidelines, Itautec S.A. was awarded 

the 2007 Best Annual Report prize, granted by the Brazilian 

Association of Listed Companies (Abrasca).  Elekeiroz’s 2009 report 

will follow these guidelines, providing for the full alignment 

among the Holding Company’s subsidiaries.  
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Elekeiroz

Care about the environment, rational use of natural resources, 

safety in production and handling of products, both internally 

and externally, are also foreseen in the Company’s sustainability 

management. Based on the Responsible Action Program, 

Elekeiroz is setting up a management system that gets together 

all sustainability-related initiatives and includes our commitment 

to the communities surroundings all our industrial units and to 

global industry for reduction of carbon emissions.     

Itautec 

As a result of the consolidation of Itautec’s environmental actions 

developed in the past years, the Company became a reference in 

the technology market because of its commitments and actions 

aligned with sustainability. With an environmental management 

system implemented in 2001 and NBR ISO140012-certified in 

2003, Itautec has maintained and enhanced its systems and 

commitments to continuous improvements through:

•  An environmental policy that seeks social and economic 

sustainability through technological innovations, ensuring quality, 

productivity and competitiveness in the markets where we 

operate and improving the population’s quality of life;

•  The generation of the so-called “green IT” products, which 

incorporates sustainability concepts in the development, 

manufacturing and disposal of equipment at the end of their 

useful life; and

•  And in recycling-related concepts and practices, becoming the 

first company to develop, in 2003, a process that enables the 

recycling of consumer electronics and which turned out to be 

a reference in our industry. This process allows for equipment 

to be received, disassembled, deprived of their characteristics, 

weighed and, after the sorting of their parts by type of material, 

sent to specialized recycling agents to be processed and 

disposed of.  Upon being recycled, such raw materials once 

again return to the production the chain to be used in the 

manufacturing of new products. 

2  This technical standard aims at making the elements of an efficient environmental management system 
(SGA) available to the organizations and assist them in the achievement of their environmental and 
economic goals. 



37.5%   

 

This is Itaú Unibanco’s market share in revenues in the Brazilian 

credit card segment. 

Itaúsa’s activities are grounded on its main competitive 

differential, which includes: designing the Group’s strategies and 

making comprehensive financial decisions that determine the 

macroeconomic planning of the companies controlled by our 

Holding Company.  

Thus, the Group’s companies gain efficiency to concentrate their 

efforts on their core businesses, improving production quality, 

generating higher value for their stakeholders and providing better 

services to their clients. 

Itaú Unibanco’s priority in the financial sector is to consolidate 

its operations in Brazil, support growth in credit operations, 

expand economies of scale in all client segments and prepare our 

organization and its employees to operate in an institution that also 

competes on the international market. 

As a leading company in the Brazilian credit card sector, with a 

market share of 37.5% in the sector’s revenues, the integration of the 

operations of Itaucard, Unicard and Hipercard resulted in the creation 

of the Country’s largest card issuer. Itaucard and Unicard currently 

offer a wide portfolio of products to 23.4 million account and  

non-account holders. 

More credit to the consumption of hard goods: in late 2009, the 

balance of Itaú Unibanco’s car loan portfolio in Brazil amounted to 

R$52.2 billion.  In the real estate sector, these institution’s unified 

operations totaled a credit portfolio of R$8.5 billion. 

Operations Strategy

Amidst this positive scenario, the association with Porto Seguro 

allowed the creation of Brazil’s largest company in the segment, with 

3.4 million vehicles and 1.2 million properties insured.   

In order to expand Itaú Unibanco’s presence in the international 

market, the Group created the International Advisory Council, formed 

by ten corporate and academic leaders from various countries and 

having relevant experience in the financial industry.

In the industrial sector, Duratex ended 2009 with approximately 

215,000 hectares of own planted, leased and development forests 

that guarantee to the Company a high self-sufficiency level in the 

supply of raw materials, thus setting it highly apart from its peers. 

Other important differentials are the geographic diversification 

of its plants, which are located next to major consumer markets 

in the Southern, Southeastern and Northeastern regions of Brazil; 

the complementarity and diversification of product lines; a sound 

pre  and post-sales assistance and modern plants with high process 

integration levels, among others. 

16        2009  Annual Report   The Group



Itautec, in turn, has as its strategic priority to operate in high-tech 

and higher added value segments, by developing products and 

solutions related to bank and commercial automation, information 

technology and outsourcing, technical assistance, infrastructure and 

installation services.  For this purpose, in 2009 the Company invested 

R$60.7 million in the development of state-of-the-art hardware 

and software, permanently investing in professional training of its 

technical team, which comprises more than 2,000 professionals. 

Since 2008, Itautec products have been exhibiting the “Green Seal” 

granted by the University of São Paulo (USP). The seal indicates 

products manufactured in accordance with sustainable criteria and to 

be purchased by this prestigious higher education institution, which 

recommends adhesion to the principles defined by the European 

directive on “Restriction of Certain Hazardous Substances” (RoHS). 

This guideline establishes restrictions on metals and components 

that may damage the environment. 

In addition to following the RoHS international guideline, Itautec’s 

production also complies with the Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment (Weee) standard, which provides for the adequate 

destination of residues resulting from the disposal of electronic 

equipment when their useful life is over.  The ATMCX3 product is the 

first RoHS-compliant bank automation equipment line.

17

At the end of the year, 100% of the boards used in the Company’s 

desktops, notebooks, netbooks and servers were manufactured 

in accordance with RoHS and were lead free, as part of a process 

initiated in 2006. Itautec improved its product portfolio by launching 

the SM3322 and ST4262 models as part of its “Performance” platform, 

which includes top of the line microcomputers based on cutting 

edge technology and high performance.  

 Products manufactured by Elekeiroz are present in major 

manufacturing and economic sectors, such as:  civil construction, 

footwear and clothing, automotive, visual communication and 

advertising, paints and coatings, food additives and agriculture.  

This comprehensive business portfolio provides for an important 

competitive advantage for the Company due to diluted risks and 

enhancement of opportunities derived from market fluctuations.

In addition to the products resulting from the integrated processing 

of Octyl Alcohols, Maleic and Phthalic Anhydride, Plasticizers and 

2-Ethylhexagonic Acid, Elekeiroz also produces other organic chemical 

intermediates such as: Formaldehyde, Urea-Formol Concentrated and 

Unsaturated Polyester Resins. The sector of non-organic products is 

represented by the production of Sulphuric Acid. 

The leading position of Elekeiroz’s main organic products in 

the Brazilian and Latin American markets – in some of which 

the Company appears as the only manufacturer – significantly 

contributes to its sustainability in a globalized and increasingly 

competitive market.



Duratex S.A.  GRI 2.9

Duratex expands market leadership  

The year of 2009 was marked by the association between 

Duratex and Satipel, which resulted in the creation of the largest 

wood panels manufacturer in the Southern Hemisphere.  The 

new company, a leader in its operating segments, managed 

to strengthen its competitive advantages based on quality 

management, economies of scale, geographic diversification, 

complementarity of products and a production model involving 

high integration levels. Three new wood panels factories were built 

and went live: two MDF and one MDP plants, adding approximately 

1.8 million m3 to the existing capacity of 2.0 million m3.

Since the association process was developed as expected and our 

principal capacity expansion projects were concluded, we could 

concentrate efforts to achieve three objectives:  the construction of 

a new unit to manufacture resins and which should fully supply the 

need for this raw material in the MDF units located in São Paulo, Deca’s 

production capacity expansion, so as to meet the growing demand for 

finishing products for civil construction, and implementation of a new 

integrated information technology system, supplied by SAP3, which will 

allow for a greater integration of processes.  

Shipping volumes at the Wood business unit remained stable, with 

a 15% decline in net revenues, due to the downturn in prices and 

volumes coming from the foreign market. Deca’s business unit, 

which supplies the construction and decoration sectors, reported 

a significant performance, with an average shipping volume of 

19.8 million parts in 2009, a 12.7% increase against the previous 

year. Deca’s net revenues jumped 8.4% to R$757.2 million. The 

Company’s performance was far higher than the average achieved 

by the national construction materials sector.  

In 2010, R$420 million are expected to be invested, 70% of 

which will go to the Wood Division to be used to plant our own 

forests, conclusion of the resins unit; and acquisition of peripheral 

equipment to adjust to the new press capacity of 700,000 m3 per 

year at the Taquari unit, in the State of Rio Grande do Sul.  Deca 

division’s investments should be directed to expand production 

capacity, taking advantage of the positive trends in the Brazilian 

construction sector. 

For further information about Duratex see: www.duratex.com.br/.

 Group Companies

3  The integrated business management system seeks to refer to the company as a whole, and is divided 
into modules, each one corresponding to a specific area. 
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Elekeiroz S.A.

A year of many challenges, marked by management improvements

Elekeiroz also fostered governance restructuring and 

strengthening the Board of Directors, which is now formed by 

a group of independent directors, corresponding to 38% of the 

total board. 

As a consequence of the immediate and strong impact of the 

global crisis on the petrochemical industry – which resulted in 

lower international prices – and the strong appreciation of the 

real against the U.S. dollar, the Company’s gross revenues of 

R$712.8 million and net revenues of R$571.2 million represented 

a 35% decline compared with the previous year.  Despite that, 

Elekeiroz set out a sustainable recovery journey in 2009.  Gross 

revenues, which fell 44.3% to R$159.8 million in the 1Q09 against 

2008, boomed to R$192.8 million in 4Q09, down only by 10% 

compared with the previous year, indicating the consolidation of 

the recovery process underway. 

Still in 1Q09, as a non-recurring event, the Company carried out 

a R$44.3 million cut in the value of its inventories in order to 

adjust to the prices effective in the immediate post-crisis period.  

As result, an operating loss of R$21.5 million was recorded in 

2009, against operating income of R$105.5 million in 2008. After 

calculating the corresponding tax credits on tax losses and within 

the limits of its potential recovery in the near future, Elekeiroz 

recorded net shareholders’ equity of R$3.8 million against R$81.2 

million in 2008 and negative Ebitda of R$0.4 million compared 

with R$126.2 million in 2008.   

For further information about Elekeiroz see: www.elekeiroz.com.br/.



The balance of the portfolio of vehicles for individuals reached 

R$52.3 billion, and the real estate credit portfolio totaled R$8.5 

billion.  With regard to insurance, private pension and special 

savings plan operations, the balance totaled R$52.4 billion in 

technical reserves for the three segments, already taking into 

account the 30% interest in Porto Seguro. 

Itaú BBA transacted debentures and promissory notes through 

our investment bank in 2009. These transactions totaled R$17.8 

billion, while securitization transactions carried out in the period 

totaled R$1.4 billion. In the variable income segment, Itaú BBA 

was the underwriter of public offering of shares that totaled 

R$14.2 billion, and provided financial advisory services on mergers 

and acquisition processes that amounted to R$19.9 billion. 

Net income for 2009 amounted to R$10.1 billion, with 21.4% 

profitability on the average of net assets.   The recurring net income 

totaled R$10.5 billion last year, with profitability of 22.3%.  Itaú 

Unibanco Holding S.A. paid or set up provisions for own taxes and 

contributions in the total amount of R$14.1 billion in the period.  

The Bank also retained and transferred direct taxes on financial 

intermediation, in the amount of R$8.1 billion.  Consolidated net 

assets totaled R$50.7 billion as of December 31, 2009. 

For further information about Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A., see:  

www.itau-unibanco.com.br/ri.

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.

Fast integration and economies of scale

On November 3, 2009, the association that originated the Itaú 

Unibanco Holding S.A. and created the largest private financial 

conglomerate in assets in the Southern Hemisphere completed one 

year. The new company has 102,000 employees and 39.8 million clients.

After the election of the Board of Directors and definition of the Executive 

Management, some decisions were taken regarding the business model 

and market opportunities.   The results from operational integration 

exceeded our expectations throughout the year. 

The unification of Unibanco branches and Itaú platform started in 

August 2009 and should be concluded by the end of 2010.   The 

association with Porto Seguro was also entered into in August 

2009, and resulted in the creation of Itaú Seguros de Auto e 

Residência S.A, a leading Brazilian company in the segment, with 

3.4 million vehicles and 1.2 million properties insured. 

In Brazil, the credit portfolio for individuals totaled R$103.1 billion, 

up by 10.7% against 2008.  The segment of large corporations 

amounted to R$88.9 billion, and micro, small and medium 

businesses segment added R$61 billion to the R$278.4 billion of 

the total credit portfolio, including sureties and guarantees. 

A leader in the credit card sector, the Bank offers products to more 

than 23.4 million account and non-account holders.  
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Itautec S.A.

Changing to grow

As a subsequent event, in February 2010, Itautec announced a 

restructuring in its governance, with the strengthening of its Board of 

Directors and the hiring of a new CEO. This movement resulted from 

Grupo Itaúsa’s comprehensive planning, which includes consistent 

investments in the expansion of the industrial area. This strategy 

reflects the ongoing monitoring of the economic scenario and the 

perception of excellent growth opportunities in the Brazilian and 

international technology markets. 

In addition to the CEO, the Board of Directors was strengthened 

by a group of independent directors who had been leaders in 

large corporations and have a deep knowledge about the sectors 

in which the Company operates, as well as about all product 

development phases.  

Under the leadership of the new CEO, Itautec’s successful track 

record in the development of new technologies and innovations 

now adds to the purpose of reaching new business platforms that 

will benefit all levels of the Company’s relationship with its clients, 

partners and suppliers. 

Gross revenues from sales and services reached R$2.1 billion in 

2009, up by 5.1% against 2008, which indicates the recovery of the 

domestic information technology sector.  Gross profit was R$355.6 

million, up by 20.3% against 2008 and corresponding to a gross 

margin of 19.0%, 2.5 percentage points (p.p.) above the margin 

recorded in the previous year. 
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The Ebitda was R$86.9 billion in 2009, 4.1% above the figures 

reported in 2008, as a result of higher gross margins due to the 

increase in the share of higher added-value products. Shareholders’ 

equity in the period amounted to R$53.6 million, up by 32.1% 

against the previous year and equivalent to an average return on 

shareholders’ equity (ROE) of 11.4%.

For further information about Itautec, see: www.itautec.com.br.





02.  Corporate  
Governance  GRI 4.1

The Group’s governance structures reached 
a new level by fostering changes aiming at 
guaranteeing business competitiveness.  



According to the corporate governance model adopted by Itaúsa 

and its subsidiaries, the function of the Boards of Directors is no 

longer the mere rendering of accounts, and now also includes the 

undertaking of strategic functions in the Group. The work carried 

out in the past three years has focused on the independence of the 

composition of the Group’s Boards and maintained the balance 

and harmony among investors. The chairman of Itaúsa’s Board of 

Directors does not accumulate the function of executive officer 

whenever the composition of this body does not foresee the 

inclusion of independent members.  GRI 4.2, 4.3

According to Itaúsa’s succession plan, and in line with the 

market’s best governance practices, the year of 2009 saw various 

changes in the Group’s Boards of Directors. Such changes 

reinforced Itausa’s ethical conduct in business administration, 

transparency, good governance practices, vocation for 

development and the search for results and sustainable 

performance, always bearing in mind the creation of value for 

our shareholders and the society. 

These changes were inspired in the lessons and values that Olavo 

Setubal left to our Group, and which, undoubtfully, drive as all 

towards enhancing his legacy.  The Group’s new Board of Directors 

include persons who helped Itaúsa and its subsidiaries reach 

their current significant status and who, once again, are giving an 

important contribution for our future structuring.
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Board of Directors

Chairman

José Carlos Moraes Abreu

Deputy Chairpersons

Alfredo Egydio Setubal

Carlos da Camara Pestana

Maria de Lourdes Egydio Villela

Directors

Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Paulo Setubal

Alternate Directors

Ricardo Egydio Setubal

Rodolfo Villela Marino
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Fiscal Council

Law No. 6404/76, as amended, defines the Fiscal Council as a body that 

defends the interests of the shareholders.  It controls the actions of 

the management and issues opinions about the Company’s activities, 

primarily regarding the financial statements, and may be installed on 

an annual basis by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.  In operation 

uninterruptedly since 1997, our Fiscal Council may comprise from 

three to five members. Currently, it counts on three independent 

professionals of the controlling group, one of whom is elected by the 

holders of preferred shares. 

President

José Marcos Konder Comparato

Members

Marcos de Andrade Reis Villela

Paulo Ricardo Moraes Amaral

Committees

Our committees are attached to the Board and their purpose is to 

assist with management and strategic decision-making.     

Disclosure and Trading Committee

Its duties include a range of internal actions aiming at improving 

information flow and ensuring the ethical conduct of managers 

and employees signing the Policy for Disclosure of Relevant Acts 

or Facts and the Securities Trading Policy, so as to preserve the 

transparency, quality, equality and safety of information disclosed 

to the shareholders, investors, the press, government authorities 

and other capital market agents. 

President

Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Members

Alfredo Egydio Setubal

Henri Penchas

Ricardo Egydio Setubal

Rodolfo Villela Marino

Investment Policy Committee

Its principal task is to discuss the relevant issues that may impact 

the businesses carried out by the holding company and its 

subsidiaries.  All tasks are intended to support the discussions 

between the Board of Directors and the Companies’ Executive 

Board about strategic guidelines and business issues.  Such 

duties range from investment opportunities and budget 

guidelines to counseling and supporting the CEO in monitoring 

the corporate strategy.  The group is assisted by the economic 

scenario sub-committee, which supplies the Board of Directors 

with macroeconomic data, so as to support the Board’s reflexions 

about the definition of strategies, investments and budgets. 
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President

Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Members

Alfredo Egydio Setubal

Fernando Marques Oliveira

Henri Penchas

Ricardo Egydio Setubal

Ricardo Villela Marino

Rodolfo Villela Marino

Accounting Policy Committee

It is incumbent on this Committee to review and approve 

accounting policies and procedures. The group’s members 

are elected each year by the Board of Directors, and belong to 

the Board itself, the Executive Board of the Company and Its 

subsidiaries, or are chosen among professionals with proved 

knowledge of the investment, capital market, accounting and 

auditing areas. 

President

Roberto Egydio Setubal

 

Members

Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Henri Penchas

Executive Management

Chief Executive Officer

Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Executive Vice-Presidents  

Henri Penchas

Jairo Cupertino

Roberto Egydio Setubal

Executive Officer  

Renato Roberto Cuoco 

Committees

Itaúsa expanded its internal and knowledge management forums, 

which now includes the committees’ technical activities.  The 

committees, which report to the Executive Board, were also 

created to integrate the companies and share the best practices 

or strategic alignments.  The holding company divided the 

committees according to specific subjects, such as risks and ethics, 

personnel, environment and energy. 

For further information about the expertise of the management 

members, access: www.itausa.com.br.
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Capital Market

Just as Itaúsa, our principal subsidiaries are also publicly-held 

companies listed on the Stock Exchange. It is common  practice 

at Itaúsa and its subsidiaries to carry out comprehensive and 

timely information disclosure through its Policy for Disclosure 

of Relevant Acts or Facts, meetings with analysts, meetings in 

general and traditional communication channels.

In order to strengthen the Group’s commitment to corporate 

governance, transparency and dissemination of capital market 

culture, Itaúsa organizes annual public meetings in partnership 

with the Brazilian Association of Capital Market Investment 

Analysts and Professional, or Apimec, in order to discuss future 

results, strategies and prospects.  Since 2001, nine meetings 

have been held with the analysts.  GRI 4.4

Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. 
December 31, 2009 In millions

QUANTITIES

Number of Shareholders (in units)* 32,036

Total Preferred Shares 2,670

Total Common Shares 1,670

Total shares 4,347

Preferred Shares (controlling shareholders/managers) 481

Common Shares (controlling shareholders/managers) 1,019

Total Shares (controlling shareholders/managers) 1,500

Preferred Shares held in Treasury 1

Common Shares held in Treasury 0

Total Treasury Shares 1

Outstanding Preferred Shares 2,194

Outstanding Common Shares 651

Total Outstanding Shares 2,845

December 2009
Distribution of  

Common Shares
Distribution of  

Preferred Shares
Total Distribution  

of Shares

Controlling shareholders 61.02% 17.98% 34.51%

Treasury 0.00% 0.05% 0.03%

Free Float 38.98% 81.97% 65.45%

* Refer to December 2009
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Performance of shares

The performance of Itaúsa’s securities on the stock market 

recorded a significant growth, despite the market variations 

throughout the year. In 2009, Itaúsa’s preferred shares (ITSA4) 

Itaúsa Discount

Since December 2005, Itaúsa has disclosed each month a section 

called “Desconto Itaúsa” (Itaúsa Discount) on its Investor Relations 

website. This discount is attributed by the market to the value of the 

Company’s shares by comparison with the sum of the market value of 

Itaúsa’s interests in its subsidiaries. This calculation takes into account 

the quotation of the most liquid shares to estimate the total market 

value of the Company and its subsidiaries.  The Company’s website 

(www.itausa.com.br) shows a detailed description of the calculations 

used to obtain such discount. 

registered a Trading Volume equivalent to R$18.9 billion, 

representing an 11.84% increment against 2007.  This variation is 

equivalent to an increase of R$140 million, or 0.75%, against the 

same period in 2008. 

Evolution of US$100 invested on December 31, 1999 up to December 31, 2009
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Financial performance  GRI EC1

Holding company Minority shareholders Conglomerate

R$ millions Jan to Dec/09 Jan to Dec/08 Jan to Dec/09 Jan to Dec/08 Jan to Dec/09 Jan to Dec/08
Net Income 3,930 2,700 7,812 2,732 11,742 5,431 
Recurring Net Income (Note 21d) 3,948 4,077 7,888 4,903 11,836 8,980 
Shareholders’ Equity 19,786 16,592 38,170 31,691 57,956 48,283 
Return on Average Equity (%) 21.5% 16.5% 22.3% 12.8% 22.1% 14.4% 
Recurring Return on Average Equity (%) 21.6% 24.9% 22.5% 22.9% 22.2% 23.8% 

Financial  
Services Area Industrial Area

Jan to  
Dec

Itaú Unibanco
Holding S.A. (*) Duratex S.A. Itautec S.A. Elekeiroz S.A.

Consolidated/
Group (1)

Total Assets 
2009 608,273 4,354 1,298 584 615,962 
2008 637,202 3,395 1,219 659 643,201 

Operating Income (2) 2009 112,181 2,013 1,872 571 115,681 
2008 82,337 1,914 1,787 878 83,282 

Net Income
2009 10,067 181 54 4 11,742 
2008 7,803 314 41 81 5,431 

Shareholders’ Equity
2009 50,683 2,372 496 443 57,956 
2008 43,664 1,641 453 441 48,283 

Return on Average Equity (%) (3) 2009 21.4% 9.1% 11.4% 0.9% 22.1% 
2008 22.1% 19.1% 9.2% 19.2% 14.4% 

Internal Generation of Funds (4) 2009 35,001 301 35 (14) 36,013
2008 17,126 145 94 96 16,930 

(1) Based on the average quotation of preferred shares on the last day of the period.   
(2) Based on the average quotation of preferred shares on the last day of the period (average quotation of PN shares multiplied by the quantity of outstanding shares at the end of the period).

(*) Includes the results of Unibanco for the 4Q08.
(1) Consolidated/Group data is net of consolidation eliminations and unrealized results of intercompany transactions.
(2) Operating revenues by area of operation were obtained as follows:
      •  Itaú Unibanco: Revenues from Financial Intermediation, Revenues from Recovery of Credits Written off as Losses, Revenues from Services Rendered, Revenues from Bank Fees, Revenues from Insurance Premiums, 

Pension Plans and Special Savings Plans, Income from Equity in Subsidiaries and Other Operating Revenues. • Duratex S.A., Itautec S.A. and Elekeiroz S.A.: Net Revenues from the Sale of Goods and/or Services.
(3) Refers to the ratio between net income for the period and the average shareholders’ equity ((Dec + Mar + Jun + Sep + Dec)/5).
(4) Refers to funds from operations, as shown in the Statements of Cash Flow.

Key Indicators of Itaúsa’s Consolidated Results

Key Indicators of Itaúsa’s Subsidiaries

Key Financial Indicators

Jan to Dec/09 Jan to Dec/08 Change %
Net earnings per share – in R$ 
Net Income for Holding company 0.90 0.70 29.2 
Recurring Net Income for Holding company 0.91 1.05 (13.5) 
Recurring Net Income for Holding company (without considering the bonus shares in 2008) 1.00 1.05 (5.0) 
Equity Value of Holding company 4.55 4.27 6.5 
Interest on Shareholders’ Equity and Dividends 0.28 0.33 (14.5) 
Price per Preferred Share (PN) (1) 11.83 8.01 47.7 
Market Capitalization (2) – in millions of R$ 51,411 31,091 65.4 

30        2009  Annual Report   Corporate Governance



Risk Management  GRI 1.2

Through its culture, processes and structures intended to grasp 

opportunities while managing adverse effects, the Group’s 

decision-making processes are grounded on the use of analysis 

tools that provide for the safe performance of sophisticated and 

profitable operations.  

In the financial area, Itaú Unibanco’s risk management activities 

incorporate the best solutions through the Risk Management and 

Capital Committee, which, based on the corporate governance 

practices recommended by international bodies and the 

Basle II Accord, establishes exposure limits and monitors the 

implementation of management policies and methodologies. 

In 2009, the Bank unified concepts and procedures, and revised 

its risk management structure in order to differentiate business 

activities from those dealing with management and control.  The 

principal risk categories were identified as follows:

• Market risk;

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk;

• Operating risk;

• Subscription risk;

• Market risk indicators;

• Social-environmental risk associated with credit operations.

In Itaúsa’s industrial area, the committees offer support to risk 

management so as to protect against adversity. 

Elekeiroz seeks to minimize risks by continuously analyzing 

the factors to which it is exposed or that may have an adverse 

impact on its business, results of operations and financial 

condition.  Changes in the macroeconomic scenario, as well as 

those occurring in the Company’s industry, are monitored so as to 

allow for corrective actions or repositioning, if necessary.  Among 

others, the following variables are maintained under continuous 

analysis and control:

•  Planned mix of domestic and foreign sales, seeking optimization 

of margins and results;

•  Sales to clients from different and important economic sectors;

•  Leadership and high participation in various markets;  

•  The largest client accounts for less than 5% of the Company’s 

total revenues;

•  Low indebtedness level, which, added to the healthy generation 

of its own cash, reduces the risk of high interest rate expenses; 

•  Conservative policy regarding cash generation and financial 

investments, thus avoiding the need for other hedging instruments; 

• Product quality recognized in Brazil and abroad. 

31



Itautec’s guideline is to give priority to:

•  Technological update through agreements with education and 

research institutions;

•  Investments to comply with environmental requirements;

•  High penetration for client service and prospection; 

•  Maintenance of a decentralized client base and application of a 

cautious analysis for credit granting;

•  Regular analysis of scenarios and careful selection of suppliers in 

order to avoid interruptions in the delivery of raw materials. In 

some cases, such as with computer boards, the Company seeks 

self-sufficiency;

•  Constant monitoring of inventories so as to avoid obsolescence;

•  Financial investments only with top institutions;

• Hedging transactions against exchange variations;

•  Insurance coverage for key assets, in addition to a 

comprehensive program for the preventive maintenance  

of facilities;  and

•  Schedule of expected tenders in order to identify business 

opportunities. 

Duratex seeks to reduce the vulnerability of its operations as follows:

•  Hedging transactions, especially to reduce the exposure to 

exchange variations on debt denominated in foreign currency; 

•  Mitigation of risks related to raw materials supply by maintaining 

a diversified base of suppliers. Regarding the strategic supply 

of wood, the Company has ensured self-sufficiency through a 

sustainable forestry program;  

•  Strategic decision to explore segments with higher added value 

and returns, primarily with the launch of product lines for high-

income consumers; 

•  Diffused Sales to more than 28,000 clients throughout Brazil, 

thus reducing credit risk;

•  Investments in technology, primarily directed to industrial 

automation, providing for higher production volumes and  

lower costs;

•  Provision for legal contingencies based on a regular analysis of 

the demands;

•  Strict compliance with applicable laws;

•  Adoption of actions to strengthen the Company’s relationship 

with opinion makers and consumers, by offering technical 

training to architects, decorators, shop assistants, cabinetmakers 

and hydraulic installers, among other audiences;

• Insurance coverage for all units, with strict controls of operations.
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Intangible assets

Itaúsa’s intangible assets involve brands that put together 

tradition, credibility and high performance in their respective 

segments.  Amidst this outlook, we highlight the principal items 

increasing the value of Itaúsa’s assets.

In 2009, the Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. was appointed as the 

second most valuable brand in Brazil by Brand Finance and Brand 

Analytics, being included in the 2009 Brand Yearbook: It ranks 

among the 100 Most Recognized Companies in Brazil, according 

to Época Negócios magazine.  

Duratex, in turn, is commercially benefitted for including leading 

brands in its product portfolio, such as Deca, Hydra and Durafloor, 

in addition to its own Duratex brand, all of which are widely 

recognized in the sectors of metals, sanitary fittings, laminated 

floorboards and wood products.   

Due to their history and presence on the market, these products 

attract clients because of their functional quality, modern design, 

ethical and transparent relationship with their stakeholders, 

policy for valuing employees and initiatives regarding respect 

for environment. The ISO14001 and FSC4 certifications, as well 

as its participation, as a founding member, in the Green Building 

Council, and its participation of the Chicago Climate Exchange 

strengthen the Company’s corporative image.
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The mergers of Duratex-Satipel and Itaú-Unibanco provided for the 

creation of new companies, which strengthened their leadership 

in their respective sectors, as well as their competitive advantages 

based, among other factors, on management quality, economies 

of scale, geographical diversification, complementarity of products 

and a production model involving high integration levels.

  149 th   

 

largest company in the world, Itaúsa has a strong presence in the 

Brazilian and international markets.

Elekeiroz, whose activities started 115 years ago, also detains 

unequivocal recognition from its various audiences, and is seen as 

a trustworthy supplier of high quality ISO 9001 – certified chemical 

and petrochemical products. Additionally, the Company’s principal 

products have outstanding leadership in the Brazilian and Latin 

American markets.

Another company of the Group, Itautec, expanded its presence 

in the domestic and international markets of personal computers 

and bank and commercial automation by offering cutting edge 

products with modern design and high performance.   One of the 

products launched in 2009 was InfoWay 3D, a computer that is 

expected to overturn the market of games, films and photos since it 

enables the viewing of 3D contents. 

Itautec registered its information technology products with the 

Electronic Product Environmental Assessment Tool (EPEAT), an 

environmental assessment tool for electronic products created by 

the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the NGO Greener 

Electronic Council. Since 2008, the Company has recorded the 

largest installed base of self-checkouts in the Iberian Peninsula. 

In 2009, it filed two applications for patents and industrial design 

with the National Industrial Property Institute (INPI). One of 

these applications includes a safety device for bank automation 

equipment (ATMs), while the other refers to the improvement of 

production processes. 

As the
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Awards and Recognitions   GRI 2.10

Itaúsa and its subsidiaries posted important achievements in 2009, 

having obtained various public recognitions related to management 

quality.  The holding and its companies received the following awards 

and recognitions for their actions in different areas: 

International leadership and presence

Itaúsa was included in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index 

(DJSI) for the 6th time, and was appointed a leading company 

in sustainability in the Financial Services sector for the 3rd 

consecutive year. Seven Brazilian companies were appointed for 

the 2009/2010 edition of the index, of which two also belong to 

the Group: Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. and Redecard.  

In July 2009, Itaúsa was appointed the 149th largest company in 

the world by Fortune magazine. The holding was the Brazilian 

company with the largest growth on the ranking, having climbed 

124 positions compared with 2008.  

Corporate Sustainability Index (ISE)

Launched in 2005, the index gets together companies provenly 

committed with sustainability and which were appointed as per 

a list including the 150 most liquid companies on the Bolsa de 

Valores, Mercadorias e Futuros (BM&FBovespa) stock exchange.  

Itaúsa S.A., Itaú Unibanco S.A., Redecard S.A. and Duratex S.A. are 

among the 30 companies from 12 sectors of activity comprising 

this index.  

Bank of the Year in Latin America and emerging markets

It’s worthwhile stressing the “Bank of the Year” award in Latin 

America according to the British magazine The Banker, as well 

as the “Sustainable Bank of the Year in Emerging Markets” award 

granted to Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. by the British newspaper 

Financial Times. 

Best Companies to Work for in Brazil

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. was appointed for two important 

corporate recognitions and was included on the list of “Best 

Companies to Work for,” held by Great Place to Work and Época 

magazine, and appeared among the “Best Companies to Work 

for in Brazil” in the study held by the University of São Paulo and 

published by Guia Você S.A./Exame.



Corporate Citizen of the Americas Award

The Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. received the Corporate Citizen 

of the Americas Award, which is granted to private institutions 

that fight poverty by the Foundation for the Americas of 

the Organization of American States (OAS). The Portuguese 

Language Olympics – Writing the Future, a program jointly 

developed by Itaú Social Foundation and the Ministry of 

Education, won this award in 2009.
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7th Environmental Benchmarking Award Brazil

Duratex’s sustainability management received the 7th Environmental 

Benchmarking Award in Brazil in 2009. The prize is sponsored by Mais 

Projetos Corporativos, a national entity that organizes a database of 

companies with the best management practices. 

15th FIESP Environmental Merit Award

In 2009, Elekeiroz was recognized with an honorable mention 

in the 15th edition of the FIESP Environmental Merit Award 

for the implementation of a specific project at the phthalic 

anhydride production unit in Várzea Paulista, in the State of São 

Paulo, which enables reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 

and energy, water and raw materials consumption. This project 

was presented to the public during the FIESP/CIESP Social-

Environmental Responsibility Show.

A differentiated company in the technology sector

Itautec confirmed its pioneer spirit in sustainability management 

in the technology sector by registering its products with the 

Electronic Product Environmental Assessment Tool (EPEAT).

In 2009, the Company ranked 24th in Fintech 100, a list of the 

world’s largest technology suppliers to the financial sector. 

According to a survey held in 2009 by Fundação Dom Cabral, 

the Company ranked 14th in internationalization in Brazil, which 

corresponds to the top position in the domestic technology 

sector. 

For the second year in a row, Itautec topped the category of 

Electrical-Mechanical Consumption Goods with the product 

“WebWay Projudi” during the PTC Technology Day held in August 

in the city of São Paulo.
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03.  Corporate  
Responsibility  GRI 4.15

Maintaining the values that support our 
relationship with strategic audiences and 
environmental responsibility is the highroads  
that lead to a balanced business atmosphere. 



Itaúsa Group seeks to grow by achieving qualified results, which 

means to develop and foster growth in an ethical and responsible 

manner, building long-lasting relationships with all audiences 

it relates to. With communication actions dedicated to the 

identification and creation of value from issues that are relevant 

to its stakeholders, the Group’s companies, as well as the Holding 

Company, have adopted specific communication procedures, 

whose provisions are included in their respective codes of 

conduct and comply with the nature of each business.

So, in 2009, the Group compliance with the laws, Standards and 

codes related to marketing communication, including advertising, 

promotions and sponsorships, was as follows:

Itaú Unibanco follows ISO handbooks and the Standards of 

Conar (the Brazilian Council for Self-Regulation in Advertising), 

Abemd (the Brazilian Direct Marketing Association) and CDC (the 

Brazilian Consumer Protection Code). The development of direct 

marketing and merchandising pieces are subject to the current 

rules disclosed by Bacen, Anbid and financial regulatory bodies.  

The Bank does not control such information so as to identify non-

compliance cases. 

Itautec does not maintain programs for adhesion of voluntary 

codes related to promotion, advertising and marketing policies, 

but establishes the principles ruling advertising campaigns, in 

accordance with ethical standards and respect for consumers.  

All communications are carried out in a clear and transparent 

manner.  The way Duratex addresses its clients and consumers 

is also guided by principles that include the commitment to 

accuracy of information disclosed and prohibition of the use of 

children in advertising actions. 

With regard to Elekeiroz, the adhesion to the laws, standards 

and codes related to marketing communication, including 

advertising, promotion and sponsorships, is not applicable to 

the nature of the Company’s businesses. In 2009, Itautec and 

Duratex did not record reports or complaints regarding violation 

of self-regulating advertising codes; advertising, promotion and 

sponsorship actions; or related to the violation of their clients’ 

privacy.  GRI PR6, PR7
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Internal Public

Itaúsa and its subsidiaries had approximately 117,000 employees 

in 2009. A total of R$119 million was invested in education, training 

and development programs in this period. Added to employment 

charges and benefits, the staff’s fixed remuneration totaled R$7.4 

billion.  Social benefits for the employees and their dependents 

amounted to R$1.5 million. 

In Brazil, the Group’s 111,424 employees work under the CLT 

regime and are covered by collective bargaining agreements in 

their respective professional areas.  In 2009, the Group did not 

identify operations that could jeopardize the employees’ rights to 

freedom of association and collective agreements.  GRI LA4, HR5

Staff 2009 2008 2007 (1)

Duratex S.A. 8,681 7,886 6,785

Elekeiroz S.A. 683 753 767

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. 96,240 102,649 60,480

Itautec S.A. 5,820 5,285 4,987

Total in Brazil 111,424 116,573 73,019

External Units (2) 5,949 5,967 5,167

Total 117,373 122,540 78,186

Staff per region – Brazil* 2009 2008 2007 (1)

South 9,579 9,784 6,086

Southeast 84,814 89,329 56,029

Midwest 3,656 3,911 2,440

Northeast 6,579 6,726 2,867

North 976 1,188 610

(1) The number of employees in 2007 does not include Unibanco’s operations. 
(2) The employees in external units include the subsidiaries Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A., Duratex S.A. and Itautec S.A.

(1) The number of employees in 2007 does not include Unibanco’s operations.
(*)  The division by regions does not include the activities of Itautec S.A., while Duratex S.A is present in the Southern, Southeastern, Northeastern regions of Brazil. Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. is present in the 

country’s five regions, and Elekeiroz S.A. has units in the Southern and Northeastern regions of Brazil.

 GRI LA1



In the end of 2009, Itautec had 6,218 direct employees, of which 

398 were allocated to foreign subsidiaries. In order to maintain a 

differentiated staff, the Company fosters a work environment that 

provides for professional development.  All employees receive 

support and guidance to manage their careers, aside from having 

access to programs and trainings aiming at their growth and 

development inside the Company.  The annual average of training 

hours was 27.82 per employee in 2009. 

The creation of a quarterly newsletter with integration purposes 

had been requested by the employees and was launched in 2009.  

Itautec News includes institutional information and initiatives 

addressed to the employees, in addition to news about social 

responsibility, leisure, health, environment and other issues. 

In 2009, Itaú Unibanco proceeded with the engagement of most 

employees in the integration process.  This initiative consisted 

of identifying a set of attitudes and values which, first, could 

reflect the best each bank was bringing to the new institution, 

and second, could be assumed collectively.  Jointly with these 

principles and goals, a new Vision was synthesized and disclosed 

through communication actions, and training and development 

programs.  A sign that we have taken the right path in 2009 – the 

first year of the integration process – was the Group’s inclusion in 

the Best Companies to Work For in Brazil ranking, published by the 

Great Place to Work Institute in partnership with Época magazine, 

as well as in the ranking organized by the School of Economics of 

the University of São Paulo (FIA-USP) and magazines Exame and 

Você S/A. A new, unified and simplified Target System has also been 

implemented with the purpose of achieving a greater alignment 

and commitment to the Company’s results from all employees.  A 

new and more comprehensive package of employment benefits 

was also announced in 2009. 

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. recorded four reports on discrimination 

or prejudice in the period. Considering the reports received, the 

Institution understands that the reception and investigation of such 

reports meet the expectations about the compliance with internal 
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guidelines and external regulations regarding discrimination issues.  

However, the results of such reports indicate a higher awareness 

about moral responsibility in the presentation of reports by the 

employees.  Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. will contribute to this process 

through the educational extension projects dealing with ethics.  

Discrimination cases have not been recorded in the Group’s industrial 

companies in 2009.  GRI HR4

Duratex totaled 8,681 employees in the end of 2009. The Company 

carried out various training actions for its employees and third parties 

in the period. Such actions added up to 243,526 training hours.  The 

Company also follows the guidelines of the International Labor 

Organization (ILO) regarding the union association freedom, a theme 

that is also addressed in the Code of Ethics and Conduct.  All units 

may also appoint one representative to monitor and deal with the 

entities involved in negotiation processes. 

The basic philosophy of the participative programs in place at 

Elekeiroz is to continuously improve labor systems or procedures, 

with a view to enhancing business competitiveness, solving 

problems, analyzing new processes and optimizing the existing 

ones.  These programs are divided into three operation fronts: 

The Sustentar (Support) front, whose purpose is to perpetuate 

the 5Ss5 principle; the Reciclagem (Recycling) front, established 

to reduce waste generation and implement waste collection, and 

address environment preservation issues, recycling of materials, and 

reduction of areas occupied by industrial and sanitary landfills, and 

their corresponding maintenance costs; and the Novas Ideias (New 

Ideas) front, which deals with continuous improvements. 

These and other initiatives, such as the zero-rate goal related to 

occupational accidents, are variables that, added to the profit sharing 

plan, stimulate the employees at Elekeiroz.  In 2009, there were no 

accidents involving absence from work at the units of Várzea Paulista 

and Camaçari. By year-end, the Camaçari unit registered the mark of 

799 days without accidents involving absence from work, while the 

Várzea Paulista unit has not reported such occurrences in the past 

683 days. In the past three years, all collective labor agreements were 

renewed with chemical workers’ unions, totaling nine agreements 

which are effective for the following areas: three for the region of 

Camaçari (State of Bahia), three for São Paulo and three for Várzea 

Paulista (State of São Paulo). 

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. faced five corruption cases in 2009, of 

which two resulted in dismissals with cause. Regarding the last three 

cases, the employees’ were dismissed without cause.

The Program against Corporate Corruption and Tippings is 

being developed and should be implemented in 2010 with the 

purpose of integrating all initiatives and giving greater visibility to 

compliance with corporate policies.   The consolidation of internal 

control practices; training actions; communication; improvement 

of escalation channels; and investigation of reports are part of this 

program.  Corruption cases have not been recorded in the Group’s 

industrial companies in 2009.  GRI SO4

For further information about discrimination and corruption cases, 

see: www.itau.com.br/relatoriodesustentabilidade.

5  The program name derives from the Japanese words Seiri, Seiton, Seisou, Seiketsu and Shitsuke. These 
terms define the senses of utilization, ordering, cleanness, health and self-discipline in the routine of  
the organizations.



Clients

The satisfaction of clients is one of Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.’s 

challenges. Within the Bank’s new vision – to be a leader in 

sustainable performance and client satisfaction –, the task of 

satisfying tenths of millions of account holders and clients in 

various business segments represents a continuous challenge, 

and involves maintenance of long-term partnerships based on 

trust, respect and dialog. 

Listening to clients in their day-by-day business and through 

polls, market research, client forums and other communication 

channels constitutes an important premise for the Company, 

whose main targets include building transparent and long-

lasting relationships. 

The Ombudsman office is a channel to which the clients refer 

whenever the conventional service channels have not satisfied 

their needs. The main duties of the Ombudsman office are to 

identify the best solutions for client demands by proposing 

improvements to products and services. This area is also 

responsible for complaints from the Central Bank, consumer 

protection agencies (Procons), the press and other consumer 

defense bodies. 

Willing to contribute to the financial education of Brazilians, Itaú 

Unibanco invests in various programs dealing with awareness 

in the use of money and financial services.  In addition to 

conferences and chats directed to the employees, clients and 

society as a whole, the Bank makes available handbooks on 

its website and branches. These materials are targeted to all 

audiences, whether, individuals or corporations.  Offering basic 

information about financial planning, the handbooks address 

seven themes: Credit; Checking account; Credit card; Family 

budget; The time to invest; Getting out of the red; and Talking 

about money with your kids.  
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Itautec has developed products which are in line with its client’s 

needs, seeking ongoing improvements in its communication 

channels, so as to build long-lasting and transparent relationships 

with its consumers. In order to do so, the Bank makes available 

various relationship channels to its clients, such as e-mail, 

customer service (SAC), Call Centers, and help desks.  In 2009, the 

Company has also made available on its website a specific channel 

to promote sustainability-related actions, including information 

about Green IT and environmental policies and projects.  

With the purpose of getting closer to its strategic audiences in 2009, 

Itautec participated in major national and international trade shows 

and meetings related to the banking industry, where it introduced 

technological proposals, solutions, concepts and its principal 

products and services.  

In 2009, Itaúsa recorded R$1.4 million in fines as a result of non-

compliance with certain laws and regulations by companies of 

Itautec S.A. and Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. Elekeiroz S.A. and 

Duratex S.A. have not been fined or sanctioned due to non-

compliance with laws and regulations applicable to  

their activities.  GRI SO8

Regarding Itaú Unibanco, the amount of R$141,869.16 was 

paid due to non-compliance with municipal laws dealing with 

waiting time, as well as issues that are regulated by municipal 

laws, such as, drinking fountains, seats, toilets, signs, safety doors, 

lockers, etc. In the case of Itautec, R$1.3 million deriving from 

contractual fines, and tax and labor proceedings were recorded 

to the Company’s annual income. The amounts corresponding to 

proceedings underway were provisioned as contingencies in the 

balance sheet against income for the year, these amounts being 

substantially sufficient to cover the obligations. 

The priority at Duratex is to develop products and services 

that lead to the highest levels of client satisfaction and their 

trustworthiness, aiming at ensuring their preference for and 

loyalty to the Company’s brands. 
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Thus, the Company makes available to clients its customer 

services (SAC), Internet information, and specific trainings, in 

addition to organizing regular leisure events and relationship 

meetings with clients and opinion makers.

The client satisfaction survey at Elekeiroz seeks to find out 

solutions for the transformation industry, in attempt to meet 

the need to change the composition of products.  Thus, the 

Company contributes to maintaining the international market, 

and guarantees full compliance with the specific needs of each 

business segment.  

Within the strategy of offering quality and products aligned with 

the production requirements of each market, Elekeiroz is currently 

registering its brands for the European market.  Based on the list 

of most exported items, the Company adhered to the protocols 

of the Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council 

(REACH) which, since 2006, has been regulating circulation 

of products based on the chemical composition used in their 

manufacturing processes.

Accordingly, trade activities with European countries must 

adjust to the requirements established in REACH’s regulations, 

which came into effect on June 1st, 2007, and its registration 

process is expected to be completed by 2018.  The trading 

of chemical substances not registered within the period 

established by the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) will not 

be allowed in the European Union.  The process for definitive 

registration of Elekeiroz products is underway, and therefore 

the Company has been granted permission to sell its products 

until the process is completed.  

Listening 

 

to clients allows full compliance with their needs.
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Suppliers

Itautec’s relationship with suppliers is based on values such as 

ethics and integrity.  The Company adopts strict selection criteria, 

and analyzes aspects ranging from the quality of the inputs 

and financial conditions, through to compliance with tax and 

environmental requirements.  In order to ensure profiles that are 

consistent with its principles and needs, the Company searches for 

partners whose practices are in harmony with social, environmental 

and economic responsibility.  The commitments of suppliers include 

non-utilization of child or slave labor. Non-compliance with this 

practice may result in their exclusion from Itautec suppliers list.   

With the purpose of investing in the relationship with the suppliers, 

the Company organized the 1st Itautec Suppliers Meeting, held in the 

industrial unit located in Jundiaí, in the State of São Paulo.  The action 

aims at narrowing the partnership between Itautec and its suppliers, 

as well as maintaining a dialog about sustainable practices in order to 

strengthen business responsibility in the productive chain.  

In the industrial sector, Elekeiroz was granted an award by Miracema 

– Nuodex in 2009, in the category of Chemical Products Supplier.  

This recognition has been granted to Elekeiroz every year since 2006, 

in an award process initiated in 2005.  Miracema’s awards seek to 

recognize the suppliers’ engagement in and commitment to the 

quality of raw materials and packages, the excellence of which has 

been achieving increasingly higher levels. In addition to the items 

usually considered (quality, punctuality, technical documents and 

package), commitment and dedication can also determine the choice 

of the winners. 

Due to Duratex growth, diversification and complexity 

regarding management of its suppliers, and the organization of 

logistic systems and operating planning for the Wood and Deca 

divisions in 12 industrial units, in 2009 the Company included 

in its organizational structure a Supply Chain Department, 

which is responsible for the negotiation, acquisition and 

transportation of raw materials, maintenance parts, equipment 

and services, management of contracts, imports and logistics 

for the whole Company.   

In order to guarantee the transparency of this process, a 

Supply Policy was developed to establish the criteria needed 

for the approval and qualification of suppliers of goods and 

services which, in addition to complying with detailed technical 

specifications, should present good sustainability practices. 
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As a means to incorporate the engagement of stakeholders into Itaú 

Unibanco management strategy through a methodology recognized 

worldwide, the guidelines provided for in the AccountAbility 

1000 (AA1000) international regulation have been adopted and 

followed since 2006.  This standard seeks to ensure the quality of 

the Company’s accounting and auditing processes, and social and 

ethical reports, and includes principles and a set of process standards.   

Its purpose is to support the organizational learning and general 

performance – economic, social-environmental and ethical – and, 

thus, the Organization’s contribution for sustainable development. 

Itaú Unibanco’s trade relationships in 2009 involved 88,252 

suppliers, which provided products and services indispensable 

for the operation of the Company’s various areas. Of this total, 

1,832 were seen as critical due to the occurrence of child labor, 

unfree or slave labor, corresponding to 2%. According to Itaú 

Unibanco, these suppliers, which are considered as critical, that is, 

pose higher risks of incurring in human rights violations, are those 

requiring the intensive use of low qualified labor, such as building 

upkeeping, cleaning, civil construction, upkeeping of electrical 

and hydraulic fittings etc.   The Group’s industrial companies 

did not record operations seen as posing significant risks of 

occurrence of child, unfree or slave labor.   GRI HR6, HR7

The Bank’s organizational dimension reinforces its position as 

a driver of good practices in its community of partners. The 

clauses included in the agreements entered into by Itaú Unibanco 

Holding S.A. establish the requirement for and monitoring 

of compliance with labor and environmental regulations, tax 

obligations, and respect for diversity and human rights. Regional 

agreements are also valued so as to stimulate local suppliers 

located in the same state as the Bank’s contracting unit. This 

situation is seen in cases in which efficiency may be aggregated 

to trade operations.  The management of suppliers is centralized, 

so as to guarantee a seamless contracting processes and 

transparency for the transactions carried out.  

Before becoming a supplier of inputs and services, companies are 

requested to register on the website www.itau.com.br/fornecedores. 

A detailed process of financial, administrative and technical 

evaluation is carried out during this phase.  After registering, the 

potential suppliers undergo a process of approval and verification of 

documents, in addition to the evaluation of critical aspects in their 

companies regarding social-environmental issues.  

88.2   

 

suppliers maintained a relationship with Itaú Unibanco. The Bank 

manages its ethical relationships in a systematic way.

thousand
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The amount invested in social, cultural and environmental 

programs carried out by Itaúsa’s subsidiaries totaled  

R$763 million in 2009. 

Itaú Unibanco’s actions in this area take place through three 

independent, but complementary, bodies that strengthen the 

Bank’s contribution for sustainable development: the Itaú Social 

Foundation, the Unibanco Institute and the Itaú Cultural Institute.   

In the social area, the standouts are the projects supported 

by the Unibanco Institute and the Itaú Social Foundation 

(FIS), which foster educational initiatives with the purpose of 

enhancing and improving education policies. 

Itaú Social Foundation – whose focus is on devising, implementing 

and spreading methodologies aimed at improving public policies 

in the educational area and evaluating social projects – organized 

the 2009 edition of the Itaú UNICEF Award. A total of 1,917 projects, 

assisting over 697,000 children and youngsters, enrolled for the 

award.  The Itaú Criança (Itaú Children) program expanded the 

libraries of 1,411 schools, and the Itaú Unibanco Solidário (Solidary 

Itaú Unibanco) program collected approximately R$900,000 for the 

Children and Adolescents Fund. 

Social, Cultural and Environmental  GRI EC1

With the purpose of contributing to the human development 

of youngsters in vulnerable situation through the conception, 

validation and spreading of principles and social technologies 

capable of increasing the effectiveness of public policies in the 

educational area, Instituto Unibanco benefited 253 schools and 

supported 85 social organizations throughout Brazil.  The study 

developed by the Jovem de Futuro (Youngsters of Future) program 

in partnership with state secretariats of education, indicated that all 

the students of the 88 schools participating in the project showed 

great improvements in Portuguese Language and Math.  The Entre 

Jovens (Amongst Youngsters) programs allowed for 25,000 students 

to experience a tutorial method in 171 schools and show further 

improvements compared with others. 

Focusing on research issues and the production of contents, in 

addition to mapping, stimulating and spreading of artistic and 

intellectual manifestations, in 2009 Itaú Cultural received over 

273,000 visitors in its head office and cultural center, located in 

the city of São Paulo.   A total of 522 events were carried out in 

Brazil and abroad, such as workshops, conferences, meetings and 

itinerant exhibitions.  Besides, over 39,000 cultural products were 

distributed to the public, like books, catalogs, CDs and DVDs.  

By means of institutional partnerships with the Foundation for 

Education Development and the University of Girona/UNESCO, the 

Institute created a professor’s chair for cultural policies. 
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Itautec is associated with various institutions that promote 

the respect for human rights, such as the Abrinq Foundation, 

to which it has granted monthly contributions since 2002.   

Through these donations, the Bank strengthens society’s 

mobilization around issues related to the rights of children and 

adolescents, such as fighting child labor and fostering education, 

health and civil rights. 

Through the Na Mão Certa (In the Right Hand) campaign, Itautec 

and Elekeiroz were involved, jointly with the WCF Institute, with 

actions against sexual exploitation of children on Brazilian roads, 

aiming at protecting children and adolescents whose lives are 

affected by this problem. The companies entered into an agreement 

that foresees interventions, through actions and procedures, with 

its transportation services network and service suppliers.  
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Itautec also supports the Atleta do Futuro (Athlete of the Future) 

project in partnership with SESI and the administration of the 

city of Jundiaí, through sports modalities offered to the locals.  

In 2009, 585 students from schools, universities and technical 

courses visited the Company’s plant. The youngsters had the 

opportunity to increase their knowledge about production 

processes and Environmental Management, consolidating the 

knowledge received in the classroom. 

As sponsor of the Tide Setubal Cabinetmaking School, Duratex 

supplies technical and professionalizing education through the 

Formare school program, in addition to investing in the Atleta 

do Futuro project.  The project, a partnership between SESI and 

the administration of the city of Agudos, provides for the social 

integration of children and youngsters through sports activities. 

In the cultural arena, the Ler É Preciso (Reading is Needed) library 

project carried out in partnership with the EcoFuturo Institute, the 

Brazilian Foundation for Children’s Books, and the administrations 

of city of Taquari (State of Rio Grande do Sul) and Estrela do Sul 

(State of Minas Gerais), contribute for the ongoing education and 

development of the children’s reading and writing skills.  

Through the Rouanet Law on cultural incentives, Elekeiroz 

sponsored the television show Todo Dia com a Química (Everyday 

with Chemistry) in 2009, targeted at children.  Aired by educative 

television broadcasting companies and counting on a website 

dedicated to chemistry and environment, the show achieved 

recognition among children and adolescents attending schools in 

the region of Várzea Paulista. 

Another initiative was the Company’s participation in the 

Planeta Água (Water Planet) project.  Implemented in 2009 

in the region of Camaçari, the project covers approximately 

R$763 

 

Invested in social, cultural and environmental programs.

million
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7,000 public students in the Cidade do Saber (Knowledge City).  

The programming included drama presentations targeted at 

children and aimed at stimulating their awareness regarding 

environmental protection and rational use of natural resources.  In 

2008, this program was held for public students of the region of 

Várzea Paulista, in the State of São Paulo.  The two projects were 

based on the incentives provided for in the Rouanet Law. 

Still in the area of Camaçari, in the State of Bahia, the Company, 

as a member and funder of the Industrial Stimulus Committee 

of Camaçari (COFIC), participates in the coordination and 

sponsorship of various activities, such as: the Community 

Defense Nucleus, which develops environmental actions and 

offers support in case of emergency situations; the Consultive 

Community Council, which strengthens the dialog between the 

companies located in the Industrial Hub and the neighboring 

communities regarding common interest issues; and the 

Education Incentives Program, which is carried out in partnership 

with neighboring city administrations and aims at contributing to 

educational improvements in public schools of the region. In 2009 

this program involved 68 schools, over 330 teachers and 2,200 

students, and focused on school management training, oral and 

written communication and children’s sexuality. 

Internally, the ongoing special programs were implemented by 

specific committees of employees and directed to reducing water 

and energy consumption and generation of effluents, and the 

systematic recycling of materials. 

The physical, mental and social well-being of the employees at 

Elekeiroz also deserves attention and care through the Viver Bem 

(Living Well) program, which is run by committees formed by the 

employees themselves.   The Company also keeps its employees 

and relatives informed about low-cost leisure and travel options, 

theater shows, exhibitions, competitions, conferences stimulating 

reading activities and updated information about the quality of 

life and environment.   The disclosure of information and good 

practices related to quality of life and practice of sports and walks 

are organized jointly with city administrations. 
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Environment

Based on each company’s sustainable practices, Itaúsa has been 

working to integrate the experiences of the corporations in order 

to reiterate the “Creating Value through Sustainability” business 

model, the hallmark of the strategy of the Holding Company and 

its subsidiaries.

As a result of the progress in this process of integration, we were able to 

evaluate the Group’s performance in relation to matters such as energy 

and water consumption and emissions. In addition, we were able to 

quantify the Group’s investments and expenditures in environmental 

protection, concentrated primarily in external consulting for 

inventorying greenhouse gases (GHG), disposal and treatment of waste 

and effluents and forest conservation, among others.  

Investments and expenditures with environmental protection (R$ thousands) 2009 2008 2007 (1)

Duratex S.A. (2) 10.586 12.327 13.617

Elekeiroz S.A. (3) 8.740 11.503 10.063

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. (4) 962 18.898 4.072

Itautec S.A. (5) 3.303 525 2.481

(1) Investments and expenditures with environmental protection in 2007 do not include Unibanco.
(2) In the case of Duratex S.A., investments were basically for treatment of effluents, collection of waste, forest conservation and others.
(3) At Elekeiroz the amount shown basically refers to disposal of waste, expenditures on environmental materials and monitoring of emissions, in addition to treating effluents.
(4)  Investments and expenditures with environmental protection in 2009 at Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. were concentrated on laundering of gases, consultancy in inventorying greenhouse gases (GHG), selective 

garbage collection at the business hubs and disposal and treatment of waste.
(5) Internal and external investments.

Total investments and expenditures with  

environmental protection (R$ thousands)

43.253

30.233

2007 2008 2009

23.591

 GRI EN30
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Itaú Unibanco launched the Fundo Itaú Índice de Carbono (Itaú 

Carbon Index Fund), Brazil’s first carbon credit index-linked fund. 

It was also chosen, for the fifth year in a row, to be part of the 

BM&FBovespa Corporate Sustainability Index.  

The actions of Itaú Unibanco to reduce and control energy 

consumption were expanded in 2009, with the inclusion of 

so-called Green IT practices consisting of a set of technological 

development-associated practices intended for achieving 

efficiency and cost reductions while mitigating risks. The Green 

IT Committee comprises several staff members in the technology 

and sustainability areas who discuss this matter full-time and 

create practices that reduce environmental footprints.

The principal actions in the Green IT area undertaken in 2009 were:

•  Energy efficiency: actions intended for ensuring proper use of 

space and reduced energy consumption; 

•  Green work environment: the use of message services, 

smartphones, printing management tools and videoconference 

rooms avoided commuting, consumption of resources and, as a 

result, emissions of greenhouse gases (GHG); and

•  Sustainable disposal of electronic garbage: this is an initiative 

for assisting in the re-use of materials which after processing 

can be used as raw materials and used over again, without 

the need for exaggerated exploitation of the environment, in 

addition to reducing health risks (several heavy metals, when 

absorbed by the soil or water tables, can cause irreversible 

brain damage) which might have occurred as a result of the 

incorrect disposal of these materials.

Initiatives continued to encourage responsible practices, like 

the Itaú Sustainable Finances Award and the holding of Itaú 

Dialogs on Sustainability. A partnership was created with the 

Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), through the Sloan 

School of Management, for financing research and development 

of sustainability-linked projects. In 2009, Itaú Unibanco offered 

credit card clients three different options for making donations to 

institutions involved in environmental conservation, protecting 

the rights of children and adolescents and assisting those with 

physical disabilities.

R$23.6 million
invested in environmental protection.



In 2009, the Bandeirantes Thermoelectric Plan (Uteb), managed 

by the bank and producing electricity from biochemical gas 

generated and collected at the Bandeirantes landfill located 

at kilometer 26 of the Bandeirantes Highway, in the Perus 

district of São Paulo prevented emission into the atmosphere 

of the equivalent of 390 thousand tons of carbon dioxide. Uteb 

brings environmental benefits by avoiding the release into the 

atmosphere of methane, one of the gases causing the greenhouse 

effect. That is why it is authorized to issue carbon credits which 

are acquired by industries in countries with emission reduction 

targets agreed to under the Kyoto Protocol. The renewable energy 

produced by Uteb is used to supply six administration buildings of 

Itaú Unibanco. In 2009, the total energy consumed at these units 

was 49 thousand MWh. For 2010, the targets are to supply yet 

another administration center using energy generated by Uteb 

and to reach 60 thousand MWh.  

Duratex maintains several environmental sustainability projects 

within the communities where it operates, like the Piatan 

Environmental Experience Area (Área de Vivência Ambiental) 

(Avap), which clarifies concepts regarding forest plantations. 

The location attracts teachers, students, representatives of 

public bodies, clients and the communities. In 2009, 5,902 

people visited the Avap.

In 2009 the Company’s environmental protection initiatives 

required an investment of R$10.6 million, a reduction of 

14% in relation to the previous period on account of the 

decommissioning of the Chapas de Jundiaí unit. The investments 

were intended for promoting internal actions like effluent 

treatment, waste collection and forest conservation.
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In managing its forestry areas, Duratex does not carry out land 

clearance; the plantations are only undertaken in areas that 

have been previously anthropized by previous agriculture or 

livestock farming activities. The forests are also managed based 

on environmentally correct techniques, where productivity is 

increased by using state-of-the-art technology and constant 

personnel training, so as to ensure efficient handling without 

damaging the environment.

In the technology sector, a range of servers was launched which 

are in tune with environmental requirements and those of Green 

IT. The computer products of Itautec have been registered with 

the Electronic Product Environmental Assessment Tool (EPEAT), 

a system that serves as a reference for comparing, evaluating 

and choosing personal computers, video monitors and laptop 

computers, according to 51 environmental attributes, of which 23 

are mandatory and 28 optional.

At Elekeiroz, environmental management is a constant concern. 

Projects and on-off actions are constantly evaluated and 

implemented so as to take advantage of the energy from the 

gases and liquids released during the processes. Several of these 

actions have been received public recognition from official 

environmental control entities and industry representatives, 

such as CETESB and FIESP.

Within the scope of sector representation of the Brazilian and 

international petrochemical industry, Elekeiroz is a signatory 

to the Responsible Care Program created by the International 

Council of Chemical Associations, and managed in Brazil by the 

Brazilian Chemical Industry Association (Abiquim).

In regard to the area of influence of the site at Camaçari/State of 

Bahia, the Company plays an active role in the board of directors 

of the CBHRN – the Northern Bay Water Basin Committee, whose 

mission is to develop proposals for public policies for meeting 

the interests of consumers in a sustainable manner. These policies 

include: access to water, proper legislation, the immediate 

interests of the community, preservation of the springs for the 

future and competitive costs for business. The unit at Várzea 

Paulista/State of São Paulo is also represented in the Technical 

Sector Chamber of the PCJ Basin Committee comprising the rivers 

Piracicaba, Capivari and Jundiaí, the latter being the river where 

the Company draws water for use.

In line with the nature of the business of each project, greatest 

attention is given to the industrial sector because of the impacts 

inherent to manufacturing activity. Itautec, Duratex and Elekeiroz 

are developing control programs and specific environmental 

management platforms. For example, at the site in Várzea Paulista/

SP, Elekeiroz is now producing electricity based on water vapor 

produced by exothermal reactions. This means that 67%, or 

894,908 GJ, of electricity consumed on that site were (indirectly) 

generated internally through the manufacturing process.

At Duratex, direct energy consumption represents only 24% 

of total consumption which in 2009 stood at 6,963,322GJ. The 

remainder represents energy produced internally from burning 

natural gas, in addition to biomass and BPF oil.



In 2009 consolidated consumption of energy and water remained 

constant, with a relative increase of 16.8% in energy consumption 

and a decline of 14.7% in total water consumption in relation to 

2008. At Várzea Paulista, untreated water is drawn from the Jundiaí 

river and subsequently treated for industrial use at Elekeiroz’s own 

station. Since 2007, there is a charge on water resources (capture 

and use) from the Jundiaí river basin, in addition to which we have 

also instituted the capture of rain water, so as to keep the use of 

local water to a minimum.

Direct energy consumption (GJ) 2009 2008 2007 (1)

Duratex S.A. 1.703.276 1.254.464 1.718.463

Elekeiroz S.A. (2) 835.369 872.405 968.555

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. (3) 46.884,30 80.039,70 368.180

Itautec S.A. (4) 39.245 40.560 40.590

(1) Energy consumption for the year 2007 does not include Unibanco.
(2)  In the case of the Várzea Paulista and Camaçari sites, we have used the conversion factor: 1kwh= 0.0036 GJ. In the case of energy consumption using water vapor at the Camaçari site, and for calculation 

purposes, we have used the latent heat of vaporization in the supply pressure, which corresponds to 16kg/cm2 abs= 1,933.1 KJ/Kg. The electricity consumed at Várzea Paulista is provided by the utility company 
CPFL and represents around 33% of the total energy consumed on this site. The energy consumed at Camaçari is totally provided by Braskem, the utilities center of the Camaçari Petrochemical Complex.

(3)  Energy consumption at Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. includes consumption by the buildings, the branches and the Company cars. For the conversion, we have taken into account: 1l=0.2641 gal; 1 gallon = 0.138 
GJ (diesel); 0.125 GJ (gasoline). This information includes IBBA.

(4) All energy consumed by Itautec is electrical, acquired from public utilities.

Water consumption (m3) 2009 2008 2007 (1)

Duratex S.A. (2) 4.198.687 4.882.963 4.580.210

Elekeiroz S.A. (3) 1.849.397 2.353.212 2.229.426

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. 1.814.180 1.983.340 948.158

Itautec S.A. (4) 40.661 48.630 39.452

(1) Water consumption in 2007 does not include Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.
(2) Water for consumption at Duratex comes from the local water course, from artesian and semi-artesian wells and rainwater catchment.
(3)  At the Várzea Paulista site, consumption for domestic purposes is supplied by two deep wells and supplemented by SABESP, the local water utility. All water used at the Camaçari site both for industrial and 

domestic purposes, is supplied by Braskem – the Utilities center of the Camaçari Petrochemical Complex. Still in Camaçari, condensed water reused from steam provided by Braskem is accounted for in the 
consumption of energy (EN3).

(4) Water consumed in the industrial unit, administrative areas and branches is supplied by the public network.

Direct energy consumption (GJ)

3.095.788

2.247.469

2007 2008 2009

2.624.774

Water consumption (m3)

9.268.145

7.797.246

2007 2008 2009

7.902.935

 GRI EN3

 GRI EN8
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Direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases by the 

subsidiaries showed a decline of 8.5% in relation to the 

previous year, posting total emissions of 365,769 tons of CO2 

and other gases.

Given the nature of its operations, Cetesb has exempted 

Itautec from the atmospheric emissions measurement process. 

Nevertheless, it controls its fleet emissions through sample 

measurements and periodic maintenance. Control is also 

applied to suppliers’ vehicles entering the factory area, using 

measurement bulletins and requesting correction of any 

discrepancies identified.  
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In its production of sulfuric acid at Várzea Paulista, Elekeiroz 

enjoys a zero-rated emission factor for the internally generated 

electricity, since the latter is produced from steam arising from the 

production processes.  

At Duratex, the emission survey studies were carried out by 

the external consulting company, ICF International. Following 

participation by our teams in providing inventory data, the 

information presented was validated.

Find out more about the environmental performance of each 

company by accessing: www.duratex.com.br, www.elekeiroz.com.br, 

www.itau.com.br/socioambiental, www.itautec.com.br.

Direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases 2009 2008 2007 (1)

Duratex S.A. (tons of CO2 equivalent) (2) 168.787 182.220 156.011

Elekeiroz S.A. (tons of CO2 equivalent) (3) 104.439 118.793 125.937

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. (4) 90.501 97.553 298

Itautec S.A. (tons of CO2 equivalent) 2.042 1.438 1.135

Total direct and indirect emissions 365.769 400.004 283.380

(1) Direct and indirect emissions for 2007 do not include Unibanco.
(2) Scope 1: Direct emissions; Scope 2: electricity purchased; Scope 3: Indirect emissions.
(3)  Emissions estimated from the quantities of direct and indirect energy measured. Calculation method for the Várzea Paulista site: for calculating direct energy we have used the 2009 average factor for CO

2
 

emission for electricity, of 0.0246 ton CO
2
/Mwh, provided by the MCT, based on Brazil’s National Interconnected System. The CO

2
 emission factor for Comgás-supplied natural gas, of 1.8937 kg CO

2
/m3 was used 

in the calculation. The 2009 Cetesb CO
2
 issuance factor for diesel oil, of 3.11997 ton CO

2
/ton was used in the calculation, taking into account the density of diesel oil of 0.85 kg/L. Calculation method for the 

Camaçari site: The CO
2
 emission factor for electricity provide by Braskem, of 0.269 ton CO

2
/Mwh was used in the calculation. The emission factor for steam provided by Braskem, of 7.793 E-5 ton CO

2
/Mwh was 

used in the calculation. The CO
2
 emission factor for the liquid hydrocarbon mixture as provided by the Abiquim, of 2.57 ton CO

2
/ton was used; density of the Waste oil equal to 0.859 kg/L. The calculation method 

provided by Bahiagas for natural gas was used, namely Em= Ec. Ox. FE.3.67, where Em is the CO
2
 emission in tons; Ec is the energy calculated (EN4); Ox is the oxidation factor equal to 0.995; FE is the carbon 

emission factor for natural gas, of 15.30 ton C/TJ and 3.67 is the C conversion factor for CO
2
.

(4)  Scope 1: Own aircraft fleet, own ground fleet, generators, escaping HFC and HCFC gases, stationary LPG combustion and stationary natural gas combustion. Scope 2: administration buildings and points 
of sale. Scope 3: collective transportation for employees, garantech, cargo transportation, transportation of mail pouches, transportation of cash, taxis, mileage reimbursements, car rental, fuel tickets, fuel 
reimbursements and air travel.

 GRI EN16
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Parent company Minority interest Group

Jan to 
 Dec/09

Jan to 
 Dec/08

Jan to 
 Dec/09

Jan to 
 Dec/08

Jan to 
 Dec/09

Jan to 
 Dec/08

Net income  3,930  2,700  7,812  2,732  11,742  5,431 

Recurring net income (Note 21d)  3,948  4,077  7,888  4,903  11,836  8,980 

Stockholders’ equity  19,786  16,592  38,170  31,691  57,956  48,283 
Return on equity (%) 21.5% 16.5% 22.3% 12.8% 22.1% 14.4%

Recurring return on average equity (%) 21.6% 24.9% 22.5% 22.9% 22.2% 23.8%

MAIN INDICATORS OF RESULTS OF ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED
R$ Million

To our stockholders:
We present the Management Report and the financial statements 
of Itaúsa - Investimentos Itaú S.A. (Itaúsa) and its subsidiaries for 
the period from January to December 2009, in accordance with 
the regulations established by the Brazilian Corporate Law and 
the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM).  These 
financial statements have been approved by the Fiscal Council.

Introduction
2009 was a year of important achievements for Itaúsa.  For 
the sixth time Itaúsa was selected to make up the Dow Jones 
Sustainability World Index (DJSI), and for the third consecutive 
year it was appointed as leader in sustainability in the Financial 
Services sector. From the seven Brazilian companies selected from 
the 2009/2010 review, two other group companies besides Itaúsa 
make up the index: Itaú Unibanco and Redecard. 

Itaúsa is the 149th largest company in the world, according to 
the ranking prepared by Fortune magazine. It was the Brazilian 
company that showed the best improvement in the ranking, 
having gained 124 positions in relation to 2008.  

Two major events reflected significantly well on Holding's 
operations. The first one was the Itaú and Unibanco merger, which 
completed one year in November and established Itaú Unibanco, 
the largest financial group in the Southern Hemisphere in terms 
of assets.

The second event took place in August 2009, when Duratex 
and Satipel completed their merger, creating the biggest 
manufacturer of wood panels in the South of the planet, the 

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

MANAGEMENT REPORT – January to December 2009

eighth largest company in this business in the world and the first 
in the Brazilian market. Duratex, the resulting company, includes 
operations of Deca, the leader in the sanitary metal fixtures and 
vice-leader in sanitary porcelain fixtures in the domestic market, 
being among the ten biggest companies in the world.

Economic environment
The Brazilian economic activity showed a strong recuperation, 
mainly in industry, as from January. 2010 is expected to be a year 
of strong growth in the Brazilian economy, consolidating the 
scenario of reinvigoration already noticeable in the employment 
and investment data as from the third quarter of 2009. 

Among the industrial sectors, the total production of inputs for 
civil construction decreased 6.7% in 2009. In the petrochemical 
sector, despite the international crisis, the production of basic 
and intermediate petrochemicals for resins and fibers increased 
6.8% last year in relation to 2008. In the technology sector sales 
continued high, regardless of the slowdown. Sales in retail of 
the segment of office equipment and supplies, information 
technology and communication increased 11.8% from January to 
November 2009 in relation to the same period of 2008.

Essential for the reinvigoration of economy was the quick recovery 
of the domestic bank credit. In December, credit reached 45% of 
GDP. The credit conditions also showed significant improvements. 
Spread for individuals was 13.4% lower in December 2009 in 
relation to December 2008 and 1.9% lower for companies.



63

Jan to Dec/09 Jan to Dec/08 Change (%)

Results per share – R$

Net income of parent company  0.90  0.70 29.2

Recurring net income of parent company  0.91  1.05 (13.5)

Recurring net income of parent company (without considering the bonus of shares in 2008)  1.00  1.05 (5.0)

Book value of parent company   4.55  4.27 6.5

Interest on capital and dividends  0.28  0.33 (14.5)

Price of preferred share (PN)(1) 11.83 8.01 47.7

Market capitalization(2) – R$million  51,411  31,091 65.4

(1) Calculated based on the average quotation of preferred shares on the last day of the period.   
(2)  Calculated based on the average quotation of preferred shares on the last day of the period (quotation of average PN multiplied by the number of outstanding shares at the 

end of the period).   

MAIN FINANCIAL INDICATORS

January to 
December

FINANCIAL  
SERVICES AREA  INDUSTRIAL AREA

CONSOLIDATED/
GROUP(1)

Itaú Unibanco 
Holding S.A.(*) Duratex S.A. Itautec S.A. Elekeiroz S.A.

Total assets 2009  608,273  4,354  1,298  584  615,962 

2008  637,202  3,395  1,219  659  643,201 

Operating revenues(2) 2009  112,181  2,013  1,872  571  115,681 

2008  82,337  1,914  1,787  878  83,282 

Net income 2009  10,067  181  54  4  11,742 

2008  7,803  314  41  81  5,431 
Stockholders' equity 2009  50,683  2,372  496  443  57,956 

2008  43,664  1,641  453  441  48,283 

Annualized return on average equity (%)(3) 2009 21.4% 9.1% 11.4% 0.9% 22.1%

2008 22.1% 19.1% 9.2% 19.2% 14.4%

Internal fund generation(4) 2009  35,001  301  35  (14)  36,013 
2008  17,126  145  94  96  16,930 

(*) Includes the result of Unibanco for the period from October to December 2009.
(1) Consolidated/Group data is net of consolidation elimination and unrealized results of intercompany transactions.
(2)     Operating revenue by area of operations was obtained as follows: 

• Itaú Unibanco: income from financial operations, income from services rendered, income from insurance, pension plan and capitalization premiums, and other operating income; and 
• Duratex S.A., Itautec S.A. and Elekeiroz S.A.: net revenue from sales of products and/or services.

(3) Represents the ratio of net income for the period and the average equity ((Dec+Mar+Jun+Sep+Dec)/5).
(4) Refers to funds arising from operations, according to the Statement of Cash Flows.

MAIN INDICATORS OF THE COMPANIES CONTROLLED BY ITAÚSA
R$Million

FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA

One year of integration and opportunities

On November 3, 2009 one year has passed since the merger that created Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. (Itaú Unibanco), the largest 
private financial group in the Southern Hemisphere in terms of assets, with over 100 thousand employees and tens of millions of 
clients.

With the election of the Board of Directors and the definition of the Executive Committee of Itaú Unibanco, decisions regarding the 
business model and marketing opportunities were made. In the twelve-month period in which the operations of both banks were 
integrated, the results achieved exceeded expectations.
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The new Corporate Governance structure was approved by the 
Board of Directors and the International Advisory Board, formed 
by 10 corporate and academic leaders of several nationalities, 
who have relevant and outstanding experiences in the finance 
world, was created.

In August 2009, the unification process of Unibanco branches 
using Itaú platform has started, and it shall be completed by the 
end of 2010.

In that same month, Itaú Unibanco and Porto Seguro entered 
into an alliance, creating the largest Brazilian company in the 
industry with 3.4 million automobiles and 1.2 million properties 
insured.

Main results of Itaú Unibanco  

Total consolidated assets reached R$608.3 billion at December 31, 
2009.

Net income for 2009 amounted to R$10.1 billion, with return of 
21.4% on average equity. 

Recurring net income was R$10.5 billion, with return of 22.3%. 
Consolidated stockholders' equity totaled R$50.7 billion at 
December 31, 2009. 

The loan portfolio, including endorsements and sureties, reached 
R$278.4 billion, an increase of 2.4% as compared to December 31, 
2008. In Brazil, non-mandatory loans to the individuals segment 
reached R$103.1 billion, with a growth of 10.7% as compared to 
December 2008. The large company segment reached R$88.9 
billion, whereas the very small, small and middle-market company 
segment reached R$61.0 billion. Free, raised and managed assets 
totaled R$855.1 billion, an increase of 5.9% in the period. The 
Basel ratio stood at 16.7% at the end of December, based on 
economic-financial consolidated. 

The analysis of the default ratio of loan operations overdue over 
90 days shows that after the international financial crisis worsened 
at the end of 2008, our ratio, which stood at 3.9% in December 
2008, reached its worst level in September 2009, standing at 5.9%. 
From this date, the ratio fell, ending the year at 5.6%. We believe 
that in 2010 this ratio will fall further, standing between 5.1% and 
4.6% at the end of the period.

In the investment banking area, Itaú BBA took part in operations 
of debentures and promissory notes that totaled R$17.8 billion, 
and of securitization that totaled R$1.4 billion in 2009. In capital 
markets, it coordinated public offerings that totaled R$14.2 billion. 
In addition, Itaú BBA provided financial advisory services of 
mergers and acquisition, which total volume of transactions was 
R$19.9 billion in 2009

INDUSTRIAL AREA  

Duratex
2009 will mark a milestone because of the merger of Duratex and 
Satipel, which resulted in the creation of the largest manufacturer 
of wood panels in the Southern Hemisphere. The new company 
thus reinforces its competitive advantages, based on the quality of 
its management, economy of scale, geographical diversification, 
complementarities of products, and a production model with 
high integration level. We highlight the completion and start-up 
of three new panel plants, two of MDF and one of MDP, increasing 
the capacity by approximately 1.8 million cubic meters on the 
prior 2.0 million cubic meters.

Net revenue totaled R$2.3 billion in 2009, a performance 8.3% 
lower than that of prior year, although the sales result over the 
second half posted a 14.8% increase in relation to the prior half. 
This performance reflects the recovery of the demand in the 
company’s operating segment, particularly finishing goods for 
civil construction and furniture.

Pro forma recurring EBITDA totaled R$618.3 million, equivalent to 
a 27.5% margin in total for the year. In the fourth quarter, EBITDA 
reached R$189.5 million, which corresponds to a 30.5% margin. 
Pro forma recurring net income for 2009 totaled R$274.3 million, 
equivalent to a return on average equity of 11.9%. Accumulated 
result for the fourth quarter totaled R$88.1 million, equivalent to a 
return on average equity of 15.0%.

The sales performance of the Wood Division for the second 
half of the year was 26.8% above that recorded for the first half, 
due to the recovery of the furniture industry, which practically 
outweighed the poor performance for the first half. Net revenue 
for the year totaled R$1.5 billion and EBITDA reached R$418.7 
million, equivalent to a 28.1% margin.  

In Deca Division, the net revenue for the year totaled R$757.2 
million, an increase of 8.4% in relation to 2008; whereas EBITDA 
totaled R$199.7 million, which corresponds to 26.4% margin.

The result of the merger achieved through economy of scale, 
complementarities of products, geographical diversification, and 
synergies between operations, in addition to the completion of 
the main expansion projects at a time of economic reinvigoration, 
pushed up the share quotation by approximately 230% for the 
year, to R$16.20 at the end of the period, thus increasing Duratex 
market value to R$7.4 billion. As a basis of comparison, Bovespa 
index rose about 83% over the same period. 

For 2010 the budget for investments is approximately R$420.0 
million, of which approximately 70% allocated to the Wood 
Division for planting its own forests, finishing the resin 
manufacturing unit, and purchasing peripherals for the Taquari 
plant, in the State of Rio Grande do Sul. In Deca Division, 
investments shall be channeled into capacity expansion, seizing 
the good moment of the construction sector in the Country.
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Itautec
Accumulated gross revenue from sales and services for 2009 
reached R$2.1 billion, 5.1% higher than that of 2008, taking into 
account that in the fourth quarter revenue amounted to R$623.0 
million, 16.2% higher than that of the prior quarter. Gross profit 
reached R$355.6 million, an increase of 20.3% in relation to 
2008, resulting in a gross margin of 19.0%, 2.5% higher than that 
recorded in prior year. 

EBITDA for 2009 reached R$86.9 million, 4.1% higher than that 
recorded in 2008. Operating cash generation amounted to R$10.0 
million at the end of the year. Net income for the year amounted 
to R$53.6 million, a 32.1% increase in relation to the prior year and 
representing a return on average equity of 11.4%. Total assets at 
the end of 2009 amounted to R$1.3 billion, and net debt reached 
R$216.7 million.

The gross revenue from the Bank, Business and Service Automation 
area totaled R$756.8 million, 13.9% higher than that in the same 
period of 2008. Revenue from the sale of Bank and Business 
Automation's hardware and software in Brazil, plus the amount 
from operations of subsidiaries abroad reached R$339.0 million, 
30.3% above that obtained in 2008. In 2009, shipment of ATMs 
totaled 7.7 thousand, a volume 90.9% higher than in 2008, 
whereas in the fourth quarter 3.7 thousand pieces of equipment 
were delivered. 

The Services segment recorded revenues of R$417.8 million 
in 2009, 3.4% higher than that for 2008. Itautec was chosen 
as the help desk and field service provider by one of the 
major Brazilian retail chains in the furniture and electrical and 
electronics segments. 

The gross revenue from the IT area reached R$733.2 million, 3.0% 
lower than that for 2008. Notebook sales reached 229.0 thousand 
units, posting a 7.4% increase on the prior year's sales. In this 
segment, Itautec launched InfoWay Net W7010. In 2009, desktop 
sales amounted to 197.6 thousand (a volume 19.7% lower than 
that of the prior year), including the new models SM3322 and 
ST4262, and InfoWay 3D. In the server segment, 7.1 thousand 
machines were sold, a growth of 420.1% in relation to 2008.

The accumulated revenue of Tallard subsidiaries amounted to 
R$597.6 million, posting a 5.4% increase in relation to 2008 – a 
0.4% increase in US dollars. Despite the international crisis, the 
operation remained steady.

Subsequent Event
In February 2010, Itautec announced its governance restructuring, 
with the strengthening of its Board of Directors and hiring of 
a new CEO, Mário Anseloni, who will also sit on the Board. The 
Board of Directors is now chaired by Ricardo Egydio Setubal 
and it will receive the reinforcement of a group of independent 
members: Carlos Eduardo Correa da Fonseca, Chu Tung and Luiz 
Antonio de Moraes Carvalho. Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho, 
Rodolfo Villela Marino, Paulo Setubal Neto and Renato Roberto 
Cuocco will continue to sit on the Board of Directors.

Elekeiroz
The company's business was severely affected in 2009 by the 
concurrence of two unfavorable events: the global financial crisis 
started at the end of 2008 and the beginning of the downturn 
cycle in the petrochemical industry, subsequent to major 
expansion investments.

The average price in the world market of petrochemical naphtha, 
a basic raw material with heavy impact on the prices of this 
industry's end products, was 35% lower than that in 2008, 
reflecting the crisis.  

The prices in reais of petrochemicals for industrial use in the 
Brazilian market dropped 21.8% in 2009 as compared to 2008, due 
to the low international prices, and the strong rise of the real in 
relation to the US dollar.

Accordingly, the gross revenue of R$712.8 million and net revenue 
of R$571.2 million decreased 35% as compared to 2008. At the 
end of the first quarter of 2009, in an extraordinary event the 
Company made an expressive adjustment in the inventory value 
(R$44.3 million) to reflect the new market reality, which resulted 
in an operating loss of R$21.5 million, whereas it showed a 
profit of R$105.5 million in the prior year. The combined effect 
of such result and the deferred tax asset arising from tax loss 
carryforwards, up to the limit of its potential recovery in the 
immediate future, gave rise to a final net income of R$3.8 million 
(R$81.2 million in 2008) and a slightly negative Ebitda of R$0.4 
million (R$126.2 million in 2008).

As an evidence of the reinvigoration of the Brazilian economy, the 
total physical shipment of Elekeiroz products in 2009, amounting 
to 422.6 thousand tons, was only 6.4% lower than that in the prior 
year. The domestic market continued to account for the largest 
share of the company's sales: 90% of total (92% in 2008). The 
shares of organic and inorganic products in total sales for 2009, of 
51% and 49%, respectively, were similar to those reached in the 
prior year. 

Subsequent Event 
Elekeiroz carried out the reformulation of its governance, 
strengthening the Board of Directors, which will be reinforced by 
a group of independent members: José Eduardo Senise, who will 
also be the chairman, Domingos Henrique Guimarães Bulus and 
Rogério Almeida Manso da Costa Reis. The following members will 
continue to serve on the board: Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho, 
Olavo Egydio Setubal Júnior, Paulo Setúbal, Rodolfo Villela Marino 
and Reinaldo Rubbi.
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PEOPLE MANAGEMENT

Itaúsa and its subsidiaries had approximately 117 thousand 
employees at the end of December 2009. In the period, they 
invested R$119 million in education, training and development 
programs. Fixed compensation of personnel, plus charges 
and benefits, totaled R$7.4 billion. Welfare benefits granted to 
employees and their dependants totaled R$1.5 million.

SUSTAINABILITY AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Itaú Unibanco launched its Sustainability Policy and implemented 
the new Sustainability Governance structure in April. Fundo 
Itaú Índice de Carbono (carbon index fund), the first in the 
Country linked to carbon credits index, was launched. Initiatives 
encouraging the responsible social and environmental practices, 
such as the award of the Prêmio Itaú de Finanças Sustentáveis (Itaú 
sustainable finance award) and the holding of Diálogos Itaú de 
Sustentabilidade (Itaú sustainability dialogues), continued to 
be undertaken. Itaú Unibanco entered into a partnership with 
MIT Sloan School of Management to finance the research and 
development of sustainability-related projects. Itaú Unibanco was 
chosen, for the fifth consecutive year, to make up the portfolio of 
the Business Sustainability Index of BM&FBovespa. 

Duratex maintains several social, environmental and cultural 
sustainability projects in the communities where it operates, 
such as the Área de Vivência Ambiental Piatan – Avap (Piatan 
environmental experience area), which clarifies mistaken concepts 
of forest plantations. The company also invested in the treatment of 
effluents, collection of residues and maintenance of forest areas.

Itautec launched a new line of servers in line with the 
environmental and green IT requirements. Itautec's IT products 
were registered with the Electronic Product Environmental 
Assessment Tool (EPEAT), a system that is a benchmark for 
comparison, evaluation and selection of personal computers, 
video monitors and laptops, based on 51 environmental 
requirements, of which 23 are mandatory and 28 optional.  
Itautec held the First Meeting of Itautec Suppliers and launched  
a Recycling Bulletin. 

Elekeiroz was conferred honor in the 15th edition of the Prêmio 
Fiesp de Mérito Ambiental (Fiesp environment merit award) for 
the reduction in the emission of gases that contribute to global 
warming in the phthalic-anhydride plant of Várzea Paulista, in 
State of São Paulo, and unit consumption of energy, water and 
raw materials.

Social, cultural and environmental investments

The entities sponsored by Itaú Unibanco, Fundação Itaú 
Social, Instituto Unibanco and Itaú Cultural, counted in 2009 
on investments that totaled R$248 million in their respective 
programs. 

Fundação Itaú Social held another edition of the Itaú-Unicef award, 
with 1,917 projects registered, which benefited over 697 thousand 
children and adolescents. Over 4.2 thousand technicians of the 
Education Departments were qualified in the Olimpíada de Língua 
Portuguesa Escrevendo o Futuro (Portuguese Language Olympiad 
- writing the future). Itaú Criança (child) program promoted 
expansion in libraries of 1,411 schools, and Itaú Unibanco Solidário 
(solidarity) campaign collected approximately R$900 thousand for 
the funds for childhood and adolescence. 

Instituto Unibanco benefited 253 schools and supported 85 
social organizations. The Jovem de Futuro (youth with a future) 
program showed that students of 88 participating schools made 
remarkable advances in learning of Portuguese language and 
mathematics. In the Entre Jovens (among youth) program, 
the 25 thousand students of 171 schools experienced the  
tutoring method. 

Itaú Cultural was visited by over 273 thousand people in its 
headquarters in São Paulo. It held 522 events in the Country and 
abroad, including workshops, lectures, seminars and traveling 
exhibitions. Over 39 thousand cultural products were distributed 
to the public, including books, catalogs, CDs and DVDs. 

Duratex maintains the Tide Setubal Cabinetry School, which 
provides technical and professional training through the Formare 
Escola (school) program and invests in the Atleta do Futuro (athlete 
of the future). In the cultural area, noteworthy are the Biblioteca 
Ler é Preciso (to read is needed library), which contribute to 
the continuing education and the development of reading and 
writing. 

Itautec launched a quarterly publication called Itautec News, 
which disseminates institutional information and actions to 
employees, in addition to news on social responsibility, leisure, 
health and the environment. In 2009, 585 students from schools, 
universities and technical courses participated in the Itautec's 
plant visit program.



67

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS –  
CVM INSTRUCTION No. 381 

Procedures adopted by the Company

The policy adopted by Itaúsa and its subsidiaries to engage non-
audit related services from our independent auditors is based on 
the applicable regulations and internationally accepted principles 
that preserve the auditor’s independence. These principles include 
the following: (a) an auditor cannot audit his or her own work, 
(b) an auditor cannot function in the role of management in 
companies where he or she provides external audit services and 
(c) an auditor cannot promote the interests of its client.

During the period from January to December 2009, the 
independent auditors and related parties did not provide non-
audit related services in excess of 5% of total external audit fees.

According to CVM Instruction No. 381, we list below the engaged 
services and related dates:

• February 17, 2009 – Agreement for using an electronic library 
of international accounting standards (Comperio) – Itaú 
Unibanco Holding – Brazil (PWC); 

•  February 26, 2009 – Consulting and advisory services agreement 
in order to resolve specific issues involving tax, accounting and 
corporate law – Itaú Unibanco S.A. – Brazil (PWC); 

•  July 14, and November 16, 2009 – Participation in the salary 
compensation survey named “Encuestas de remuneraciones 
y Benefícios adicionales” (additional compensation and 
benefits surveys) with receipt of data related to base dates 
from 09.30.08 to 03.31.09 and from 09.30.09 to 03.31.10, 
respectively – Oca S.A. – Uruguay (PWC); 

•  August 8, 2009 – Professional services agreement related 
to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) – 
Duratex S.A. – Brazil (PWC); and

•  October 9, 2009 – Service agreement related to tax advisory 
aimed at reviewing the Schedule O Form, which is attached to 
the Tax Return forms – Itaú Unibanco Holdings S.A. – Brazil (PWC).

Summary of the Independent Auditors' justification 

The provision of the above described non-audit related 
professional services do not affect the independence or the 
objectivity of the external audit of Itaúsa, and its subsidiary/
affiliated companies. The policy adopted for providing non-audit 
related services to Itaúsa is based on principles that preserve 
the independence of Independent Auditors, all of which were 
considered in the provision of the referred services.

 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

We thank our stockholders and clients for their trust, which we always 
try to pay back by obtaining results differentiated from those of the 
market, and making available quality products and services, and our 
employees for their talent, which has enabled the sustainable growth 
of our business. 

 (Approved at the Board of Directors' Meeting of 03/01/2010).



68        2009  Financial Statements     

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman
José Carlos Moraes Abreu

Vice-Chairmen
Alfredo Egydio Setubal

Carlos da Camara Pestana

Maria de Lourdes Egydio Villela

Members
Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Paulo Setubal

Alternate Directors
Ricardo Egydio Setubal

Rodolfo Villela Marino

FISCAL COUNCIL

President
José Marcos Konder Comparato

Members
Marcos de Andrade Reis Villela

Paulo Ricardo Moraes Amaral

Accountant
Reginaldo José Camilo

CT-CRC-1SP – 114.497/O-9

EXECUTIVE BOARD 

Chief Executive Officer
Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho                                                                            

Managing Vice-Presidents
Henri Penchas (*)

Jairo Cupertino

Roberto Egydio Setubal 

Executive Director
Renato Roberto Cuoco

(*) Investor Relations Director
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ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING S.A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman
Pedro Moreira Salles

Vice-Chairmen
Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Roberto Egydio Setubal

Members
Alcides Lopes Tápias

Alfredo Egydio Setubal

Candido Botelho Bracher

Fernando Roberto Moreira Salles

Francisco Eduardo de Almeida Pinto

Gustavo Jorge Laboissiere Loyola 

Henri Penchas

Israel Vainboim

Pedro Luiz Bodin de Moraes

Ricardo Villela Marino

AUDIT COMMITTEE

President
Gustavo Jorge Laboissiere Loyola

Members
Alcides Lopes Tápias

Eduardo Augusto de Almeida Guimarães

Guy Almeida Andrade

Tereza Cristina Grossi Togni

FISCAL COUNCIL 

President
Iran Siqueira Lima

Members
Alberto Sozin Furuguem

Artemio Bertholini

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Chief Executive Officer
Roberto Egydio Setubal

Executive Vice-Presidents
Alfredo Egydio Setubal (*)

Candido Botelho Bracher

Executive Directors 
Antonio Carlos Barbosa de Oliveira

Claudia Politanski

Marcos de Barros Lisboa 

Ricardo Baldin

Rodolfo Henrique Fischer

Sérgio Ribeiro da Costa Werlang

Silvio Aparecido de Carvalho

Directors
Jackson Ricardo Gomes

José Eduardo Lima de Paula Araujo

Luiz Felipe Pinheiro de Andrade

Marco Antonio Antunes

Wagner Roberto Pugliese

(*)  Investor Relations Director
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DURATEX S.A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman
Salo Davi Seibel

Vice-Chairman
Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Ricardo Egydio Setubal

Members
Alcides Lopes Tápias

Helio Seibel

Paulo Setubal

Pedro Pullen Parente

Rodolfo Villela Marino

Rogério Ziviani

Alternate Directors
Andrea Seibel C. Ferreira

Olavo Egydio Setubal Junior

Ricardo Villela Marino

ITAUTEC S.A. – GRUPO ITAUTEC

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman
Ricardo Egydio Setubal

Vice-Chairman
Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho

Members
Carlos Eduardo de Cápua Corrêa da Fonseca

Chu Tung

Luiz Antonio de Moraes Carvalho

Mario Anseloni Neto

Paulo Setubal

Renato Roberto Cuoco

Rodolfo Villela Marino

Alternate Directors
Olavo Egydio Setubal Júnior

Ricardo Villela Marino

EXECUTIVE BOARD

General Manager 
Henri Penchas

Executive Directors
Alexandre Coelho Neto do Nascimento

Antonio Joaquim de Oliveira

Antonio Massinelli

Enrique Judas Manubens

Flávio Marassi Donatelli (*)

Lucia Helena Videira

Mário Colombelli Filho

Raul Penteado

Roberto Szachnowicz

Managing Directors
Flávio Dias Soares

Francisco de Assis Guimarães

Marco Antonio Milleo

Renato Aguiar Coelho 

(*) Investor Relations Director

EXECUTIVE BOARD

General Manager 
Mário Anseloni Neto (*)

Executive  Director Vice-President
Cláudio Vita Filho

Executive Director
Wilton Ruas Da Silva

(*) Investor Relations Director
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ELEKEIROZ S.A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman 
José Eduardo Senise  
 
Vice-Chairman
Alfredo Egydio Arruda Villela Filho 
Olavo Egydio Setubal Júnior
 
Members 
Domingos Henrique Guimarães Bulus 
Paulo Setubal 
Reinaldo Rubbi 
Rodolfo Villela Marino 
Rogério Almeida Manso da Costa Reis
 
Alternate Directors
Ricardo Egydio Setubal 
Ricardo Villela Marino

EXECUTIVE BOARD

General Manager 
Reinaldo Rubbi (*)

Directors
Carlos Calvo Sanz 
Ricardo José Baraldi

(*) Investor Relations Director
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ASSETS 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

CURRENT ASSETS  453,898,871  490,504,347 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  10,676,079  15,924,908 
INTERBANK INVESTMENTS (Notes 4b and 6)  133,032,335  120,269,009 
SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Notes 4c, 4d and 7)  95,392,926  109,912,928 

Securities  47,910,401  62,008,779 
Derivative financial instruments  3,846,677  14,021,494 
Assets guaranteeing technical provisions – PGBL/VGBL fund quotas (Note 12b)  38,626,466  30,023,746 
Assets guaranteeing technical provisions – other securities (Note 12b)  5,009,382  3,858,909 

INTERBANK ACCOUNTS OF SUBSIDIARIES  14,048,312  13,611,823 
LOAN, LEASE AND OTHER CREDIT OPERATIONS (Note 8)  140,671,365  147,103,166 

Operations with credit granting characteristics (Note 4e)  155,107,485  157,086,229 
 (Allowance for loan losses) (Note 4f )  (14,436,120)  (9,983,063)

INVENTORIES (Notes 4g and 9)  758,518  758,019 
Products  758,242  746,763 
Real estate  276  11,256 

OTHER RECEIVABLES  56,500,464  79,921,948 
Foreign exchange portfolio (Note 10)  25,313,317  49,473,902 
Deferred tax assets (Note 15b I)  7,581,325  6,278,317 
Transactions with credit card issuers (Note 4e)  9,520,515  5,100,495 
Receivables from insurance and reinsurance operations (Note 4m I)  3,420,379  3,646,249 
Sundry (Note 14a)  10,728,547  15,534,523 
(Allowance for loan losses)  (63,619)  (111,538)

OTHER ASSETS (Notes 4h and 14b)  825,716  854,406 
PREPAID EXPENSES (Notes 4i and 14c)  1,993,156  2,148,140 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  162,062,731  152,696,863 
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES  147,947,718  140,110,895 

INTERBANK INVESTMENTS (Notes 4b and 6)  6,409,632  4,277,079 
SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Notes 4c, 4d and 7)  25,517,101  29,649,271 

Securities  20,064,723  21,973,273 
Derivative financial instruments  2,093,268  3,588,985 
Assets guaranteeing technical provisions – other securities (Note 12b)  3,359,110  4,087,013 

INTERBANK ACCOUNTS OF SUBSIDIARIES  521,514  655,867 
LOAN, LEASE AND OTHER CREDIT OPERATIONS (Note 8)  81,227,716  73,914,951 

Operations with credit granting characteristics (Note 4e)  90,843,469  83,904,043 
(Allowance for loan losses) (Note 4f )  (9,615,753)  (9,989,092)

OTHER RECEIVABLES  32,719,415  29,514,743 
Foreign exchange portfolio (Note 10)  1,925,929  2,354,776 
Deferred tax assets (Note 15b I)  18,688,376  19,124,592 
Sundry (Note 14a)  12,105,110  8,035,375 

OTHER ASSETS (Notes 4h and 14b)  7,738  12,139 
PREPAID EXPENSES (Notes 4i and 14c)  1,544,602  2,086,845 

INVESTMENTS (Notes 4j and 16a II)  2,209,522  2,270,478 
Investments in affiliates  1,191,663  1,354,055 
Other investments  1,017,859  916,423 

FIXED ASSETS (Notes 4k and 16b)  7,523,828  6,175,716 
Fixed assets for own use  14,823,786  13,516,037 
Leased properties  18,553  18,553 
Forest reserves  360,247  182,184 
(Accumulated depreciation)  (7,678,758)  (7,541,058)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 16b)  4,381,663  4,139,774 
TOTAL ASSETS  615,961,602  643,201,210 

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
(In thousands of reais)
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LIABILITIES 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

CURRENT LIABILITIES  334,578,966  357,153,317 

FUNDS RAISED BY SUBSIDIARIES (Notes 4b and 11)  241,680,095  244,674,642 

Foreign currency  13,880,213  20,816,749 

Local currency  139,650,747  137,596,107 

Money market    88,149,135  86,261,786 

SUBORDINATED DEBT (Notes 4b and 11)  38,720  1,261,411 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Notes 4d and 7b)  3,418,538  11,224,062 

BORROWINGS (Notes 4b and 11)  663,493  710,089 

Foreign currency  321,609  313,882 

Local currency  341,884  396,207 

STATUTORY AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS  4,492,634  4,067,606 

TAX AND SOCIAL SECURITY CONTRIBUTIONS (Notes 4o, 4p and 15c)  6,783,965  7,100,760 

OTHER LIABILITIES  65,210,081  78,055,797 

Foreign exchange portfolio (Note 10)  25,742,753  47,720,106 

Credit card operations  25,977,057  19,111,745 

Securitization of foreign payment orders (Notes 4b and 11)  -  215,500 

Sundry (Note 14d)  13,490,271  11,008,446 

INTERBANK ACCOUNTS OF SUBSIDIARIES  3,077,379  3,008,145 

TECHNICAL PROVISIONS FOR INSURANCE, PENSION PLAN AND CAPITALIZATION (Notes 4n and 12a)  9,214,061  7,050,805 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  223,426,838  237,764,719 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES  223,426,838  237,764,719 

FUNDS RAISED BY SUBSIDIARIES (Notes 4b and 11)  132,539,014  147,674,843 

Foreign currency  3,866,920  10,469,969 

Local currency  85,181,406  99,172,166 

Money market    43,490,688  38,032,708 

SUBORDINATED DEBT (Notes 4b and 11)  21,999,496  21,164,412 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Notes 4d and 7b)  2,140,714  3,612,634 

BORROWINGS (Notes 4b and 11)  944,290  683,098 

Foreign currency  92,893  312,583 

Local currency  851,397  370,515 

TAX AND SOCIAL SECURITY CONTRIBUTIONS (Notes 4o, 4p and 15c)  14,312,071  11,246,414 

OTHER LIABILITIES  8,301,566  17,252,038 

Foreign exchange portfolio (Note 10)  1,939,564  3,041,056 

Credit card operations  198,240  - 

Securitization of foreign payment orders (Notes 4b and 11)  -  3,613,233 

Sundry (Note 14d)  6,163,762  10,597,749 

TECHNICAL PROVISIONS FOR INSURANCE, PENSION PLAN AND CAPITALIZATION (Notes 4n and 12a)  43,189,687  36,131,280 

MINORITY INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Note 21c)  38,169,806  31,691,229 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Note 17)  19,785,992  16,591,945 

Capital  13,000,000  10,000,000 

Capital reserves  174,241  154,668 

Revaluation reserves  26,526  29,358 

Revenue reserves  6,562,198  6,608,045 

Asset valuation adjustment (Notes 4c, 4d and 7a)  38,271  (154,622)

(Treasury shares)  (15,244)  (45,504)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY OF THE ITAÚSA GROUP  57,955,798  48,283,174 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  615,961,602  643,201,210 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
 (In thousands of reais)
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01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

OPERATING REVENUES  115,680,585  83,282,242 

Sales of products and services  19,351,893  15,499,579 

Insurance, pension plan and capitalization (Note 12c)  17,630,232  11,920,877 

Financial  48,189,417  40,407,485 

Financial income from insurance, pension plan and capitalization operations (Note 12c)  4,575,783  2,321,376 

Securities  24,161,950  13,963,320 

Equity in earnings of affiliates (Note 16a II)  224,673  (2,879,014)

Other operating revenues (Note 14e)  1,546,637  2,048,619 

OPERATING EXPENSES  (94,691,841)  (86,315,410)

Cost of products and services  (3,305,339)  (3,296,919)

Insurance, pension plan and capitalization (Note 12c)  (15,198,538)  (10,613,718)

Equity (Note 8c)  (15,458,119)  (13,718,762)

Administrative  (19,665,594)  (14,336,817)

Management fees  (458,589)  (473,559)

Financial  (26,698,332)  (31,474,149)

Financial expenses on technical provisions for pension plan and capitalization (Note 12c)  (3,992,544)  (1,841,417)

Other operating expenses (Note 14f )  (9,914,786)  (10,560,069)

OPERATING INCOME  20,988,744  (3,033,168)

INCOME BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME AND PROFIT SHARING  20,988,744  (3,033,168)

INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION (Notes 4p and 15a I)  (7,515,664)  9,380,812 

Due on operations for the period  (6,273,534)  (2,924,304)

Related to temporary differences  (1,242,130)  12,305,116 

PROFIT SHARING  (1,730,894)  (916,458)

Employees – Law No. 10,101 of 12/19/2000  (1,507,139)  (768,056)

Officers – Statutory – Law No. 6,404 of 12/15/1976  (223,755)  (148,402)

NET INCOME OF THE GROUP  11,742,186  5,431,186 

MINORITY INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Note 21c)  (7,811,982)  (2,731,506)
NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY  3,930,204  2,699,680 

NUMBER OF OUTSTANDING SHARES – In thousands (Note 17a)  4,345,833  3,881,480 
NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY PER SHARE – R$  0.90  0.70 
BOOK VALUE OF PARENT COMPANY PER SHARE – R$  4.55  4.27 

EXCLUSION OF NONRECURRING EFFECTS (Note 21d)  18,026  1,377,323 
NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY WITHOUT NONRECURRING EFFECTS  3,948,230  4,077,003 

NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY PER SHARE – R$  0.91  1.05 
NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY PER SHARE (WITHOUT BONUS EFFECT IN 2009) – R$  1.00  1.05 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Income
(In thousands of reais)
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 01/01 to 
12/31/2009 

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

ADJUSTED NET INCOME   36,012,550   16,930,031 
Net income   3,930,204   2,699,680 
Adjustments to net income:   32,082,346   14,230,351 

Adjustment to market value of securities and derivative financial instruments (assets/liabilities)   (3,003,340)   1,429,253 
Allowance for loan losses   16,398,955   14,279,713 
Results from operations with subordinated debt   1,265,073   2,514,849 
Results from securitization of foreign payment orders   (309,741)   871,413 
Change in technical provision for insurance, pension plan and capitalization   3,992,544   1,841,417 
Depreciation and amortization   2,350,516   1,596,943 
Adjustment to legal liabilities – tax and social security   (52,944)   60,440 
Adjustment to provision for contingent liabilities   (1,083,090)   1,988,886 
Deferred taxes   1,242,130   (12,305,116)
Equity in earnings of affiliates   (224,673)   2,879,014 
Income from available-for-sale securities   3,082,966   (4,062,040)
Income from held-to-maturity securities   525,210   (498,383)
Amortization of goodwill on purchase of interest in investments and holders of minority interest   -     1,556,955 
(Gain) loss from sale of investments   (424,339)   (291,587)
Minority interest   7,811,982   2,731,506 
Other   511,097   (362,912)

CHANGE IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES   (3,670,746)   (2,956,020)
(Increase) decrease in interbank investments   19,092,080   (37,399,717)
(Increase) decrease in securities and derivative financial instruments (assets/liabilities)   5,227,611   (26,163,844)
(Increase) decrease in interbank accounts of subsidiaries   (232,902)   10,962,524 
(Increase) decrease in loan, lease and other credit operations   (17,015,919)   (64,045,329)
(Increase) decrease in inventories   (540)   (88,729)
(Increase) decrease in other receivables and other assets   (31,773)   (1,528,563)
(Increase) decrease in foreign exchange operations   1,510,587   1,020,853 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses   697,227   (2,396,152)
Increase (decrease) in funds obtained by subsidiaries – foreign currency   (13,539,585)   16,760,403 
Increase (decrease) in funds obtained by subsidiaries – local currency   (12,121,861)   62,975,551 
Increase (decrease) in funds obtained by subsidiaries – money market   7,345,329   28,277,625 
Increase (decrease) in borrowings – foreign currency   (211,964)   206,101 
Increase (decrease) in borrowings – local currency   414,559   224,739 
Increase (decrease) in credit card operations   2,490,541   5,878,566 
Increase (decrease) in securitization of foreign payment orders   (3,518,992)   (154,891)
Increase (decrease) in social contributions and tax and other liabilities   5,346,567   1,319,604 
Increase (decrease) in technical provision for insurance, pension plan and capitalization   5,100,089   3,944,745 
Payment of income tax and social contribution   (4,221,800)   (2,749,506)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES   32,341,804   13,974,011 
Interest on capital/dividends received from affiliated companies   78,843   114,720 
Funds received from sale of available-for-sale securities   14,244,015   22,684,660 
Funds received from redemption of held-to-maturity securities   459,802   374,734 
Sale of investments   431,847   400,263 
Payment of income tax and social contribution from sale of investments   (135,816)   (135,648)
Sale of fixed assets   67,933   47,500 
Purchase of available-for-sale securities   (10,519,213)   (27,742,545)
Cash and cash equivalents of assets and liabilities arising from the ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger   -     14,962,865 
Purchase of interest AIG Seguros S.A.   -     (1,937,203)
Cash and cash equivalents of assets and liabilities arising from the purchase of Redecard S.A. and others   (477,994)   -   
Purchase of investments   (157,191)   (423,493)
Purchase of fixed assets and forest reserves   (1,534,922)   (1,911,499)
Investment in intangible assets   (793,081)   (1,127,108)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES   1,664,223   5,307,246 
Increase (decrease) in subordinated debt   (1,652,680)   992,818 
Change in minority interest   (9,022)   (2,637,893)
Subscription of shares   450,000   77,406 
Premium on subscription of shares   604   471 
Reserve arising from the sale of fractional shares not paid-in   -     78 
Purchase of own shares   (15,244)   (280,545)
Interest on capital paid to holders of minority interest   (2,376,941)   (1,666,330)
Interest on capital paid   (1,663,614)   (1,177,550)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (5,266,897)   (4,691,545)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Notes 4a and 5)   28,739,130   14,589,712 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   37,259,962   22,670,250 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   65,999,092   37,259,962 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(In thousands of reais)
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01/01 to 12/31/2009 01/01 to 12/31/2008

INCOME  82,099,522  61,051,847 

Sale of goods, products and services  19,351,893  15,499,579 

Result from insurance, pension plan and capitalization operations  3,014,932  1,787,118 

Financial and from securities  72,351,367  54,370,805 

Allowance for loan losses – (increase)  (14,165,307)  (12,654,274)

Other  1,546,637  2,048,619 

EXPENSES  (27,991,144)  (32,538,637)

Financial  (26,698,332)  (31,474,149)

Other  (1,292,812)  (1,064,488)

INPUTS PURCHASED FROM THIRD PARTIES  (14,726,899)  (4,956,636)

Costs of products, goods and services sold  (3,305,339)  (3,296,919)

Materials  (306,822)  (246,577)

Third-party services  (2,832,048)  (1,780,415)

Other  (8,282,690)  367,275 

Data processing and telecommunications  (2,333,384)  (1,678,841)

Advertising, promotions and publications  (981,249)  (709,928)

Conservation and maintenance  (997,140)  (578,120)

Transportation  (409,803)  (302,641)

Security  (384,787)  (274,176)

Travel expenses  (121,943)  (107,663)

Other  (3,054,384)  4,018,644 

GROSS ADDED VALUE  39,381,479  23,556,574 

DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND DEPLETION  (1,440,080)  (783,374)

NET ADDED VALUE PRODUCED BY THE COMPANY  37,941,399  22,773,200 

ADDED VALUE RECEIVED AS A TRANSFER  224,673  (2,879,320)

Equity in earnings  224,673  (2,879,320)

TOTAL ADDED VALUE TO BE DISTRIBUTED  38,166,072  19,893,880 

ADDED VALUE DISTRIBUTION  38,166,072  19,893,880 

Personnel  11,628,061  8,618,288 

Compensation  9,582,727  7,094,369 

Benefits  1,532,883  1,178,375 

FGTS – government severance pay fund  512,451  345,544 

Taxes, fees and contributions    13,935,030  5,339,055 

Federal  12,875,331  4,469,863 

State  481,394  445,315 

Municipal  578,305  423,877 

Return on managed assets – Rent  860,795  505,351 

Return on own assets  11,742,186  5,431,186 

Dividends and interest on capital paid/provided for  1,406,671  1,596,841 

Retained earnings for the year  2,523,533  1,102,839 

Minority interest in retained earnings  7,811,982  2,731,506 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Added Value
(In thousands of reais)
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ASSETS 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

CURRENT ASSETS  2,071,951  1,910,856 

Cash and cash equivalents  23  20 

Securities (Notes 4c and 7a)  981,320  778,610 

Deferred tax assets (Note 15b I)  84,563  81,504 

Other sundry receivables (Note 14a)  1,006,045  1,050,722 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  23,568,287  21,778,085 

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES  32,315  39,830 

Securities (Notes 4c and 7a)  34  34 

Deferred tax assets (Note 15b I)  353  9,418 

Other sundry receivables (Note 14a)  31,928  30,378 

INVESTMENTS  21,930,357  20,154,828 

Investments in subsidiaries (Note 16a I)  21,917,153  20,150,887 

Other investments  13,204  3,941 

FIXED ASSETS (Note 16b)  7,332  7,485 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 16b)  1,598,283  1,575,942 
TOTAL ASSETS  25,640,238  23,688,941 

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,097,651  1,338,220 

Dividends/Interest on capital payable  1,047,383  1,302,567 

Tax and social security contributions (Notes 4o and 4p)  47,010  31,360 

Other liabilities  3,258  4,293 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  36,234  10,251 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES – Tax and social security contributions (Notes 4o and 4p)  36,234  10,251 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Note 17)  24,506,353  22,340,470 

Capital  13,000,000  10,000,000 

Capital reserves  174,241  154,668 

Revaluation reserves  26,526  29,358 

Revenue reserves  11,282,559  12,356,570 

Asset valuation adjustment (Notes 4c, 4d and 7a)  38,271  (154,622)

 (Treasury shares)  (15,244)  (45,504)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  25,640,238  23,688,941 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A.

Balance Sheet  
(In thousands of reais)
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 01/01 to 
12/31/2009 

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

OPERATING REVENUES  3,116,748  6,973,317 

Securities  140,650  11,028 

Equity in earnings of affiliates (Note 16a I)  2,900,943  6,873,690 

Other operating revenues  75,155  88,599 

OPERATING EXPENSES  (172,582)  (155,237)

Equity  (839)  (852)

Administrative  (25,393)  (27,500)

Management fees  (9,584)  (8,324)

Other operating expenses (Note 14f )  (136,766)  (118,561)

OPERATING INCOME  2,944,166  6,818,080 

INCOME BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME AND PROFIT SHARING  2,944,166  6,818,080 

INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION (Note 4p)  (35,492)  74,520 

Due on operations for the period  (4,229)  1,694 

Related to temporary differences  (31,263)  72,826 

PROFIT SHARING – Officers – Statutory – Law No. 6,404 of 12/15/1976  (6,635)  (6,827)

NET INCOME  2,902,039  6,885,773 

NUMBER OF OUTSTANDING SHARES – In thousands (Note 17a)  4,345,833  3,881,480 

NET INCOME PER SHARE – R$  0.67  1.77 

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE – R$  5.64  5.76 

EXCLUSION OF NONRECURRING EFFECTS (Note 21d)  18,026  (3,294,550)

NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY WITHOUT NONRECURRING EFFECTS  2,920,065  3,591,223 

NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY PER SHARE – R$  0.67  0.93 
NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY PER SHARE (WITHOUT BONUS EFFECT IN 2009) – R$  0.74  0.93 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

Statement of income
(In thousands of reais)
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01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

ADJUSTED NET INCOME (LOSS)  33,198  (36,876)

Net income   2,902,039   6,885,773 

Adjustments to net income:   (2,868,841)   (6,922,649)

Amortization of goodwill   -     22,834 

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries and affiliated companies   (2,900,943)   (6,873,690)

Deferred taxes   31,263   (72,826)

 (Reversal) provision for losses   -     181 

Depreciation and amortization   839   852 

CHANGE IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES   (7,652)   (6,199)

(Increase) decrease in sundry receivables and other assets   (24,752)   10,243 

(Decrease) Increase in provisions and accounts payable and other liabilities   17,100   (16,442)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES   25,546   (43,075)

Securities   (75,917)   (465,900)

Disposal of investments   3   586,700 

Purchase of investments   (51,173)   (106,842)

Goodwill on purchase of investments   (22,338)   -   

Purchase of fixed assets   (686)   (433)

Interest on capital/Dividends received   1,488,879   1,409,065 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES   1,338,768 1,422,590

Premium on subscription of shares   604   471 

Subscription of shares   450,000   250,000 

Purchase of treasury shares   (15,244)   (280,545)

Interest on capital and dividends paid   (1,663,614)   (1,350,144)

Reserve arising from the sale of fractional shares   -     78 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (1,228,254)   (1,380,140)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   136,060   (625)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Notes 4a and 5)

At the beginning of the period   54   679 

At the end of the period   136,114   54 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

Statement of Cash Flows
(In thousands of reais)
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01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

INCOME  215,805  77,057 

Financial and from securities  140,650  11,028 

Other revenues (expenses)  75,155  66,029 

INPUTS PURCHASED FROM THIRD PARTIES  (24,050)  (32,446)

Materials, energy, services and others  (215)  (203)

Third-party services  (5,367)  (5,462)

Other  (18,468)  (26,781)

Security  (7,953)  (9,369)

Agreement for apportionment of common costs  (4,011)  (4,992)

Advertising, promotions and publications  (1,974)  (1,659)

Other  (4,530)  (10,761)

GROSS ADDED VALUE  191,755  44,611 

DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND DEPLETION  (839)  (852)

NET ADDED VALUE PRODUCED BY THE COMPANY  190,916  43,759 

ADDED VALUE RECEIVED AS A TRANSFER  2,900,943  6,873,690 

Equity in earnings  2,900,943  6,873,690 

TOTAL ADDED VALUE TO BE DISTRIBUTED  3,091,859  6,917,449 

ADDED VALUE DISTRIBUTION  3,091,859  6,917,449 

Personnel  17,605  16,625 

Compensation  16,203  15,132 

Benefits  613  645 

FGTS – government severance pay fund  789  848 

Taxes, fees and contributions   171,943  14,732 

Federal  171,936  14,725 

State  2  2 

Municipal  5  5 

Return on managed assets  272  319 

Rent  272  319 

Return on own assets  2,902,039  6,885,773 

Interest on capital  1,406,671  1,596,841 

Retained earnings for the year  1,495,368  5,288,932 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

Statement of Added Value
(In thousands of reais)



ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FROM JANUARY 1  
TO DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(In thousands of reais)

NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS

Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. (ITAÚSA) has as its main objective 
supporting the companies in which it holds an equity interest, 
through studies, analyses and suggestions on the operating 
policy and projects for the expansion of the mentioned 
companies, obtaining resources to meet the related additional 
needs of risk capital through subscription or acquisition of 
securities issued, to strengthen their position in the capital 
market and related activities or subsidiaries of interest of the 
mentioned companies, except for those restricted to  
financial institutions.

NOTE 2 – PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The financial statements of ITAÚSA and of its subsidiaries (ITAÚSA 
CONSOLIDATED) have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles established by the Brazilian Corporate Law, 
including the amendments introduced by Laws No. 11,638, of 
December 28, 2007 and No. 11,941 of May 27, 2009 (Note 21f ), 
in conformity, when applicable, with instructions issued by the 
Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM), the Central 
Bank of Brazil (BACEN), the National Monetary Council (CMN), the 
Superintendency of Private Insurance (SUSEP), and the National 
Council of Private Insurance (CNSP), which include the use of 
estimates necessary to calculate accounting provisions.

On February 18, 2009, BACEN approved the merger of the 
financial operations of Itaú Unibanco S.A.  (ITAÚ UNIBANCO) and 
Unibanco – União de Bancos Brasileiros S.A. (UNIBANCO).  
These operations were integrated according to the respective 
business segment, through splits and mergers occurred on  
February 28, 2009.

On March 30, 2009, ITAÚ UNIBANCO purchased 24,082,760 
nominative common shares of Redecard S.A. for R$590,028, giving 
rise to a goodwill amounting to R$556,575, which, net of taxes, 
totaled R$506,483. In view of this transaction, ITAÚ UNIBANCO 
started to have the stockholding control over Redecard S.A., fully 
consolidated in the Financial Statements of ITAÚSA from the first 
quarter of 2009.

On June 22, 2009, ITAÚSA and Companhia Ligna de Investimentos 
(LIGNA), parent companies of Duratex S.A. (DURATEX) and Satipel 
Industrial (SATIPEL), respectively, signed an irrevocable and 
irreversible agreement for the merger of the companies, aiming 
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at unifying their operations. The operation was implemented 
through a corporate reorganization in which DURATEX was 
merged into SATIPEL, at the ESM of August 31, 2009, and Duratex 
stockholders received common shares issued by Satipel. In view  
of this reorganization, Satipel's company name was changed  
to Duratex S.A.

On August 23, 2009, ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING S.A. and Porto 
Seguro S.A. (PORTO SEGURO) entered into an alliance aimed 
at the unification of their residence and automobile insurance 
operations, in addition to an Operational Agreement for the 
exclusive offer and distribution of residence and automobile 
insurance products to the customers of the ITAÚ UNIBANCO 
branch network in Brazil and Uruguay.

The implementation of the Alliance took place through a 
corporate restructuring, in which ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING 
transferred to PORTO SEGURO all the assets and liabilities related 
to its current portfolio of residence and automobile insurance and 
Stockholders' Equity of R$950 million. In its turn, PORTO SEGURO 
issued shares representing 30% (thirty percent) of its new capital 
stock, which were delivered to ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING, which 
started to proportionally consolidate its interest. The goodwill 
arising from this operation was R$40,386, which net of taxes, 
totaled R$36,751.

In order to enable the proper analysis of the net income, the 
heading “Net income without nonrecurring effects” is presented 
below the Consolidated Statement of Income, and this effect is 
highlighted in a heading called “Exclusion of nonrecurring  
effects” (Note 21d).

Lease Operations are presented at present value in the Balance 
Sheet, and the related income and expenses, which represent 
the financial result of these operations, are presented grouped 
together under Financial Income in the Statement of Income. 
Advances on exchange contracts are reclassified from Other 
Liabilities – Foreign Exchange Portfolio. The foreign exchange 
result is presented on an adjusted basis, with the reclassification 
of expenses and income, in order to represent exclusively the 
impact of variations and differences of rates on the balance sheet 
accounts denominated in foreign currencies.

NOTE 3 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Intercompany transactions and balances and results have 
been eliminated on consolidation. The investments held by 
consolidated companies in Exclusive Investment Funds are 
consolidated. The investments in these fund portfolios are 
classified by type of transaction and were distributed by type 
of security, in the same categories in which these securities had 
been originally allocated. The effects of the Foreign Exchange 
Variation on investments abroad are classified in the heading 
Operating Revenues – Securities and Derivative Financial 
Instruments in the Statement of Income from March 31, 2009, 
including for comparability effects.

The difference in Net Income and Stockholders' Equity 
between ITAÚSA and ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED (Note 17d) 

results from the results from the adoption of different criteria 
for the amortization of goodwill originated on purchase of 
investments and recognition of deferred tax assets.

In ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries, the goodwill mainly originated 
from the ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger was amortized until 
December 31, 2008 based on the expected future profitability 
(10 years) or upon realization of investments, according to the 
rules and guidance of CVM, CMN and BACEN. The goodwill 
computed after January 1, 2009 is no longer systematically 
amortized in the financial statements of ITAÚSA and its non-
financial subsidiaries, as provided for by CVM Resolutions 
No. 553, of November 12, 2008, and No. 565, of December 17, 
2008, and started to be recorded in the Balance Sheet under 
the heading Intangible Assets, including for comparability 
purposes. For financial subsidiaries and equivalent companies, 
the criterion for amortization of goodwill was not changed.

In ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED, the goodwill calculated up to 
December 31, 2008 was fully amortized in the years when 
these investments occurred in order to: a) permit better 
comparability with previous periods' consolidated financial 
statements and b) permit measuring Net Income and 
Stockholders' Equity based on conservative criteria. The 
goodwill computed from January 1, 2009 follows the above 
described rules in the preparation of individual balance sheets. 
Accordingly, the amount of R$619,301 was not amortized, 
which, net of tax effects and minority interest, totals R$213,546, 
basically originated from the purchase of shares of  
Redecard S.A. (Note 2).

The negative goodwill computed on the purchase of 
investment is amortized only upon realization of investments. 
The negative goodwill not absorbed in the consolidation 
process is recorded in the Balance Sheet under Other  
Sundry Liabilities.
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Incorporation 
country

Interest (%)

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA
Afinco Américas Madeira, SGPS, Sociedade Unipessoal, Ltda. Portugal  35.46  35.54 
Banco Fiat S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaú Argentina S.A. Argentina  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaú BBA S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaú Chile S.A. Chile  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaú Europa Luxembourg S.A. Luxemburgo  35.45  35.53 
Banco Itaú Europa, S.A. Portugal  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaú Uruguay  S.A. Uruguay  35.46  35.54 
Banco ItauBank S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaucard S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itaucred Financiamentos S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Banco Itauleasing S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
BIU Participações S.A.  (1) Brazil  35.46  23.51 
Cia. Itaú de Capitalização Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Dibens Leasing S.A. – Arrendamento Mercantil Brazil  35.46  35.54 
FAI – Financeira Americanas Itaú S.A. Crédito, Financiamento e Investimento  (2) Brazil  17.73  17.77 
Fiat Administradora de Consórcios Ltda. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Financeira Itaú CBD S.A. Crédito, Financiamento e Investimento  (3) Brazil  17.73  17.77 
Hipercard Banco Múltiplo S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Administradora de Consórcios Ltda. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Bank, Ltd.  (4) Cayman Island  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Corretora de Valores S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Seguros S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A. (5) Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Unibanco S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú Vida e Previdência S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Itaú XL Seguros Corporativos S.A.  (3) Brazil  17.73  17.77 
Itaúsa Export S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
IUPAR – Itaú Unibanco Participações S.A. (2) Brazil  66.53  66.53 
Oca Casa Financiera S.A. Uruguay  35.46  35.54 
Orbitall Serviços e Processamento de Informações Comerciais S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Porto Seguro S.A. (6) Brazil  10.64  -   
Redecard S.A. (Note 2) (5) Brazil  17.00  15.77 
Unibanco – União de Bancos Brasileiros S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Unibanco Cayman Bank Ltd. Cayman Island  35.46  35.54 
Unibanco Holdings S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 
Unibanco Participações Societárias S.A. Brazil  18.09  18.13 
Unicard Banco Múltiplo S.A. Brazil  35.46  35.54 

INDUSTRIAL AREA
Duratex S.A. (5) Brazil  35.26  42.10 
Elekeiroz S.A. (5) Brazil  96.45  96.45 
Itaúsa Empreendimentos S.A. Brazil  99.96  99.96 
Itautec S.A. (5) Brazil  94.01  94.01 

 (1) Company fully consolidated as from this year;     
 (2) Companies with shared control included proportionally in consolidation;     
 (3)  Company with shared control, fully included in consolidation, as authorized by CVM, in view of business management by Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.  

(ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING S.A.);     
 (4) It does not include redeemable preferred shares (Note 11);     
 (5) Listed company;     
 (6) Company controlled by Porto Seguro Itaú Unibanco Participações S.A. included proportionally in consolidation from 12/31/2009.    
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise ITAÚSA and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, among which we highlight:
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NOTE 4 – SUMMARY OF THE MAIN ACCOUNTING 
PRACTICES

a)  Cash and cash equivalents  – For purposes of Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows, it includes cash and current accounts 
in banks (considered in the heading cash and cash equivalents), 
interbank deposits and securities purchased under agreements 
to resell – funded position (considered in the heading interbank 
investments) that have original maturities of up to 90 days or less.

b)  Interbank investments, funds raised by subsidiaries, 
borrowings, subordinated debt and other receivables and 
payables  – Transactions subject to monetary correction 
and foreign exchange variation and operations with fixed 
charges are recorded at present value, net of the transaction 
costs incurred, calculated “pro rata die” based on the effective 
rate of transactions, according to CVM Resolution No. 556 of 
November 12, 2008.

c) Securities

I – Recorded at cost of acquisition restated by the index 
and/or effective interest rate and presented in the Balance 
Sheet, according to CVM Resolution No. 566, of December 
17, 2008, BACEN Circular No. 3,068, of November 8, 2001 and 
SUSEP Circular No. 379, of December 19, 2008.  Securities are 
classified into the following categories:

•  Trading securities – Acquired to be actively and frequently 
traded, and adjusted to market value, with a contra-entry to 
the results for the period. Assets in this category are classified 
as current assets; 

•  Available-for-sale securities – Securities that can be 
negotiated but are not acquired to be actively and frequently 
traded. They are adjusted to their market value with a contra-
entry to an account disclosed in stockholders' equity; and 

•  Held-to-maturity securities – Securities, except for non-
redeemable shares, for which the bank has the financial 
condition and intends or is required to hold them in the 
portfolio up to their maturity, are recorded at cost of 
acquisition, or market value, whenever these are transferred 
from another category.  The securities are adjusted up to 
their maturity date, not being adjusted to market value.

Gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, when realized, 
are recognized at the trading date in the statement of income, 
with a contra-entry to a specific stockholders' equity account.

Decreases in the market value of available-for-sale and  
held-to-maturity securities below their related costs, resulting  
from non-temporary reasons, are recorded in results as  
realized losses.

II – The effects of the procedures described in item I above, 
in ITAÚSA's subsidiaries, recorded under stockholders' 
equity or the statement of income, were equally recorded 
in stockholders' equity or in the equity of earnings of parent 
company in proportion to the ownership percentage.

d)  Derivative financial instruments  – These are classified on the 
date of their acquisition, according to management's intention 
of using them either as a hedge or not, according to BACEN 
Circular Letter 3,082, of January 30, 2002. Transactions involving 
financial instruments, carried out upon the client's request, for 
their own account, or which do not comply with the hedging 
criteria (mainly derivatives used to manage the overall risk 
exposure) are stated at market value, including realized and 
unrealized gains and losses, which are recorded directly in the 
statements of income.

The derivatives used for protection against risk exposure or to 
modify the characteristics of financial assets and liabilities, which 
have changes in market value highly associated with those of 
the items being protected at the beginning and throughout 
the duration of the contract, and which are found effective to 
reduce the risk related to the exposure being protected, are 
classified as a hedge, in accordance with their nature:

•  Market Risk Hedge – Financial assets and liabilities, as well as 
their related financial instruments, are accounted for at their 
market value plus realized and unrealized gains and losses, 
which are recorded directly in the statement of income;

•  Cash Flow Hedge – The effective amount of the hedge 
of financial assets and liabilities, as well as their related 
financial instruments, are accounted for at their market 
value plus realized and unrealized gains and losses, net 
of tax effects, when applicable, and recorded in a specific 
account in stockholders' equity.  The ineffective portion of 
hedge is recorded directly in the statement of income.

e)  Loan, lease and other credit operations (Operations with 
credit granting characteristics) – These transactions are 
recorded at present value and calculated “pro rata die” based 
on the variation of the contracted index and interest rate, 
and are recorded on the accrual basis until the 60th day 
overdue in financial companies. After the 60th day, income is 
recognized upon the effective receipt of installments. Credit 
card operations include receivables arising from the purchases 
made by cardholders.  The funds related to these amounts 
are recorded in Other Liabilities – Credit Card Operations, 
which also include funds arising from other credits related to 
transactions with credit card issuers.

f)  Allowance for loan losses  – The balance of the allowance for 
loan losses was recorded based on the credit risk analysis, at an 
amount considered sufficient to cover loan losses. The financial 
subsidiaries complied with the rules determined by CMN 
Resolution No. 2,682 of December 21, 1999, among which are:

•  Provisions are recorded from the date loans are granted, 
based on the client's risk rating and on the periodic 
quality evaluation of clients and industries, and not only 
in the event of default;

•  Based exclusively on delinquency, write-offs of credit 
operations against loss may be carried out 360 days after 
the due date of the credit or 540 days for operations that 
mature after a period of 36 months. 
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k)  Fixed assets – These assets are stated at cost of acquisition 
or construction, less accumulated depreciation, and adjusted 
to market value until December 31, 2007, when applicable.  For 
insurance, pension plan and capitalization operations, property 
and equipment are adjusted to market value supported by 
appraisal reports. They correspond to rights related to tangible 
assets intended for maintenance of the company's operations 
or exercised for such purpose, including assets arising from 
transactions that transfer to the company their benefits, risks 
and control.  The items acquired through Lease contracts are 
recorded according to CVM Resolution No. 554, of November 12, 
2008, as contra-entry to Lease obligations.

In the Financial Area, with respect to operating leases, leased 
assets are stated at cost of acquisition less accumulated 
depreciation.  The depreciation of leased assets is recognized 
under the straight-line method, based on their usual useful lives, 
taking into account that the useful life shall be decreased by 
30% should it meet the conditions provided for by Ordinance 
No. 113 of February 26, 1988 issued by the Ministry of Finance. 
Receivables are recorded in lease receivable at the contractual 
amount, with contra-entry to unearned income accounts.  
The recognition in income will occur on the due date of the 
installments.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, based 
on monetarily restated cost, at the following annual rates:

g)  Inventories – These are valued at the average acquisition 
or production cost, which is lower than replacement costs 
or realizable values and, when applicable, decreased by the 
provision for obsolescence.  Imports in transit are stated at the 
accumulated cost of each import.

h)  Other assets – These assets are mainly comprised by assets 
held for sale relating to real estate available for sale, own real 
estate not in use and real estate received as payment in kind, 
which are adjusted to market value through the set-up of a 
provision, according to current regulations, and reinsurance 
unearned premiums (Note 4 n l).

i)  Prepaid expenses – These refer to expenditures which will 
benefit future periods.

j)  Investments – In subsidiary and affiliated companies, 
investments are accounted for under the equity method. The 
consolidated financial statements of foreign branches and 
subsidiaries are adapted to comply with Brazilian accounting 
practices and converted into reais.  Other investments are 
recorded at cost and adjusted to market value by setting up a 
provision in accordance with current standards.

Real estate 4% to 8%

Leasehold improvements From 10%

Installations, furniture, equipment and security, transportation and communication systems 10% to 25%

EDP systems 20% to 50%

l)  Intangible assets  – Correspond to rights acquired whose subjects 
are intangible assets intended for maintenance of the company 
or which are exercised for such purpose. They are composed of 
rights acquired to credit payrolls and partnership agreements, 
amortized over the agreement terms, and software and customer 
portfolios, amortized over a term varying from five to ten years 
and goodwill arising from the purchase of investments subject to 
annual recoverability test (Note 4m).

m)  Reduction to the Recoverable Value of Assets – A loss is 
recognized when there are clear evidences that assets are 
stated at a non-recoverable value.  From 2008, this procedure 
started to be adopted annually, at the end of each year.
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n)  Insurance, pension plan and capitalization operations  – 
Insurance premiums, acceptance coinsurance and selling 
expenses are accounted for in accordance with the insurance 
effectiveness term, through the recognition and reversal of 
the provision for unearned premiums and deferred selling 
expenses. Interest arising from fractioning of insurance 
premiums is accounted for as incurred. Revenues from social 
security contributions, gross revenue from capitalization 
certificates and respective technical provisions are recognized 
upon receipt. 

I – Credits from operations and other assets related to 
insurance and reinsurance operations:

•  Insurance premiums receivable – Refer to installments of 
insurance premiums receivable, current and past due, in 
accordance with insurance policies issued;

•   Reinsurance recoverable amounts – Refer to claims paid 
to the insured party pending recovery from Reinsurer, 
installments of unsettled claims and incurred but not 
reported claims – Reinsurance (IBNR), classified in assets 
in accordance with the criteria established by CNSP 
Resolution No. 162, of December 26, 2006, as amended 
by CNSP Resolution No. 195, of December 16, 2008, and 
SUSEP Circular No. 379, of December 12, 2008;

•  Reinsurance unearned premiums – Recognized to 
determine the portion of reinsurance unearned premiums, 
calculated “pro rata die”, and for risks of policies not issued, 
computed based on estimates, based on the actuarial 
technical study and in compliance with the criteria 
established by CNSP Resolution No. 162, of December 
26, 2006, as amended by CNSP Resolution No. 195, 
of December 16, 2008, and SUSEP Circular No. 379, of 
December 12, 2008.

II –  Technical provisions of insurance, pension plan and 
capitalization – Provisions are recognized according to the 
technical notes approved by SUSEP and criteria established 
by CNSP Resolution No. 162 of December 26, 2006 and the 
amendments introduced by CNSP Resolution No. 181, of 
December 19, 2007.

II.I – Insurance:

•  Provision for unearned premiums – Recognized to 
determine unearned premiums relating to the risk coverage 
period, calculated “pro rata die”, and relating to risks not 
yet issued, calculated based on estimates, according to an 
actuarial technical study;

•  Provision for premium deficiency – Recognized according 
to the Technical Actuarial Note in case of insufficient 
Provision for unearned premiums;

•   Provision for unsettled claims - Recognized based on 
claims of loss in an amount sufficient to cover future 
commitments, awaiting judicial decision, which 
amounts are determined by court-appointed experts 

and legal advisors that make assessments based on the 
insured amounts and technical regulations, taking into 
consideration the likelihood of unfavorable outcome to the 
insurance company;

•  Provision for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) – 
Recognized for the estimated amount of claims occurred 
for risks assumed in the portfolio but not reported. 

II.II –  Pension Plan and Individual life with living benefits  – 
Correspond to liabilities assumed such as retirement plans, 
disability, pension and annuity:

•  Mathematical provisions for benefits to be granted and 
benefits granted – Correspond to commitments assumed 
with participants, but for which benefits are not yet due, 
and to those receiving the benefits;

•  Provision for insufficient contribution – Recognized in case 
of insufficient mathematical provisions;

•  Provision for events incurred but not reported (IBNR) – 
Recognized at the estimated amount of events occurred 
but not reported;

•  Provision for financial surplus – Recognized at the 
difference between the contributions adjusted daily by the 
Investment Portfolio and the funds guaranteeing them, 
according to the plan's regulation;

•  Provision for financial variation – Recognized according to 
the methodology provided for in the Technical Actuarial 
Note in order to guarantee that the financial assets are 
sufficient to cover mathematical provisions.

II.III – Capitalization:

•  Mathematical provision for redemptions – Represents 
capitalization certificates received to be redeemed; 

•  Provision for raffle contingencies – Recognized according 
to the methodology provided for in the Technical Actuarial 
Note to cover the Provision for raffles in the event of 
insufficient funds.  

o)  Contingent assets and liabilities and legal liabilities – tax 
and social security – Assessed, recognized and disclosed 
according to the provisions set forth in CVM Resolution  
No. 594 of September 15, 2009.

I – Contingent assets and liabilities  

Refer to potential rights and obligations arising from past events, 
the occurrence of which is dependent upon future events.

•  Contingent assets – Not recognized, except upon evidence 
ensuring a high reliability level of realization, usually 
represented by claims awarded a final and unappealable 
judgment and confirmation of the recoverability of the claim 
through receipt of amounts or offset against another liability;
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•  Contingent liabilities – Basically arise from administrative 
proceedings and lawsuits, inherent in the normal course 
of business, filed by third parties, former employees and 
governmental bodies, in connection with civil, labor, 
tax and social security lawsuits and other risks.  These 
contingencies are calculated based on conservative 
practices, being usually recorded based on the opinion of 
legal advisors and considering the probability that financial 
resources shall be required for settling the obligation, 
the amount of which may be estimated with sufficient 
certainty.  Contingencies are classified either as probable, 
for which provisions are recognized; possible, which 
are disclosed but not recognized; or remote, for which 
recognition or disclosure are not required.  Any contingent 
amounts are measured through the use of models and 
criteria which allow their adequate measurement, in spite 
of the uncertainty of their term and amounts.

Escrow deposits are restated in accordance with the  
current legislation.

Contingencies guaranteed by indemnity clauses in privatization 
processes and with liquidity are only recognized upon judicial 
notification with simultaneous recognition of receivables, 
without any effect on results.

Income tax 15.00%

Additional income tax 10.00%

Social contribution(1) 9.00%

PIS(2) 1.65%

COFINS(2) 7.60%

ISS up to 5.00%

 (1)  As from May 1, 2008, for financial subsidiaries and equivalent companies, the rate 
was changed from 9% to 15%, as provided for by articles 17 and 41 of Law No. 
11,727, of June 24, 2008; 

 (2)  For financial and similar companies, the PIS and COFINS rates are 0.65% and 4%, 
respectively. 

The changes introduced by Laws No. 11,638 and No. 11,941 
(articles 37 and 38), which modified the criterion for recognizing 
revenues, costs and expenses, computed to determine the net 
income for the year, did not produce effects for purposes of 
determining the taxable income of companies that opt for the 
Transition Tax Regime (RTT), so for tax purposes the rules effective 
on December 31, 2007 were followed. The tax effect arising from 
the adoption of such rules are recorded, for accounting purposes, 
in the corresponding deferred assets and liabilities.

II – Legal liabilities – tax and social security

Represented by amounts payable related to tax liabilities, the 
legality or constitutionality of which are subject to administrative 
or judicial defense, recognized at the full amount  
under discussion.

Liabilities and related escrow deposits are adjusted in 
accordance with the current legislation.

p)  Taxes – These provisions are calculated according to current 
legislation at the rates shown below, using the related 
calculation bases.



89

NOTE 5 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

For purposes of Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents of ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED are composed of the following:

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Cash and cash equivalents  10,676,079  15,924,908 

Interbank deposits  7,020,984  11,198,436 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell – Funded position  48,302,029  10,136,618 

TOTAL  65,999,092  37,259,962 

In ITAÚSA, it is composed of the following:

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Cash and cash equivalents  23  20 

Securities – instant liquidity  136,091  34 

TOTAL  136,114  54 

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Money market  118,946,569  96,373,102 

Funded position(*)  62,111,914  24,668,262 

Financed position  52,001,403  70,660,571 

With free movement  3,912,988  14,407,768 

Without free movement   48,088,415  56,252,803 

Short position  4,833,252  1,044,269 

Money market – Assets Guaranteeing Technical Provisions – SUSEP  3,034,353  2,165,579 

Interbank deposits  17,461,045  26,007,407 
TOTAL  139,441,967  124,546,088 

 (*)  Includes R$9,288,318 (R$9,989,713 at 12/31/2008) related to money market with free movement, in which securities are basically restricted to guarantee transactions at the 
BM&FBovespa S.A. Brazilian Mercantile and Futures Exchange (BM&F) and the Central Bank of Brazil (BACEN). 

NOTE 6 – INTERBANK INVESTMENTS – FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA    

We present below the composition of the interbank investments of the subsidiaries of the Financial Services Area:
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Description   Cost  

Adjustment to market value  
with impact on Market value Per maturity Market value

Results Stockholders’ 
 equity 12/31/2009 0 – 30 31 – 90 91 – 180 181 – 365 366 – 720 Over  

720 days 12/31/2008

Trading securities (1)  72,523,528  324,993  -    72,848,521  46,510,438  629,530  1,469,518  4,910,572  5,485,627  13,842,836  73,154,305 

Available-for-sale securities  39,275,857  -    415,855  39,691,712  6,806,030  2,328,445  4,507,050  5,590,353  7,594,924  12,864,910  44,425,247 

Held-to-maturity securities (2)  2,429,849  -    -    2,429,849  4,703  10,592  729  25,247  286,732  2,101,846  4,372,168 

Derivative financial instruments  5,705,611  234,334  -    5,939,945  1,387,384  597,196  1,027,297  834,800  1,122,318  970,950  17,610,479 

Total securities and derivative financial instruments (assets)  119,934,845  559,327  415,855  120,910,027  54,708,555  3,565,763  7,004,594  11,360,972  14,489,601  29,780,542  139,562,199 

Adjustments of securities reclassified in prior years to the held-to-maturity category  15,777 

Accounting adjustment – Hedge – Circular No. 3,082  (145,183)

Deferred taxes  (107,069)

Minority interests in subsidiaries  (119,885)

Adjustment of securities of unconsolidated affiliates  (21,224)

Amount separately disclosed in the stockholders’ equity of ITAÚSA  38,271 

Total derivative financial instruments (liabilities)  (5,345,653)  (206,689)  (6,910)  (5,559,252)  (1,100,689)  (447,247)  (967,595)  (888,366)  (1,252,017)  (903,338)  (14,836,696)

 (1)  Includes the portfolio of PGBL and VGBL plan securities in the amount of R$38,626,466 (R$30,023,746 at 12/31/2008). The ownership and embedded risks  
of which belong to clients and recorded as marketable securities in compliance with SUSEP requirements. with contra-entry to liabilities in Technical Provision for Pension Plans.

(2)  Securities classified under this category, if stated at market value, would present a positive adjustment of R$362,421 (positive adjustment of R$521,799 at 12/31/2008).    
       

 In the ITAÚSA, it included the amount of R$981,354 (R$778,664 at 
12/31/2008) that is basically composed of Investment Fund Quotas.

The Management establishes guidelines for classification of 
Securities. Classification of portfolio securities, as well as those 
acquired in the period, are periodically and systematically evaluated 
in accordance with such guidelines. As set forth by article 5 of 
BACEN Circular No. 3.068, of November 11, 2008, revaluation 
regarding the classification of securities can only be made at the 
time of the interim (half-yearly) trial balances. Additionally, in case 
of transfer of the “held-to-maturity” category to the other ones, 
it can only occur due to an isolated, unusual, non-recurring and 
unexpected reason, which has happened after the classification 
date. On June 30, 2009, due to the merger agreement entered into 
Itaú and Unibanco, approved by BACEN on February 18, 2009 and 
to reflect the intent of the new institution arising from this merger, 
securities arising from the Unibanco portfolio were reclassified 
from the “held-to-maturity” to the “available-for-sale” category, 
in the amount of R$957,306 thousand, generating an addition to 
stockholders’ equity of R$125,303 thousand, considering the market 
evaluation of these securities.

b) Derivative financial instruments

The globalization of the markets in recent years has resulted in 
a high level of sophistication in the financial products used. As 
a result of this process, there has been an increasing demand 
for derivative financial instruments to manage market risks, 
mainly arising from fluctuations in interest and exchange rates, 
commodities and other asset prices. Accordingly, ITAÚSA and its 
subsidiaries operate in the derivative markets for meeting the 
growing needs of their clients, as well as carrying out their risk 
management policy. Such policy is based on the use of derivative 
instruments to minimize the risks resulting from commercial and 
financial operations.

The derivative financial instruments' business  with clients is 
carried out after the approval of credit limits. The process of limit 
approval takes into consideration potential stress scenarios.

Knowing the client, the sector in which it operates and its risk 
appetite profile, in addition to providing information on the risks 
involved in the transaction and the negotiated conditions, ensures 
transparency in the relationship between the parties and the 
supply of a product that better meet the needs of the client in 
view of its operating characteristics.

NOTE 7 – SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ASSETS AND LIABILITIES)  

Following is the composition of the heading “Securities and Derivative Financial Instruments”, classified by maturity and presented at their cost 
and market values, as well as the effects recorded directly in stockholders' equity and results of subsidiaries and ITAÚSA. 

a) Summary   
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Description   Cost  

Adjustment to market value  
with impact on Market value Per maturity Market value

Results Stockholders’ 
 equity 12/31/2009 0 – 30 31 – 90 91 – 180 181 – 365 366 – 720 Over  

720 days 12/31/2008

Trading securities (1)  72,523,528  324,993  -    72,848,521  46,510,438  629,530  1,469,518  4,910,572  5,485,627  13,842,836  73,154,305 

Available-for-sale securities  39,275,857  -    415,855  39,691,712  6,806,030  2,328,445  4,507,050  5,590,353  7,594,924  12,864,910  44,425,247 

Held-to-maturity securities (2)  2,429,849  -    -    2,429,849  4,703  10,592  729  25,247  286,732  2,101,846  4,372,168 

Derivative financial instruments  5,705,611  234,334  -    5,939,945  1,387,384  597,196  1,027,297  834,800  1,122,318  970,950  17,610,479 

Total securities and derivative financial instruments (assets)  119,934,845  559,327  415,855  120,910,027  54,708,555  3,565,763  7,004,594  11,360,972  14,489,601  29,780,542  139,562,199 

Adjustments of securities reclassified in prior years to the held-to-maturity category  15,777 

Accounting adjustment – Hedge – Circular No. 3,082  (145,183)

Deferred taxes  (107,069)

Minority interests in subsidiaries  (119,885)

Adjustment of securities of unconsolidated affiliates  (21,224)

Amount separately disclosed in the stockholders’ equity of ITAÚSA  38,271 

Total derivative financial instruments (liabilities)  (5,345,653)  (206,689)  (6,910)  (5,559,252)  (1,100,689)  (447,247)  (967,595)  (888,366)  (1,252,017)  (903,338)  (14,836,696)

 (1)  Includes the portfolio of PGBL and VGBL plan securities in the amount of R$38,626,466 (R$30,023,746 at 12/31/2008). The ownership and embedded risks  
of which belong to clients and recorded as marketable securities in compliance with SUSEP requirements. with contra-entry to liabilities in Technical Provision for Pension Plans.

(2)  Securities classified under this category, if stated at market value, would present a positive adjustment of R$362,421 (positive adjustment of R$521,799 at 12/31/2008).    
       

The derivative transactions carried out by ITAÚSA and its 
subsidiaries with clients are neutralized in order to eliminate 
market risks.

Most derivative contracts traded by the institution with clients 
in Brazil are swap, forward, option and futures contracts, which 
are registered at the BM&FBovespa or at the CETIP S.A. – OTC 
Clearinghouse. Overseas transactions are carried out with 
futures, forwards, options and swaps with registration mainly 
in the Chicago, New York and London Exchanges. It should be 
emphasized that there are over-the-counter operations, but their 
risks are low as compared to the institutions' total. Noteworthy 
is also the fact that there are no structured operations based 
on subprime assets and all operations are based on risk factors 
traded at stock exchanges.

The main risk factors of the derivatives, assumed at December 
31, 2009, were related to the foreign exchange rate, interest rate, 
commodities, US dollar coupon, Reference Rate coupon, Libor 
and variable income. The management of these and other market 
risk factors is supported by the infrastructure of sophisticated 
statistical and deterministic models. Based on this management 
model, the institution, with the use of transactions involving 
derivatives, has been able to optimize the risk-return ratios, even 
under highly volatile situations.

Most derivatives included in the institution's portfolio are traded 
at stock exchanges. The prices disclosed by stock exchanges 
are used for these derivatives, except in cases in which the low 
representativeness of price due to illiquidity of a specific contract 
is identified. Derivatives typically precified like this are futures 
contracts. Likewise, there are other instruments whose quotations 
(fair prices) are directly disclosed by independent institutions and 
which are precified based on this direct information. A great part 
of the Brazilian government securities, highly-liquid international 
(public and private) securities and shares fit into this situation.

For derivatives whose prices are not directly disclosed by stock 
exchanges, fair prices are obtained by pricing models which 
use market information, deducted based on prices disclosed for 
higher liquidity assets. Interest and market volatility curves which 
provide entry data for the models are extracted from those prices. 
Over-the-counter derivatives, forward contracts and securities 
without much liquidity are in this situation.

 The total value of margins pledged in guarantee was R$12,251,867 
and was basically composed of government securities.
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Memorandum account
Notional amount

Balance sheet account 
receivable/(received) 

(payable)/paid

Adjustment  
to market value  

(in results)
Market value

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2009 12/31/2009 12/31/2008
Futures contracts   216,785,646  226,856,837  (2,963)  (21,618)  (24,581)  376,887 

Purchase commitments  94,209,552  126,234,217  (1,345)  31,365  30,020  (468,494)
 Foreign currency   3,159,877  21,509,612  (88)  22,458  22,370  (185,211)
 Interbank market   78,537,478  81,775,735  862  18,244  19,106  (194,175)
 Indices   10,314,025  22,595,130  (2,115)  2,168  53  (56,962)
 Securities   2,131,590  293,835  -    -    -    464 
 Other   66,582  59,905  (4)  (11,505)  (11,509)  (32,610)

Commitments to sell  122,576,094  100,622,620  (1,618)  (52,983)  (54,601)  845,381 
 Foreign currency   18,938,634  23,172,875  (1,471)  (24,511)  (25,982)  387,182 
 Interbank market   82,302,360  53,465,605  3,823  (20,883)  (17,060)  (63,233)
 Indices   11,843,060  23,411,630  (3,345)  (3,544)  (6,889)  492,678 
 Securities   3,144,224  472,682  -    -    -    (2,280)
 Other   6,347,816  99,828  (625)  (4,045)  (4,670)  31,034 

Swap contracts  318,865  64,076  382,941  207,052 
Asset position  69,566,469  81,114,559  2,128,236  451,610  2,579,846  3,538,994 

Foreign currency   7,340,546  15,339,110  46,676  56,069  102,745  1,720,078 
Interbank market   31,371,085  42,124,543  1,398,323  20,151  1,418,474  892,434 
Fixed rate   11,014,002  8,681,596  259,387  106,109  365,496  287,878 
Floating rate   6,775,302  2,891,531  (1,587)  6,466  4,879  87,416 
Indices   12,964,373  11,905,694  416,210  263,617  679,827  536,521 
Securities   11,424  59,827  4,689  (1,266)  3,423  14,667 
Other   89,737  112,258  4,538  464  5,002  -   

Liability position  69,247,604  80,736,568  (1,809,371)  (387,534)  (2,196,905)  (3,331,942)
Foreign currency   11,321,897  22,734,421  (285,398)  (8,575)  (293,973)  (1,788,735)
Interbank market   20,161,803  22,958,682  (877,600)  73,101  (804,499)  (166,151)
Fixed rate   15,694,540  16,427,618  (210,968)  (184,040)  (395,008)  (554,281)
Floating rate   6,473,284  3,167,525  (8,842)  230  (8,612)  (310,763)
Indices   15,433,009  15,352,622  (413,808)  (267,210)  (681,018)  (512,010)
Securities   -    2,325  -    -    -    -   
Other   163,071  93,375  (12,755)  (1,040)  (13,795)  (2)

Option contracts 1,728,321,064  510,914,326  295,833  (73,651)  222,182  (1,607,480)
Purchase commitments – long position  489,887,901  161,715,960  1,412,775  (461,484)  951,291  5,635,467 

Foreign currency   67,850,131  44,631,604  596,012  (417,682)  178,330  4,896,104 
Interbank market   330,853,884  2,345,461  483,728  (93,972)  389,756  29,406 
Floating rate   32,630  -    114  (5)  109  -   
Indices   90,111,099  114,363,925  264,082  49,953  314,035  663,549 
Securities   801,368  257,604  52,297  (6,191)  46,106  43,419 
Other   238,789  117,366  16,542  6,413  22,955  2,989 

Commitments to sell – long position  442,925,583  81,214,583  1,009,356  250,268  1,259,624  1,092,334 
Foreign currency   12,720,715  18,630,831  319,384  29,857  349,241  117,934 
Interbank market   388,003,567  333,093  184,914  (10,554)  174,360  200,286 
Indices   41,058,922  61,099,820  98,194  228,826  327,020  396,674 
Securities   1,010,199  934,486  394,452  (845)  393,607  343,921 
Other   132,180  216,353  12,412  2,984  15,396  33,519 

Purchase commitments – short position  379,223,997  149,665,229  (1,429,093)  415,753  (1,013,340)  (5,450,965)
Foreign currency   48,514,497  42,635,346  (618,947)  414,458  (204,489)  (4,805,902)
Interbank market   246,600,279  2,547,823  (448,233)  71,383  (376,850)  (37,528)
Indices   83,354,644  104,287,844  (331,515)  (80,162)  (411,677)  (591,198)
Securities   616,204  126,733  (17,269)  4,303  (12,966)  (15,353)
Other   138,373  67,483  (13,129)  5,771  (7,358)  (984)

Commitments to sell – short position  416,283,583  118,318,554  (697,205)  (278,188)  (975,393)  (2,884,316)
Foreign currency   16,264,304  39,372,629  (316,197)  (143,503)  (459,700)  (2,195,382)
Interbank market   317,680,840  274,610  (181,799)  16,411  (165,388)  (261,608)
Fixed rate   -    -    (20,585)  10,293  (10,292)  (9,037)
Indices   82,088,915  78,506,990  (158,663)  (174,681)  (333,344)  (353,654)
Securities   146,845  134,079  (5,369)  2,567  (2,802)  (47,964)
Other   102,679  30,246  (14,592)  10,725  (3,867)  (16,671)

Forward contracts  68,398  1,301,491  1,020  (97)  923  824,267 
Purchases receivable  49,221  496,476  48,682  (115)  48,567  311,971 

Foreign currency   -    260,156  571  (148)  423  78,146 
Floating rate   48,131  -    48,115  (17)  48,098  -   
Other   1,090  236,320  (4)  50  46  233,825 

Purchases payable  -  4,315  (48,115)  17  (48,098)  (234,216)
Foreign currency   -    2,525  -    -    -    (28)
Floating rate   -    -    (48,115)  17  (48,098)  -   
Other   -    1,790  -    -    -    (234,188)

Sales receivable  19,177  788,182  19,188  (16)  19,172  763,534 
Foreign currency   -    3,287  -    -    -    41 
Fixed rate   -    9,995  -    -    -    205 
Floating rate   18,718  -    18,735  (17)  18,718  -   
Other   459  774,900  453  1  454  763,288 

Sales deliverable  -  12,518  (18,735)  17  (18,718)  (17,022)
Fixed rate   -    12,518  -    -    -    (2,120)
Floating rate   -    -    (18,735)  17  (18,718)  -   
Other   -    -    -    -    -    (14,902)

I –  See below the composition of the Derivative Financial Instruments portfolio (assets and liabilities) by type of instrument and 
reference ratio, stated at notional amount, cost and market value:
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Memorandum account
Notional amount

Balance sheet account 
receivable/(received) 

(payable)/paid

Adjustment  
to market value  

(in results)
Market value

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2009 12/31/2009 12/31/2008
Credit derivatives 4,532,206 9,529,432  (78,375)  (12,913)  (91,288)  (210,224)

Asset position 1,786,428 7,276,052  19,386  (4,301)  15,085  63,891 
Foreign currency   137,164  102,638  1,177  170  1,347  3,083 
Fixed rate  1,615,263 7,173,414  18,160  (5,976)  12,184  60,808 
Indices   1,742  -    -    -    -    -   
Securities   10,156  -    16  556  572  -   
Other   22,103  -    33  949  982  -   

Liability position 2,745,778 2,253,380  (97,761)  (8,612)  (106,373)  (274,115)
Foreign currency   -    299,256  (1,205)  (334)  (1,539)  (22,225)
Interbank market   50,000  -    (40)  (32)  (72)  -   
Fixed rate  2,695,778 1,954,124  (96,380)  (6,895)  (103,275)  (251,890)
Securities   -    -    (11)  (532)  (543)  -   
Other   -    -    (125)  (819)  (944)  -   

Forwards operations  13,722,347  41,311,558  (94,220)  (289)  (94,509) 2,161,517 
Asset position  6,607,852  25,392,410  313,045  (58)  312,987 3,573,164 

Foreign currency   5,583,987  23,732,902  279,056  -    279,056 3,533,324 
Fixed rate   212,974  820,758  19,638  (58)  19,580  26,875 
Floating rate   531,937  830,804  3,936  -    3,936  8,938 
Indices   26,118  -    472  -    472  -   
Other   252,836  7,946  9,943  -    9,943  4,027 

Liability position  7,114,495  15,919,148  (407,265)  (231)  (407,496)  (1,411,647)
Foreign currency   6,658,999  14,713,992  (392,911)  (231)  (393,142)  (1,266,009)
Interbank market   1,598  2,138  (142)  -    (142)  (184)
Fixed rate   94,340  529,103  (10,406)  -    (10,406)  (129,101)
Floating rate   348,240  467,400  (2,766)  -    (2,766)  (3,773)
Indices   11,318  115,295  (1,040)  -    (1,040)  (2,417)
Other   -    91,220  -    -    -    (10,163)

Swap with target flow  1,935,809  5,897,022  16,415  (57,493)  (41,078)  (227,603)
Asset position  976,112  2,838,111  79,619  (31,105)  48,514  60,861 

Foreign currency   505,870  1,603,317  31,041  (30,095)  946  60,241 
Interbank market   398,547  916,785  48,578  (1,010)  47,568  620 
Fixed rate   71,695  282,517  -    -    -    -   
Floating rate   -    19,205  -    -    -    -   
Indices   -    3,158  -    -    -    -   
Other   -   13,129  -    -    -    -   

Liability position  959,697  3,058,911  (63,204)  (26,388)  (89,592)  (288,464)
Foreign currency   641,399  2,178,505  (41,236)  (16,548)  (57,784)  (260,495)
Interbank market   291,862  728,461  (21,338)  (10,123)  (31,461)  (24,769)
Fixed rate   26,436  102,800  (630)  283  (347)  (3,007)
Floating rate   -    19,235  -    -    -    (193)
Indices   -    28,749  -    -    -    -   
Other   -    1,161  -    -    -    -   

Target flow of swap  3,159,676  12,115,104  (102,499)  148,297  45,798  1,567,980 
Asset position  2,450,975  10,088,150  121,645  64,059  185,704  2,025,268 

Foreign currency   2,447,446  9,578,859  121,645  64,059  185,704  1,890,350 
Interbank market   -    217,747  -    -    -    13,373 
Fixed rate   -    44,605  -    -    -    21,561 
Indices   3,529  40,800  -    -    -    2,121 
Other   -    206,139  -    -    -    97,863 

Liability position  708,701  2,026,954  (224,144)  84,238  (139,906)  (457,288)
Foreign currency   708,701  1,874,943  (224,144)  84,238  (139,906)  (359,915)
Other   -    152,011  -    -    -    (97,373)

Other derivative financial instruments  11,936,233  3,155,282  5,882  (25,577)  (19,695)  (318,613)
Asset position  7,549,134  2,064,290  553,679  (34,524)  519,155  168,108 

Foreign currency   3,234,101  925,486  423,871  317  424,188  135,153 
Interbank market   2,269,818  630,069  -    418  418  1,514 
Other   2,045,215  508,735  129,808  (35,259)  94,549  31,441 

Liability position  4,387,099  1,090,992  (547,797)  8,947  (538,850)  (486,721)
Foreign currency   4,286,612  818,444  (507,917)  8,970  (498,947)  (216,910)
Interbank market   -    -    -    -    -    (698)
Fixed rate   29,651  -    (31,372)  -    (31,372)  -   
Other   70,836  272,548  (8,508)  (23)  (8,531)  (269,113)

ASSETS  5,705,611  234,334  5,939,945  17,610,479 
LIABILITIES  (5,345,653)  (213,599)  (5,559,252)  (14,836,696)

 TOTAL  359,958  20,735  380,693  2,773,783 
Derivative contracts mature as follows (in days):

Clearing 0 – 30 31 – 180 181 – 365 Over 365 12/31/2009 12/31/2008
Futures  62,714,358  52,906,048  30,268,675  70,896,565  216,785,646  226,856,837 
Swaps  19,166,106  14,941,904  11,401,443  21,928,780  67,438,233  77,999,698 

Options  539,139,012  266,126,475  573,715,002  349,340,575  1,728,321,064  510,914,326 
Forwards  67,117  1,281  -    -    68,398  1,301,491 

Credit derivatives  468,652  1,259,316  663,491  2,140,747  4,532,206  9,529,432 
Forwards  5,335,583  5,630,675  1,654,202  1,101,887  13,722,347  41,311,558 

Swaps with target flow  446,374  18,632  -    431,487  896,493  2,706,666 
Target flow of swap  369,208  150,661  67,995  2,571,812  3,159,676  12,115,104 

Other  3,790,922  4,066,698  1,689,252  2,389,361  11,936,233  3,155,282 

At December 31, 2009, ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING S.A. had derivative operations in the swap with target flow and target forward with 11 clients, without total 
exposure for these products at an exchange rate of R$1.7412 per dollar, for settlement at maturity. Of these clients, 9 have AA, A or B risk rating. 
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II –  See below the composition of the derivative financial instruments portfolio by type of instrument, stated at their notional amounts, 
per trading location (organized or over-the-counter market) and counterparties:

12/31/2009

Futures Swaps Options Forwards Credit  
derivatives Forward Swap with 

target flow
Target flow 

of swap Other

BM&FBovespa  207,017,305  11,838,204  1,706,203,785  459  -    -    -    -    2,269,818 

Over-the-counter market  9,768,341 55,600,029  22,117,279  67,939  4,532,206  13,722,347  896,493  3,159,676  9,666,415 

Financial institutions  9,329,093 33,970,073  18,613,864  37,436  4,528,724  8,634,227  209,333  215,768  2,235,713 

Companies  439,248 20,922,722  3,503,415  29,413  3,482  5,074,606  687,160  2,943,908  7,400,973 

Individuals  -    707,234  -    1,090  -    13,514  -    -    29,729 

Total  216,785,646 67,438,233  1,728,321,064  68,398  4,532,206 13,722,347  896,493  3,159,676  1,936,233 

Total 12/31/2008  226,856,837 77,999,698  510,914,326  1,301,491  9,529,432 41,311,558  2,706,666  12,115,104  3,155,282 

III – Credit derivatives          

Credit risk amount

 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Transferred (1,617,006) (3,920,040)

Credit swaps whose underlying assets are:

Securities  (1,615,264)  (3,920,040)

Total return rate swaps whose underlying assets are:

Securities  (1,742)  -   

Received 2,915,200 3,561,209

Credit swaps whose underlying assets are:

Securities  2,915,200  3,561,209 

Total 1,298,194 (358,831)

During the period, there was no occurrence of credit event related to those set forth in agreements.

lV – Accounting hedge 

a)   The purpose of the hedge relationship of the subsidiary Itaú 
Unibanco Holding is to protect the cash flow of payment of 
debt interest (CDB/Redeemable preferred shares) related to 
its variable interest rate risk (CDI/LIBOR), making the cash flow 
constant (fixed rate) and regardless of the variations of DI Cetip 
Over and LIBOR.

      To protect the future cash flows of debt against exposure to 
variable interest rate (CDI), at December 31, 2009 the subsidiary 
Itaú Unibanco Holding negotiated DI Futures agreements 
at BM&FBOVESPA with maturity between 2010 and 2017 in 
the amount of R$19,316,416 (R$27,141,738 at 12/31/2008). 
To protect the future cash flows of debt against exposure 
to variable interest rate (LIBOR), at December 31, 2009 the 
subsidiary Itaú Unibanco Holding negotiated swap contracts 
with maturity in 2015 in the amount of R$684,417. These 
derivative financial instruments gave rise to adjustment to 
market value net of tax effects recorded in stockholders' equity 
of (R$77,644) (R$(201,199) at 12/31/2008), of which (R$80,971) 
(R$(201,199) at 12/31/2008) refers to CDB and R$3,327 refers 
to Redeemable preferred shares.  The hedged items total 

R$18,894,583 (R$26,353,206 at 12/31/2008) of CDB with 
maturities between 2010 and 2017 and R$684,417 of swaps of 
redeemable preferred shares with maturity in 2015.

      The gains or losses related to the accounting hedge of cash 
flows that we expect to recognize in Results in the next 12 
months amount to R$(181,997).

      The effectiveness computed for hedge portfolio was in 
conformity with the provisions of BACEN Circular No. 3,082 of 
January 30, 2002.

b) The swap operations contracted in a negotiation associated    
      with the funding and/or investment in the amount of 

R$402,047 (R$1,152,584 at 12/31/2008) are recorded at 
amounts restated in accordance with variations occurred in 
respective ratios (“curve”) and are not valued at their market 
value, as permitted by BACEN Circular No. 3,150/02.  
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c) Sensitivity analysis   

The risks arising from the financial instruments of ITAÚSA 
CONSOLIDATED are mostly related to the operations of its 
subsidiary ITAÚ UNIBANCO – Financial Services Area, which, 
according to the criteria for classification of operations provided 
for BACEN Resolution No. 3,464/07 and Circular No. 3,354/07, and 
the New Capital Accord – Basel II, are separated in Trading and 
Banking portfolios. The exposures arising from the subsidiaries of 
the industrial area are shown separately and consolidated, given 
its lower relevance and for better presentation of values.  
  

Exposures 12/30/2009(*)

Risk factors Risk of variation in:
Scenarios

I II III

Fixed rate Fixed rate in reais  (3,969)  (1,619,699) (3,112,367)

Foreign exchange coupons Rates of foreign exchange coupon  1,566  (11,886)  (46,792)

Foreign currency Exchange variation  (158)  (3,953)  (7,906)

Price indices Rates of price indices coupons  (10)  (2,210)  (1,245)

Long-term interest rate Rate of TJLP coupon  (2)  (27,843)  (55,688)

Reference rate Rate of TR coupon  4,367  (107,335)  (117,106)

Variable income Share price  15,233  (222,205)  (444,410)

Total without correlation – Financial services area (1,995,131) (3,785,513)

Total with correlation – Financial services area (1,298,995) (2,464,682)

Total without correlation – Industrial area(**)  (11,786)  (23,293)

 (*) Amounts net of tax effects.    
 (**) Includes exposures in foreign currency, interest rates and prices.    

The sensitivity analysis shown below does not predict the 
dynamics of the operation of the risk and treasury areas, because 
once loss related to positions is found, risk mitigating measures 
are quickly taken, minimizing the possibility of significant losses. 
In addition, we point out that the presented results do not 
necessarily translate into accounting results, because the study's 
sole purpose is to disclose the exposure to risks and the respective 
protective actions, taking into account the fair value of financial 
instruments, irrespective of the accounting practices adopted by 
the institutions.      
 

The considerable impact on the fixed-income factor is related to the market risks of fixed-rate financing of the banking portfolio, which 
are not recognized as marked to market and, therefore, are not necessarily fully subject to hedge.    

Scenario I: For exposures of the Financial Services Area, addition of 1 base point to the fixed-rate curve, currency coupon, inflation and 
interest rate indices, and 1 percentage point in currency and share prices, which is based on market information  
 (BM&FBOVESPA, Andima, etc). For exposures of the Industrial area, market rates and quotations were used, with immaterial effect. 

Scenario II: Shocks at approximately 25% in the portfolio of December 31, 2009, considering the largest resulting losses per risk factor; 

Scenario III: Shocks at approximately 50% in the portfolio of December 31, 2009, considering the largest resulting losses per risk factor; 

All derivative financial instruments engaged by ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED are shown in Note 7b.    
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NOTE 8 –  LOAN, LEASE AND OTHER CREDIT OPERATIONS – 
FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA

a) Summary

I – By type of operations

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Loan operations  164,683,952  158,773,336 

Lease operations  47,211,573  50,097,755 

Credit card operations  30,101,078  24,558,078 

Advance on exchange contracts (1)  3,539,643  6,924,500 

Other sundry receivables (2)  414,708  636,603 

Total  245,950,954  240,990,272 

Endorsements and sureties (3)  32,431,339  30,895,002 

 Total with endorsements and sureties  278,382,293  271,885,274 

(1)  Includes Advances on Exchange Contracts and Income from Advances Granted, reclassified from Other Liabilities – Foreign Exchange Portfolio/Other Receivables   
(Note 10);     

(2) Includes Securities and Receivables, Debtors for Purchase of Assets and Endorsements and Sureties paid;    
(3) Recorded in memorandum accounts.     

II – By business sector    

12/31/2009 % 12/31/2008 %

Public sector  1.652.429 0.7%  1.801.908 0.7%

Private sector  244,298,525 99.3%  239,188,364 99.3%

Companies  131,449,159 53.4%  136,598,500 56.7%

Individuals  112,849,366 45.8%  102,589,864 42.6%

 Total  245,950,954 100.0%  240.990.272 100.0%

b) Changes in allowance for loan losses  

01/01 to                                                                                                                                 
12/31/2009

01/01 to                                                                                                                                 
12/31/2008

Opening Balance  (19,972,155)  (7,925,660)

Balance arising from ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger on 09/30/2008 and other  (170,804)  (4,394,655)

Net increase for the period:  (16,398,955)  (14,279,713)

Minimum required by Resolution No. 2,682/99  (18,085,955)  (9,615,713)

Additional  1,687,000  (4,664,000)

Write-Off  12,490,041  6,627,873 

Closing balance  (24,051,873)  (19,972,155)

Specific allowance (1) (3)  (12,955,502)  (7,853,150)

Generic allowance (2) (3)  (4,992,371)  (4,328,005)

Additional allowance (4)  (6,104,000)  (7,791,000)

(1) Operations with overdue installments for more than 14 days or under responsibility of bankruptcy or in process of bankruptcy companies;   
(2) For operations not covered in the previous item due to the classification of the client or operation;    
(3)  The specific and generic allowances reflect the effects of the supplementary allowance totaling R$403,304 (R$443,634 at 12/31/2008) as it does not consider the option 

established by article 5 of the CMN Resolution No, 2,682 of 12/21/1999, amended by article 2 of CMN Resolution No, 2,697 of 02/24/2000, that the loan transactions with 
clients whose total liability is below R$50 could be determined based on the overdue amounts;    

(4)  Refers to the provision in excess of the minimum required by CMN Resolution No,2,682, of December 21, 1999, recognized within the prudential criteria adopted by 
management in accordance with good banking practice, in order to enable the absorption of possible increases in default arising from a strong reversal of the economic 
cycle, quantified based on historic performance of loan portfolios in economic crises situations,    

       Starting December 31, 2008, considering the economic scenario and the uncertainties related to it, the criteria for recognition of the additional allowance for loan losses 
have been revised, including the portion related to risks associated to a more pessimistic scenario, Over 2009, the effects of the crisis were partially consummated, giving rise 
to an increase in the regulatory allowance and decrease of the additional allowance for loan losses regarding the portfolio,    

At December 31, 2009, the balance of the allowance in relation to the loan portfolio is equivalent to 9.8% (8.3% at 12/31/2008). 
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c)  Recovery and renegotiation of credits  

I – Composition of the result of allowance for loan losses 

01/01 to                                                                                                                                 
12/31/2009

01/01 to                                                                                                                                 
12/31/2008

Expenses for allowance for loan losses  (16,398,955)  (14,279,713)

Income from recovery of credits written off as loss  2,233,648  1,334,108 

Result of allowance for loan losses (*)  (14,165,307)  (12,945,605)

 (*) Registered in Operating Expenses – Equity

II – Renegotiated credits  

 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Renegotiated credits  7,669,438  5,141,604 

Allowance for loan losses  (4,017,131)  (2,498,465)

(%)  52.4  48.6 

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Products  758,242  746,763 

Raw material  333,538  369,035 

Work in process  68,274  58,297 

Finished products  275,243  263,863 

Storeroom  81,981  55,568 
 (Provision for losses) (*)  (794)  -   

Real estate  276  11,256 

Total  758,518  758,019 

(*)  In view of the worsened economic scenario triggered by the global crisis, with strong devaluation of certain products traded by the affiliate Elekeiroz S,A,, an appraisal of 
inventories of finished products and raw materials was carried out, considering their expected realizable values, resulting in the need for recognizing a provision for losses 
in certain items.

NOTE 9 – INVENTORIES – INDUSTRIAL AREA

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

ASSETS – OTHER RECEIVABLES  27,239,246  51,828,678 

Exchange purchase pending settlements – foreign currency  15,711,081  32,807,238 

Bills of exchange and term documents – foreign currency  115  110 

Exchange sales rights – local currency  11,761,324  19,427,799 

(Advances received – local currency)  (233,274)  (406,469)

LIABILITIES – OTHER LIABILITIES (Note 2)  27,682,317  50,761,162 

Exchange sales pending settlement – foreign currency  12,259,138  30,493,898 

Liabilities from purchase of foreign currency – local currency  15,419,428  20,261,880 

Other  3,751  5,384 

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS  480,862  512,633 

Outstanding import credits – foreign currency  404,390  474,699 

Confirmed export credits – foreign currency  76,472  37,934 

NOTE 10 – FOREIGN EXCHANGE PORTFOLIO – FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA
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12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Foreign currency  17,747,133  31,286,718 

Funds from acceptances and issuance of securities  5,703,223  6,993,213 

Borrowings and onlending (1)  12,043,910  24,293,505 

Local currency  224,832,153  236,768,273 

Deposits  190,567,496  205,822,929 

Funds from acceptances and issuance of securities  11,616,397  12,602,432 

Borrowings and onlending  22,648,260  18,342,912 

Securitization of foreign payment orders (2)  -    3,828,733 

Deposits received under securities repurchase agreements  131,639,823  124,294,494 

Own portfolio  75,160,211  60,740,114 

Third-party portfolio  51,625,673  62,464,171 

Free movement  4,853,939  1,090,209 

Subordinated debt  22,038,216  22,425,823 

CDB  20,160,280  19,480,756 

Euronotes  876,892  1,193,787 

Eurobonds  883,644  1,641,582 

Bonds  135,952  148,491 

 (-) Transaction costs incurred (Note 4b)  (18,552)  (38,793)

Redeemable preferred shares (3)  687,711  930,575 

Total  396,945,036  419,534,616 

(1) Foreign borrowings are basically represented by investments in foreign exchange transactions related to export pre-financing and import financing;  
(2)  Funding obtained abroad through the sale to the Brazilian Diversified Payment Rights Finance Company of rights related to the payment orders receivable abroad,  

accounted for in Other Liabilities;  
(3) Redeemable preferred shares are classified in the balance sheet in Minority Interest. 

NOTE 11  –  FUNDING RAISED BY SUBSIDIARIES AND BORROWINGS AND ONLENDING –  
FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA

NOTE 12 – INSURANCE, PENSION PLAN AND CAPITALIZATION OPERATIONS – FINANCIAL SERVICES AREA

a) Composition of the technical provisions

INSURANCE LIFE AND 
PENSION PLAN CAPITALIZATION TOTAL

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Mathematical provision of benefits to 
be granted and benefits granted  34,607  34,866  42,459,409  33,678,031  -  -  42,494,016  33,712,897 

Unearned premiums  2,804,929  2,713,701  367,180  324,376  -  -  3,172,109  3,038,077 

Mathematical provision for redemptions  -  -  -  -  2,197,332  2,031,907  2,197,332  2,031,907 

Raffle contingency  -  -  -  -  34,057  41,294  34,057  41,294 

Unsettled claims  2,120,159  2,256,495  127,388  90,922  -  -  2,247,547  2,347,417 

Financial surplus  2,122  2,042  468,529  374,296  -  -  470,651  376,338 

IBNR  609,538  618,481  67,885  50,038  -  -  677,423  668,519 

Financial variation  561  528  109,616  112,876  -  -  110,177   113,404 

Premium deficiency  170,688  125,040  74,665  70,851  -  -  245,353  195,891 

Insufficient contribution  117  -  504,691  370,488  -  -  504,808  370,488 

Other  67,900  65,588  153,028  194,894  29,347  25,371  250,275  285,853 

TOTAL  5,810,621  5,816,741  44,332,391  35,266,772  2,260,736  2,098,572  52,403,748  43,182,085 
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b) Assets guaranteeing technical provisions - SUSEP

INSURANCE LIFE AND 
PENSION PLAN CAPITALIZATION TOTAL

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Interbank investments – money market  1,197,759  565,181  1,099,147  839,396  737,447  761,002  3,034,353  2,165,579 

Securities and derivative financial  
instruments

 2,494,534  2,697,767  42,937,707  33,894,248  1,562,717  1,377,653  46,994,958  37,969,668 

PGBL/VGBL fund quotas (1)  -    -    38,626,466  30,023,746  -    -    38,626,466  30,023,746 

Other   2,494,534   2,697,767   4,311,241   3,870,502   1,562,717   1,377,653   8,368,492   7,945,922 

Government  1,739,608  1,711,911  3,340,164  2,827,666  68,381  743,440  5,148,153  5,283,017 

Private  754,926  985,856  971,077  1,042,836  1,494,336  634,213  3,220,339  2,662,905 

Receivables from insurance and  
reinsurance operations (2)  2,091,237  2,221,394  302,884  277,991  -    -    2,394,121  2,499,385 

Credit rights  665,717  612,853  302,884  277,991  -    -    968,601  890,844 

Reinsurance  1,425,520  1,608,541  -    -    -    -    1,425,520  1,608,541 

Escrow deposits for loss  110,172  34,610  8,809  92,568  -    -    118,981  127,178 

TOTAL  5,893,702  5,518,952  44,348,547  35,104,203  2,300,164  2,138,655  52,542,413  42,761,810 

(1)  The PGBL and VGBL plans securities portfolios, the ownership and embedded risks of which are the customers’ responsibility, is recorded as securities, as determined by 
SUSEP, with a contra-entry to liabilities in the account Technical Provision for Pension Plans.       

(2) Recorded under Other receivables and Other assets.         

c) Results of operations

INSURANCE LIFE AND 
PENSION PLAN CAPITALIZATION TOTAL

01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

Income from financial operations  270,961  201,530  249,598  219,462  62,680  58,967  583,239  479,959 

Financial income from insurance, pension 
plan and capitalization operations  346,983  239,549  4,034,249  1,924,709  194,551  157,118  4,575,783  2,321,376 

Financial expenses from insurance, 
pension plan and capitalization 
operations

 (76,022)  (38,019)  (3,784,651)  (1,705,247)  (131,871)  (98,151)  (3,992,544)  (1,841,417)

Results of operations from insurance, 
pension plan and capitalization  1,451,364  621,576  468,740  304,828  511,590  380,755  2,431,694  1,307,159 

Adjustments to ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger  -    (136,621)  -    (155,316)  -    -    -    (291,937)

Recurring results from operation  1,451,364  758,197  468,740  460,144  511,590  380,755  2,431,694  1,599,096 

Premiums and contributions  5,849,289  3,378,169  9,216,342  6,934,549  1,808,249  1,352,494  16,873,880  11,665,212 

Changes in technical provisions  108,631  (181,322)  (8,404,640)  (6,239,142)  (1,217,129)  (715,222)  (9,513,138)  (7,135,686)

Expenses for claims  (2,966,624)  (1,781,787)  (238,311)  (190,128)  -    -    (3,204,935)  (1,971,915)

Selling expenses  (1,266,840)  (640,097)  (45,458)  (33,781)  (42,281)  (6,660)  (1,354,579)  (680,538)

Expenses for benefits and raffles  -    -    (45,644)  (10,135)  (37,980)  (255,612)  (83,624)  (265,747)

Other revenues and expenses  (273,092)  (16,766)  (13,549)  (1,219)  731  5,755  (285,910)  (12,230)

TOTAL  1,722,325  823,106  718,338  524,290  574,270  439,722  3,014,933  1,787,118 

NOTE 13 – CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
AND LEGAL LIABILITIES – TAX AND SOCIAL SECURITY

ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries are involved in contingencies in 
the ordinary course of their businesses, as follows:

a)  Contingent Assets: there are no contingent assets recorded.

b)  Contingent Liabilities: these are calculated and classified 
as follows:

- Calculation criteria:
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Change in provision for  
contingent liabilities

 01/01 to  
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

 Civil  Labor  Tax and  
social security    Other  Total  Total 

Opening Balance 2,137,508  2,901,010  2,594,816  251,235  7,884,569  3,816,076 
Balance arising from ITAÚ UNIBANCO  
merger on 09/30/2008 and other  -    -    13,673  -    13,673  2,119,216 

 (-) Contingencies guaranteed by indemnity 
clause (Note 4o I)  (125,528)  (551,139)  (15,784)  -    (692,451)  (656,291)

Restatement/Charges  61,503  173,694  159,168  -    394,365  441,640 

Subtotal 2,073,483  2,523,565  2,751,873  251,235  7,600,156  5,720,641 

Changes in the period reflected in results 
(Notes 14f ) 1,164,724  616,186  537,001  6,436  2,324,347  2,484,749 

Increase (1) (2) 1,440,146  732,870  554,859  6,436  2,734,311  2,786,603 

Reversal  (275,422)  (116,684)  (17,858)  -    (409,964)  (301,854)

Payment  (913,804)  (496,443)  (1,763,866)  -    (3,174,113)  (1,013,272)

Subtotal 2,324,403  2,643,308  1,525,008  257,671  6,750,390  7,192,118 
 (+) Contingencies guaranteed by indemnity 
clause (Note 4o I)  98,628  573,261  35,331  -    707,220  692,451 

Closing balance (Note 14d) 2,423,031  3,216,569  1,560,339  257,671  7,457,610  7,884,569 

Escrow deposits at 12/31/2009 (Note 14a) 1,064,805  1,457,553  832,779  -    3,355,137 

Escrow deposits at 12/31/2008 (Note 14a)  831,241  1,280,003  939,814  -    3,051,058 

(1) Civil provisions include the provision for economic plans amounting to R$289,600 (R$263,722 from January 1st to December 31, 2008) (Note21d)
 (2) Tax and Social Security provisions comprise basically the effects arising from the adhesion to the program of Payment or Installment Payment of Federal Taxes (Note 13d).

Civil lawsuits: quantified upon judicial notification, and 
adjusted monthly:

•  Collective (lawsuits related to claims considered similar 
and usual and the amounts of which are not considered 
significant): according to the statistical references per group 
of lawsuits, type of legal body (Small Claims Court or Regular 
Court) and claimant; or

• Individual (lawsuits related to claims considered unusual 
and the amounts of which are considered significant): at the 
claimed indemnity amount, based on the evidence presented 
and on the evaluation of legal advisors – which considers 
case law, legal opinions raised, evidence produced in the 
records and the judicial decisions to be  issued – relating to 
the risk level of loss of lawsuits.

These are adjusted to the amounts deposited as guarantee 
for their execution or to the definitive execution amount 
(indisputable amount) when the claim is awarded a final and 
unappealable judgment.

Labor claims: these are calculated upon judicial notification 
and adjusted monthly by the moving average of payment of 
lawsuits closed in the last 12 months plus the average cost of 
fees paid for lawsuits related to claims considered similar and 
usual and adjusted to the amounts deposited in guarantee to 
the execution amount (indisputable amount) when it is in the 
stage of being a final and unappealable decision, or based on 
the individual analysis of the potential amount of probable 
loss for lawsuits with significant amounts.

Tax and social security lawsuits: calculated upon judicial 
notification of administrative proceedings, based on their 
monthly adjusted amounts.

Other Risks: calculated mainly based on the assessment of 
credit risk on joint obligations.

Contingencies classified as probable: are recognized in the 
accounting books and comprise:

•  Civil lawsuits: demanding compensation for property damage 
and pain and suffering, such as protest of bills, return of 
checks, and inclusion of information in the credit protection 
registry, most of these actions being filed in the Small Claims 
Court and therefore limited to 40 minimum monthly wages; 

•   Labor claims: seeking the recovery of alleged labor rights 
based on labor legislation specific to the related profession, 
such as overtime, salary equalization, reinstatement, 
transfer allowance, pension plan supplement and other; 

•  Tax and social security lawsuits: represented mainly by 
lawsuits and administrative proceedings involving federal 
and municipal taxes; 

•  Other Risks: represented basically by the joint obligation for 
securitized rural loans.

The table below shows the changes in the respective 
provisions for contingent liabilities and the respective escrow 
deposits balances:
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-  Contingencies classified as possible: not recognized in the 
accounting books and comprise Civil lawsuits amounting to 
R$387,144 and Tax and Social Security Lawsuits amounting to 
R$3,658,234. The principal characteristics of these lawsuits are 
described below:

•  Required levy of corporate income tax (IRPJ)  social 
contribution (CSLL) , PIS and COFINS, because of the 
understanding that there has been unreported income due 
to assignment of usufruct of quotas and shares, recorded 
as a contra-entry to the investment account in permanent 
assets –  R$341,237;

•  Levy of ISS (Service Tax) on Leasing operations –  
R$142,292: tax assessment notices and/or tax foreclosures 
of municipalities that allege the levy of ISS on leasing 
operations in their territories;

•  ISS – Banking Institutions – R$418,413: refers to tax 
assessment notices issued by municipalities for collection 
of ISS on amounts recorded in several accounts, on the 
grounds of being service revenue. An administrative final 
decision or tax foreclosure is pending;

•  Deductibility of losses in receipt of loans and discounts 
granted in renegotiation of loans – R$428,479;

•  Dismissal of offset request – R$300,130: offset requests 
which were not validated due to formal issues or alleged 
lack of evidence of credit liquidity. Issue discussed at the 
administrative level, in which the Company stated its defense 
and exhibited documentation evidencing credit liquidity;

•  Criteria for taxation of revenues made available abroad 
– R$264,443: assessment notices in relation to which the 
inspection authorities discuss criteria for determining the 
calculation basis and taxable event;

•  Deductibility of goodwill on purchase of investments –  
R$198,586: assessment notices that discuss the deduction of 
goodwill of merged companies;

•  Acquisition of Customers Portfolio – R$171,409: aimed 
at recognizing the deduction, from the IRPJ and CSLL 
calculation basis, of expenses assumed by Banco Itaú with 
the amortization of assets related to the acquisition of the 
customers portfolio of the Group banks;

•  IRPJ/PDD  (income tax/allowance for loan losses) – 
R$164,441: reject the Regulatory Instruction (IN) No. 80/93, 
which reduced the percentage from 1.5% to 0.5% for 
realization of the Allowance for Loan Losses in base year 
1993, calculated by adopting the IN 76/87 and the CMN 
Resolution 1,748, of August 31, 1990. The institution makes 
allegations about the impossibility of applying the rule 
to events occurred in the fiscal year when it was enacted 
(principle of anteriority). A suspension was awarded for 
the bank’s appeal, however, the judgment by the Federal 
Regional Court of the 3rd Region is pending;

•  Levy of social security contributions on non-compensatory 
amounts – R$134,709: administrative and court discussion 
on the portions that, according to the Company's 
understanding, are not part of contribution salary for  
social security tax purposes;

•  Differences in the completion of Declaration of Federal 
Contributions and Taxes (DCTF) – R$83,698: required levy 
of withholding tax (IRRF) arising from the challenge, by 
the Federal Revenue Services authorities, concerning the 
completion of DCTF and missing payments (DARF’s);

•  Required corporate income tax (IRPJ) arising from the offset 
of losses for 2005, which, according to tax authorities, had 
been carried out in excess of the balance stated by the 
Federal Revenue Service, in view of the ex officio changes 
made to the Corporate Income Tax Declaration (DIPJ) 
submitted by the taxpayer – R$78,964;

•  Offset of tax loss of companies merged without the 30% 
limitation – R$66,685: assessment notices which discusses 
the application of a 30% limit when offsetting tax loss 
carryforwards, in case of merger of Company;

•  ITR (rural tax land) – R$63,998: refers to collection of ITR 
amounts related to farms, received as payment in kind, with 
arbitrage of calculation basis, due to failure to evidence that 
a portion of the land is a legal reserve.   

In ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED, the following, which are in guarantee 
of voluntary appears related to contingent liabilities, are restricted, 
deposited or recorded:

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Securities  1,061,189  1,797,107 

Deposits in guarantee  3,278,505  2,077,896 

Permanent assets (*)  783,113  807,538 

(*)   As per article 32 of Law No. 10,522, of July 19, 2002. On April 10, 2007, in the 
Unconstitutionality Lawsuit No. 1.976, the Federal Supreme Court ruled uncon-
stitutional the requirement of guarantees for considering voluntary appeals.  The 
company is requesting the cancellation of the pledging of guarantees to the 
Federal Revenue Service.

The Receivables balance arising from reimbursements of 
contingencies totals R$1,114,192 (R$1,095,673 at 12/31/2008) 
(Note 14a), basically represented by the guarantee in the Banco 
Banerj S.A. privatization process occurred in 1997, in which the 
State of Rio de Janeiro created a fund to guarantee the equity 
recomposition from losses on Civil, Labor and Tax Contingencies.
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c) Legal Liabilities – Tax and Social Security and Escrow Deposits for filing Legal Processes – recognized at the full amount being 
questioned and respective escrow deposits, as follows:

Change in legal liabilities 01/01 to 12/31/2009 01/01 to 12/31/2008

Opening balance  9,294,397  5,851,311 

Balance arising from ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger at 09/30/2008 and other  189,266  2,644,071 

Charges on taxes  843,616  515,683 

Changes in the period reflected in results    1,500,604   898,522 

Increase  2,462,682  1,113,601 

Reversal (*)  (962,078)  (730,762)

Payment  (4,826,015)  (95,053)

Closing balance (Note 15c)  7,001,868  9,298,851 

(*)  Refers basically to the effects arising from the adhesion to the Cash or Installment Payment of Federal Taxes (Note 13d) and reversal of provision of PIS EC 17/97 x Principles 
of Anteriority, anteriority over 90 days, and non-retroactivity. From 01/01 to 12/31/2008 refers basically to the reversal of the provision for CPMF on Lease Operations.

Change in escrow deposits 01/01 to 12/31/2009 01/01 to 12/31/2008

Opening balance  4,368,455  2,953,338 

Balance arising from ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger at 09/30/2008 and other  248,380  676,981 

Appropriation of income  421,915  263,198 

Changes in the period    (739,414)   474,938 

Deposits  459,808  514,066 

Withdrawals  (95,774)  (34,235)

Conversion into income  (1,103,448)  (4,893)

Closing balance (Note 14a)  4,299,336  4,368,455 

The main natures of processes are described as follows:

•  PIS and COFINS  – R$4,427,995 – asserts the right of paying 
contributions to PIS and COFINS on revenue, not adopting 
the provisions of Article 3, paragraph 1, of Law No. 9,718 of 
November 27, 1998, which established the inappropriate 
extension of the calculation bases of these contributions. 
The corresponding escrow deposit totals R$872,513.

•   IRPJ and CSLL – R$454,048, aimed at rejecting the 
requirement set forth by Regulatory Instruction No. 213, 
of October 7, 2002, in view of its illegality, determining the 
inclusion of equity in earnings in the calculation of taxable 
income and the CSLL calculation basis, including the 
disposal of investment abroad. The corresponding escrow 
deposit totals R$400,356.

•  CSLL – R$444,197, assert the right of paying CSLL at 9%, 
applicable to companies in general, and rejecting the 
provisions of Article 41 of Law No. 11,727 of June 24, 2008, 
which sets forth a differentiated rate (15%) for financial 
institutions and insurance companies, in view of the 
infraction to the principle of equality.  The corresponding 
escrow deposit totals R$186,970;

•  PIS X Constitutional Amendments Nos. 10/96 and 17/97 
– R$330,928, aimed at rejecting the levy of PIS based on 
principles of anteriority, anteriority over 90 days and non-
retroactivity of Constitutional Amendments Nos. 10/96 
and 17/97, and nonexistence of legislation for this period. 
Successively, aimed at paying PIS over the mentioned period 
based on Supplementary Law No. 7/70. The corresponding 
escrow deposit totals R$68,035;

•  INSS -- R$255,323, aimed at rejecting the levy of social 
security contribution at 15%, as well as an additional rate 
of 2.5%, on compensation paid to service providers that 
are individuals and managers, set forth by Supplementary 
Law No. 84/96, in view of its unconstitutionality, as this 
contribution has the same taxable event and income tax 
calculation basis, going against the provisions of Articles 
153, item III, 154, item I, 156, item III and 195, paragraph 4, 
of Federal Constitution. The corresponding escrow deposit 
totals R$279,581.
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d) Program for Cash or Installment Payment of Federal Taxes – 
Law No. 11,941/09

ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries adhered to the Program for Cash 
or Installment Payment of Federal Taxes, established by Law 
No. 11,941, of May 27, 2009. The program included the debits 
administered by the Federal Reserve Service of Brazil and the 
General Attorney’s Office of the National Treasury past due before 
November 30, 2008. The main propositions included in this 
program were as follows:

•  Increase to the PIS and COFINS calculation basis as per 
paragraph 1 of article 3 of Law No. 9,718 of November 27, 
1998, classified as Legal Liability; and

•  Levy of IRPJ and CSLL on transactions related to transfer 
of quotas of companies located abroad for increasing the 

capital stock of other companies, classified in Contingent 
Liabilities with possible likelihood of loss. 

The net effect in Income was R$292,419, recorded in Other 
Operating Income, which effect in ITAÚSA’s result was R$105,166.

According to the opinion of the legal advisors, ITAÚSA and its 
subsidiary companies are not involved in any other administrative 
proceedings or lawsuits that may significantly affect the results 
of their operations.  The combined evaluation of all existing 
provisions for all contingent liabilities and legal obligations, 
which are recognized through the adoption of statistical models 
for claims involving small amounts and separate analysis by 
internal and external legal advisors for other cases, showed that 
the amounts provided for are sufficient, according to the CMN 
Resolution No. 594 of September 15, 2009.  

NOTE 14 – BREAKDOWN OF ACCOUNTS

a) Other sundry receivables

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Escrow deposits for provision for contingent liabilities (Note 13b)   6,633,642   5,128,954 

Escrow deposits for legal liabilities – tax and social security (Note 13c)  4,299,336  4,368,455 

Negotiation and intermediation of securities  864,741  2,146,381 

Taxes and contributions for offset  5,079,660  4,437,381 

Social contribution for offset – Provisional Measure No. 2,158 of August 24, 2001 (Note 15b I)  933,723  1,295,804 

Receivables from reimbursement of contingent liabilities (Note 13b)  1,114,192  1,095,674 

Income receivable  849,522  1,133,941 

Trade notes receivable  1,032,402  892,857 

Escrow deposits for foreign fund raising program  437,705  983,201 

Operations without credit granting characteristics   376,788   597,787 

Securities and credits receivable     698,872  706,075 

 (Allowance for other loan losses)  (322,084)  (108,288)

Receivables – Sale of Credicard brand  -    303,706 

Tax incentive options  808  4,676 

Sundry debtors   929,803   920,211 

Domestic  729,112  720,867 

Foreign  200,691  199,344 

Other  281,335  260,870 

Total   22,833,657   23,569,898 

At ITAÚSA, basically comprise Income Receivable related to Dividends and Interest on Capital amounting to R$857,604 (R$952,013 at 
12/31/2008) and Taxes and Contributions for Offset of R$71,971 (R$95,657 at 12/31/2008).
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c) Prepaid expenses

  12/31/2009  12/31/2008

Commissions    2,124,975   2,724,208 

Related to insurance and pension plan   491,362  293,094 

Related to vehicle financing   1,432,859  2,401,123 

Other   200,754  29,991 

Credit Guarantee Fund (*)   713,906  901,090 

Advertising   520,319  371,742 

Other   178,558  237,945 

Total  3,537,758  4,234,985 

(*)  At parent company ITAÚ UNIBANCO, it refers to spontaneous payment, equivalent to the prepayment of installments of the contribution to Fundo Garantidor de Crédito 
(Brazilian deposit guarantee fund), according to BACEN Circular No. 3,416, of 10/24/2008.

d) Other sundry liabilities

 12/31/2009  12/31/2008

Provisions for contingent liabilities (Note 13b)  7,457,610  7,880,116 

Collection and payment of taxes and contributions  472,971  665,785 

Negotiation and intermediation of securities  1,135,080  2,729,484 

Personnel provision  974,333  939,789 

Suppliers  380,357  315,635 

Sundry creditors   3,002,437   2,876,175 

Domestic  2,751,947  2,581,177 

Foreign  250,490  294,998 

Related to insurance operations  1,227,120  1,134,297 

Creditors of funds to be released  341,804  310,358 

Liabilities for purchase of assets and rights  149,883  18,738 

Provision for health insurance (1)  595,989  530,634 

Provision for integration expenditures with ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger (2)  843,546  1,330,800 

Provision to cover actuarial deficit  111,880  105,056 

Expenses for lease interests  109,429  137,043 

Liabilities for official agreements and rendering of payment services  414,871  630,224 

Provisions for sundry creditors  1,216,696  770,935 

Sundry (3)  1,220,027  1,231,126 

Total  19,654,033  21,606,195 
(1)  Provision set up to cover possible future deficits up to the total discontinuance of the portfolio, arising from the difference of adjustments to monthly installments, autho-

rized annually by the regulatory body, and the actual variation of hospital costs that affect the compensation of claims.  
(2) Provision set up at 12/31/2008 to cover expenditures on communication with customers, adequacy of systems and personnel. 
(3) Basically composed of discounts in investments in subsidiaries not eliminated in Consolidation.

b) Other assets

 12/31/2009  12/31/2008

Assets not for own use   468,235  574,010 

  (Valuation allowance)   (193,471)  (208,254)

Unearned premiums of reinsurance   558,690  500,789 

Total  833,454  866,545 
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e) Other operating revenues    

01/01 to
 12/31/2009

01/01 to
 12/31/2008

Reversal of operating provisions    485,174   922,877 

Contingencies and legal liabilities – tax and social security  (Notes 13b, c and d)  424,051  720,235 

Other   61,123  202,642 

Recovery of charges and expenses  241,086  219,484 

Income from sale of investments and other assets  426,811  343,987 

Other  393,566  562,271 

Total  1,546,637  2,048,619 

f) Other operating expenses    

01/01 to
 12/31/2009

01/01 to
 12/31/2008

Tax expenses (Note 15a II)  (4,378,895)  (2,414,751)

Provisions for contingencies  (Note 13b)   (1,273,170)   (2,338,948)

Civil  (1,164,724)  (895,501)

Tax and social security  (102,010)  (1,245,115)

Other  (6,436)  (198,332)

Amortization of goodwill  -  (1,738,484)

Joint venture (*)  (550,000)  - 

Provision for health insurance  (65,357)  (530,634)

Integration expenditures with  ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger  -  (1,330,800)

Investment in subsidiaries not related to income  -  (41,018)

Operating expenses from industrial companies  (459,272)  (380,083)

Selling – credit cards  (1,415,450)  (504,593)

Claims  (553,356)  (323,694)

Refund of interbank costs (Note 21e)  (219,692)  (143,094)

Other  (999,594)  (813,970)

Total  (9,914,786)  (10,560,069)

(*)  Amount paid on August 28, 2009 to Companhia Brasileira de Distribuição S.A., in order to exclude the obligation of exclusivity of  ITAÚ UNIBANCO  HOLDING in the joint 
venture agreement related to  Financeira Itaú CBD S.A. Crédito, Financiamento e Investimentos (Note 21d).

At ITAÚSA, basically composed of Tax Expenses in the amount of R$134,534 (R$87,585 from 01/01 to 12/31/2008).
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NOTA 15 – TAXES

a) Composition of expenses for taxes and contributions

I –  We show below the Income Tax and Social Contribution due on the operations for the period and on temporary differences arising 
from additions and exclusions:

Due on operations for the period 01/01 to
 12/31/2009

01/01 to
 12/31/2008

Income before income tax and social contribution  20,988,744  (3,033,168)

Charges (income tax and social contribution) at the rates in effect (Note 4p)  (8,339,005)  1,060,492 

Increase/decrease to Income Tax and Social Contribution charges arising from:

Permanent (additions) exclusions  (83,162)  1,229,249 

Investments in affiliates  86,137  (902,852)

Foreign exchange variation on investments abroad  (2,038,906)  1,424,305 

Interest on capital  1,499,370  798,522 

Dividends, interest on external debt bonds and tax incentives  477,163  470,055 

Other  (106,926)  (560,781)

Temporary (additions) exclusions  2,748,431  (1,554,556)

Allowance for loan losses  (2,651,753)  (2,766,360)

Excess (insufficiency) of depreciation of leased assets  2,841,444  2,934,135 

Adjustment to market value of trading securities and derivative financial instruments, and adjustments 
from operations in futures markets  142,014  (189,895)

Legal liabilities – tax and social security, contingent liabilities and restatement of escrow deposits  918,958  (565,618)

Realization of goodwill on purchase of investments  1,350,876  (211,324)

Integration expenditures with ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger  196,012  (452,472)

Other non-deductible provisions  (49,120)  (303,022)

 (Increase) Offset of tax losses/social contribution loss carryforwards  (599,798)  (3,659,489)

Expense for income tax and social contribution  (6,273,534)  (2,924,304)

Related to temporary differences

Increase (reversal) for the period  (1,886,300)  5,214,047 

Increase arising from ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger  -  6,130,935 

Prior periods increase (reversal)  644,170  960,134 

Income (expenses) from deferred taxes  (1,242,130)  12,305,116 

Total income tax and social contribution  (7,515,664)  9,380,812 

 II –  Composition of tax expenses:       

01/01 to 12/31/2009 01/01 to 12/31/2008

On sales of  
products and 

services(1)

On other  
revenues  

(Note 14f)
Total

On sales of  
products and 

services(1)

On other  
revenues  

(Note 14f)
Total

PIS and COFINS  (371,713) (3,488,898) (3,860,611)  (363,636) (1,780,073) (2,143,709)

ISS  (18,113)  (497,191)  (515,304)  (18,250)  (361,500)  (379,750)

IPI  (155,691)  -  (155,691)  (203,528)  -  (203,528)

ICMS  (404,275)  -  (404,275)  (429,561)  -  (429,561)

Other  (53,850)  (392,806)  (446,656)  (54,114)  (273,178)  (327,292)

Total (Note 4p) (1,003,642) (4,378,895) (5,382,537) (1,069,089) (2,414,751) (3,483,840)

 (1) These taxes have been deducted from the heading Sales of Products and Services.   
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At ITAÚSA tax expenses included in Other Operating Expenses basically comprise PIS in the amount of R$23,756 (R$14,720 from 01/01 to 
12/31/2008) and COFINS in the amount of R$110,756 (R$67,803 from 01/01 to 12/31/2008).

III – Tax effects on foreign exchange management of investments abroad

In order to minimize the effects on income in connection with the foreign exchange variation on investments abroad, net of respective 
tax effects, ITAÚSA and ITAÚ UNIBANCO carry out derivative transactions in foreign currency (hedge) (Note 21b).

Results of these transactions are considered in the calculation basis of income tax and social contribution, according to their nature, 
while the foreign exchange variation on investments abroad is not included therein, pursuant to tax legislation in force.

b) Deferred tax

I – The deferred tax asset balance, segregated based on its origin (Income Tax and Social Contribution), is shown as follows:   
  

 12/31/2008 Realization / 
Reversal Increase  12/31/2009

Reflected in income and expense accounts   25,209,165  (8,689,724)   9,677,580   26,197,021 

Related to tax losses and social contribution loss carryforwards   3,268,512   (977,014)   833,226   3,124,724 

Temporary differences:   21,940,653  (7,712,710)   8,844,354   23,072,297 

Allowance for loan losses   7,687,869  (3,367,402)   5,588,297   9,908,764 

Legal liabilities – tax and social security   1,542,847  (662,218)   1,146,304   2,026,933 

Provision for contingent liabilities   2,558,664  (1,072,905)   873,877   2,359,636 

Civil   766,379  (403,248)   536,853   899,984 

Labor   769,521  (69,385)   158,420   858,556 

Tax and social security   948,506  (599,232)   146,365   495,639 

Other   74,258  (1,040)   32,239   105,457 

Adjustment to market value of securities and derivative financial 
instruments (assets and liabilities)   430,232  (430,232)   132,808   132,808 

Allowance for real estate   89,725  (35,812)   27,099   81,012 

Goodwill on purchase of investments   7,434,935  (1,093,719)   139,639   6,480,855 

Provision for integration expenditures with ITAÚ UNIBANCO merger   452,472  (165,666)  -     286,806 

Provision related to health insurance operations   212,254  -     26,142   238,396 

Other   1,531,655  (884,756)   910,188   1,557,087 

Reflected in stockholders’ equity accounts – adjustment to market value 
of available-for-sale securities   193,744  (121,064)  -     72,680 

Total deferred tax assets   25,402,909  (8,810,788)   9,677,580   26,269,701 

Social contribution for offset arising from option foreseen in Article 8  
of Provisional Measure No. 2,158-35 of 08/24/2001 (Note 14a)  1,295,804  (362,081)  -    933,723 

At ITAÚSA, Deferred Tax Assets amount to R$84,916 (R$90,922 at 12/31/2008) and are basically represented by tax losses/social 
contribution loss carryforwards, the expectation of realization of which is up to seven years.
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II – Provision for Deferred Income Tax and Social Contribution balance and its changes are shown as follows:    
  

 12/31/2008 Realization / 
Reversal Increase  12/31/2009

Reflected in income and expense accounts  6,422,141  (119,526)  2,347,603  8,650,218 

Excess of depreciation of leased assets  5,604,351  -    1,963,527  7,567,878 

Taxation of results abroad – capital gains  20,142  -    15,769  35,911 

Adjustments from operations in futures market  56,552  (21,389)  7,300  42,463 

Adjustment to market value of trading securities and derivative financial 
instruments  113,074  (2,046)  33,598  144,626 

Restatement of escrow deposits related to legal and contingent liabilities  451,616  -    217,201  668,817 

Income on sale of permanent asset items and rights  72,548  (68,796)  22,981  26,733 

Other  103,858  (27,295)  87,227  163,790 

Reflected in stockholders’ equity accounts – adjustment to market value 
of available-for-sale securities  18,618  (8,324)  131,227  141,521 

Total  6,440,759  (127,850)  2,478,830  8,791,739 

At ITAÚSA, the Provision for Deferred Income Tax and Contributions amounts to R$27,424 (R$2,166 at 12/31/2008) and is represented by 
taxes levied on restatement of escrow deposits and Income on sale of permanent asset items and rights.

III –  The estimate of realization and present value of Deferred Tax Assets and Social Contribution for Offset, arising from Provisional 
Measure No. 2,158-35 of 08/24/2001 and from the Provision for Deferred Income Tax and Social Contribution existing at December 
31, 2009, in accordance with the expected generation of future taxable income, based on the history of profitability and technical 
feasibility studies, are:

Realization year

Deferred tax assets Social  
contribution  

for offset

Provision for  
deferred income 

tax and social 
contribution

Net deferred 
taxesTemporary  

differences

Tax losses/social 
contribution loss 

carryforwards
Total

2010  7,067,776  498,597  7,566,373  301,902  (518,983)  7,349,291 

2011  3,692,687  922,872  4,615,559  292,093  (1,537,635)  3,370,017 

2012  3,467,238  647,026  4,114,264  195,582  (1,958,611)  2,351,235 

2013  3,171,766  164,655  3,336,421  29,611  (2,347,748)  1,018,285 

2014  2,036,926  8,202  2,045,128  7,277  (1,587,457)  464,948 

over 2014  3,708,584  883,372  4,591,956  107,258  (841,305)  3,857,909 

Total  23,144,977  3,124,724  26,269,701  933,723  (8,791,739)  18,411,685 

Present  Value(*)  20,177,730  2,707,608  22,885,338  829,715  (7,516,271)   16,198,782 

(*) The average funding rate was used to determine the present value, net of tax effects.

The projections of future taxable income include estimates related to macroeconomic variables, foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates, volume of financial operations and sale of products and services, among others, which can vary in relation to actual data  
and amounts.

Net income in the financial statements is not directly related to taxable income for income tax and social contribution, due to 
differences existing between accounting criteria and tax legislation, besides corporate aspects. Accordingly, we recommend that 
the trend of the realization of deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences, income tax and social contribution loss 
carryforwards not be used as an indication of future net income.      

IV –  In view of the unconstitutionality lawsuit related to the increase in the social contribution rate, established by Articles 17 and 41 
of Law No. 11,727 of June 24, 2008 (for financial subsidiaries and equivalent companies), filed on June 26, 2008 by the National 
Confederation of the Financial System (CONSIF), deferred tax assets were recorded not taking into consideration the surplus rate 
in Tax Liabilities; the surplus balance of R$2,301,098 was not recorded (R$2,675,844 at 12/31/2008).

Unrecorded deferred tax assets amount to R$2,351,948 (R$2,764,120 at 12/31/2008) in ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED.

At December 31, 2009, there were no unrecorded deferred tax assets at ITAÚSA.
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c) Tax and social security contributions

The balance of Tax and Social Security Contributions is composed as follows:     

 12/31/2009  12/31/2008

Taxes and contributions on income payable  1,459,688  1,174,225 

Taxes and contributions payable  3,842,741  1,433,339 

Provision for deferred income tax and social contribution (Note 15b II)  8,791,739  6,440,759 

Legal liabilities – tax and social security (Note 13c)  7,001,868  9,298,851 

Total  21,096,036  18,347,174 

At ITAÚSA, the balance of Tax and Social Security Contributions totals R$83,244 (R$41,611 at 12/31/2008) and is basically comprised 
of Taxes and Contributions on Income Payable of R$47,010 (R$31,361 at 12/31/2008), Provision for Deferred Income Tax and Social 
Contribution of R$27,424 (R$2,166 at 12/31/2008) and Legal Liabilities – Tax and Social Security of R$8,351 (R$8,084 at 12/31/2008).

d) Taxes paid or provided for and withheld from third parties 

The amount of taxes paid or provided for is basically levied on income, revenue and payroll. In relation to the amounts withheld and 
collected from third parties, the Company started to take into consideration the interest on capital paid on the service provision, in 
addition to those levied on financial operation.

 12/31/2009  12/31/2008
Taxes paid or provided for  14,874,276  8,629,906 
Taxes withheld and collected from third parties  8,128,793  6,576,821 
Total  23,003,069  15,206,727
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C o m p a n i e s Balances  
at 12/31/2008 (1)

Subscription/  
Acquisition/Sales

Dividends and interest 
on capital received (2)       

Equity in earnings  
of subsidiaries

Change in  
adjustment  

to market value

Accumulated  
conversion  

adjustments

Granting  
of options  

recognized

Balances  
at 12/31/2009 (1)

Equity in earnings  
of subsidiaries from 

01/01 to 12/31/2008

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.  10,628,035  51,161  (1,323,839) 2,013,917 (4)  99,931  -    19,797  11,489,002  7,294,164 (4)

IUPAR – Itaú Unibanco Participações S.A.  7,759,211  -    (67,179)  730,209  112,299  -    -    8,534,540  (795,084)

Itaucorp  S.A.  798,540  (10)  (444)  49,278  366  (952)  1,027  847,805  90,504 

Duratex S.A.  513,874  -    (18,040)  84,782(4)  -    (1,840)  2,532  581,308  92,843 (4)

Itautec S.A.  336,285  -    (11,403)  36,020  1,990  -    -    362,892  41,986 

Elekpart Participações e Administração S.A.  50,761  -    (4)  380  7  -    -    51,144  30,637 

ITH Zux Cayman Company Ltd.  43,398  -    -    (13,902)(5)  -    -    -    29,496  13,885 (5)

Elekeiroz S.A.  13,480  -    (89)  135  -    2  -    13,528  3,072 

Itaúsa Export S.A.(3)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    81,841 

Itaúsa Europa – Investimentos, SGPS, Lda.(3)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    18,756 

Other subsidiaries  7,303  20  (3)  124  (6)  -    -    7,438  1,086 

GRAND TOTAL  20,150,887  51,171  (1,421,001)  2,900,943  214,587  (2,790)  23,356  21,917,153  6,873,690 

 (1) Includes negative goodwill;
 (2) Income receivable includes dividends and interest on capital receivable;
 (3) Investment sold to Itaú Unibanco S.A. on 11/28/2008;
 (4) Includes non-operating income/(expense) arising from change in interest;
 (5) Includes total foreign exchange expense.

NOTE 16 – PERMANENT ASSETS    

a) Investments             

I – Interest in subsidiaries – ITAÚSA    

Companies Capital Stockholders’ 
equity

Net income  
for the period

Number of shares  
owned by ITAÚSA

Equity in  
voting  

capital (%)

Equity in  
capital (%)

Common Preferred

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.  45,000,000  63,500,614  7,706,907  828,666,681  77,083 36,20 18,32

IUPAR – Itaú Unibanco Participações S.A.  6,000,000  12,827,704  1,097,551  355,227,092  350,942,273 50,00 66,53

Itaucorp S.A.  403,000  861,963  49,257  12,241,504  3,875,153 99,94 99,96

Duratex S.A.  1,288,085  2,371,934  180,524  113,252,306  -   24,73 24,73

Itautec S.A.  250,000  496,081  53,567  10,366,478  -   88,97 88,97

Elekpart Participações e Administração S.A.  220,000  425,660  3,163  68,680,661  -   12,02 12,02

ITH Zux Cayman Company Ltd.  60,942  40,562  (16)  35,000,000  -   100,00 100,00

Elekeiroz S.A.  220,000  442,663  3,830  559,180  631,430 3,85 3,78
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C o m p a n i e s Balances  
at 12/31/2008 (1)

Subscription/  
Acquisition/Sales

Dividends and interest 
on capital received (2)       

Equity in earnings  
of subsidiaries

Change in  
adjustment  

to market value

Accumulated  
conversion  

adjustments

Granting  
of options  

recognized

Balances  
at 12/31/2009 (1)

Equity in earnings  
of subsidiaries from 

01/01 to 12/31/2008

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.  10,628,035  51,161  (1,323,839) 2,013,917 (4)  99,931  -    19,797  11,489,002  7,294,164 (4)

IUPAR – Itaú Unibanco Participações S.A.  7,759,211  -    (67,179)  730,209  112,299  -    -    8,534,540  (795,084)

Itaucorp  S.A.  798,540  (10)  (444)  49,278  366  (952)  1,027  847,805  90,504 

Duratex S.A.  513,874  -    (18,040)  84,782(4)  -    (1,840)  2,532  581,308  92,843 (4)

Itautec S.A.  336,285  -    (11,403)  36,020  1,990  -    -    362,892  41,986 

Elekpart Participações e Administração S.A.  50,761  -    (4)  380  7  -    -    51,144  30,637 

ITH Zux Cayman Company Ltd.  43,398  -    -    (13,902)(5)  -    -    -    29,496  13,885 (5)

Elekeiroz S.A.  13,480  -    (89)  135  -    2  -    13,528  3,072 

Itaúsa Export S.A.(3)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    81,841 

Itaúsa Europa – Investimentos, SGPS, Lda.(3)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    18,756 

Other subsidiaries  7,303  20  (3)  124  (6)  -    -    7,438  1,086 

GRAND TOTAL  20,150,887  51,171  (1,421,001)  2,900,943  214,587  (2,790)  23,356  21,917,153  6,873,690 

 (1) Includes negative goodwill;
 (2) Income receivable includes dividends and interest on capital receivable;
 (3) Investment sold to Itaú Unibanco S.A. on 11/28/2008;
 (4) Includes non-operating income/(expense) arising from change in interest;
 (5) Includes total foreign exchange expense. II – Composition of investments

 12/31/2009  12/31/2008

Investment in affiliates  1,191,663  1,354,055 

Domestic  277,821  330,679 

  Allianz Seguros S.A.  -  141,486 

  Serasa S.A.  248,745  154,279 

  Other  29,076  34,914 

Foreign  913,842  1,023,376 

  Banco BPI, S.A.  913,842  1,010,926 

  Other  -  12,450 

Other investments  1,017,859  916,423 

Investments through tax incentives  164,117  165,012 

Equity securities  8,428  13,340 

Shares and quotas  226,544  128,367 

Interest in Instituto de Resseguros do Brasil – IRB  229,699  226,149 

Other  572,150  563,650 

Provision for losses  (183,079)  (180,095)

TOTAL  2,209,522  2,270,478 

III – Composition of equity in earnings of affiliates   

01/01 to 
 12/31/2009

01/01 to
 12/31/2008

Investment in affiliates – Domestic  131,488  (2,966,592)

Investment in affiliates – Abroad  84,246  128,596 

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, not arising from net income  8,939  (41,018)

TOTAL  224,673  (2,879,014)



112        2009  Financial Statements     

b) Fixed assets and intangible assets

 12/31/2009  12/31/2008

Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation/ 
amortization/ 

depletion

Net book 
amount

Net book 
amount

Fixed assets  15,202,586 (7,678,758)  7,523,828  6,175,716 

Own fixed assets  14,823,786 (7,678,758)  7,145,028  5,974,979 

Real estate  5,514,675 (2,251,433)  3,263,242  3,142,175 

Land  1,436,723  -    1,436,723  1,299,010 

Buildings  3,000,720 (1,766,125)  1,234,595  917,104 

Leasehold improvements  1,077,232  (485,308)  591,924  926,061 

Other  9,309,111 (5,427,325)  3,881,787  2,832,804 

Installations  813,116  (408,303)  404,813  181,487 

Furniture and equipment  3,771,242 (1,511,740)  2,259,502  1,579,808 

EDP systems  4,099,980 (3,120,606)  979,374  851,538 

Other (communication, security and transportation)  624,773  (386,676)  238,098  219,970 

Leased fixed assets  18,553  -    18,553  18,553 

Furniture and equipment  18,553  -    18,553  18,553 

Forest reserves  360,247  -    360,247  182,184 

Intangible assets  6,120,868 (1,739,206)  4,381,663  4,139,774 

Rights for acquisition of payrolls  2,597,749  (913,559)  1,684,190  2,314,427 

Association for the promotion and offer of financial products  1,403,583  (15,533)  1,388,050  1,140,329 

Expenditures on acquisition of software  1,242,369  (745,964)  496,405  388,538 

Right to manage investment funds  244,920  (54,415)  190,505  295,270 

Other intangible assets (*)  632,248  (9,734)  622,513  1,211 

(*) Basically refers to goodwill on purchase of shares of Redecard S.A. (Note 2).

At ITAÚSA, Fixed Assets are basically composed of Buildings amounting to R$4,821 (R$4,983 at 12/31/2008) and Intangible Assets 
represented by goodwill on purchase of investments.

NOTE 17 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY – ITAÚSA

a) Capital

At the Annual and Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on 
April 30, 2009, the following proposals of the Board of Directors 
were approved:

•  Cancellation of 4,404,840 preferred book-entry shares held in 
treasury without capital decrease;

•  Capital increase through capitalization of Revenue Reserves 
in the amount of R$2,550,000, with the bonus at 10% on the 
shares owned on April 30, 2009;

•  Capital increase by R$450,000 upon issuance of 77,586,207 
new book-entry shares, with no par value, of which 29,805,716 
are common and 47,780,491 are preferred, paid up in cash or 
in receivable from dividends or interest on capital.

As a result of the aforementioned events, capital was increased 
to R$13,000,000 and comprises 4,347,214,678 book-entry shares, 
with no par value, of which 1,670,037,112 are common and 
2,677,177,566 are preferred shares without voting rights, but with 
the following advantages:

•  Priority in the receipt of the annual minimum dividend of  
R$10.00 per thousand shares, non-cumulative; 

•  Tag-along rights, in the event of the public offer of common 
shares, at a price equal to 80% of the amount paid per share 
with voting rights in the controlling stake, as well as a dividend 
at least equal to that of the common shares.

The table below shows the change in shares of capital stock and 
treasury shares during the period:
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NUMBER

Common Preferred Total

Shares of capital stock at December 31, 2008  1,491,119,451  2,394,765,818  3,885,885,269 

Cancellation of shares – ASM/ESM of April 30, 2009  -    (4,404,840)  (4,404,840)

Bonus shares – ASM/ESM of April 30, 2009  149,111,945  239,036,097  388,148,042 

Subscription of shares (approved by ESM of June 29, 2009)  29,805,716  47,780,491  77,586,207 

Shares of capital stock at December 31, 2009  1,670,037,112  2,677,177,566  4,347,214,678 

Treasury shares at December 31, 2008 (*)  -    4,404,840  4,404,840 

 (-) Cancellation of shares – ASM/ESM of April 30, 2009  -    (4,404,840)  (4,404,840)

Purchase of shares  -    1,382,038  1,382,038 

Treasury shares at December 31, 2009  -    1,382,038  1,382,038 

Outstanding shares at December 31, 2009  1,670,037,112  2,675,795,528  4,345,832,640 

Outstanding shares at December 31, 2008  1,491,119,451  2,390,360,978  3,881,480,429 

(*) Own shares purchased based on authorizations from the Board of Directors, to be held in Treasury for subsequent cancellation.

b) Dividends

Stockholders are entitled to a mandatory dividend of not less than 25% of annual net income, which is adjusted according to the rules 
set forth in Brazilian Corporate Law. Both types of shares participate equally, after common shares have received dividends equal to 
the minimum priority dividend per share to be paid to preferred shares.

I – Calculation    

Net income  2,902,039 

Adjustments

 (-)Legal reserve  (145,102)

Dividend calculation basis  2,756,937 

Mandatory minimum dividend  689,234 

 (+) Reversal/(Increase) of unrealized revenue reserve  220,125 

Dividends/Interest on capital after realization of unrealized revenue reserve  909,359 32.98%

Proposed dividends/interest on capital  1,232,181 44.69%
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II – Provision of interest on capital and dividends    

Gross WTS Net 

Paid/Prepaid  344,300  (33,387)  310,913 

Dividends  121,722  -    121,722 

1 quarterly installment of R$0.0140 per share paid on July 1st, 2009  60,861  -    60,861 

1 quarterly installment of R$0.0140 per share paid on October 1st, 2009  60,861  -    60,861 

Interest on capital 222,578  (33,387)  189,191 

1 installment of R$0.043 per share paid on August 31, 2009  222,578  (33,387)  189,191 

Provided for  1,062,371  (141,103)  921,268 

Dividends  121,684  -    121,684 

1 quarterly installment of R$0.0140 per share paid on January 4, 2010  60,842  -    60,842 

1 quarterly installment of R$0.0140 per share to be paid in April 1st, 2010  60,842  -    60,842 

Interest on capital 940,687  (141,103)  799,584 

1 installment of R$0.029 per share, credits on December 30, 2009 to be paid on March 10, 2010  152,104  (22,816)  129,288 

1 installment of R$0.092 per share to be paid on March 10, 2010  471,337  (70,700)  400,637 

1 installment of R$0.062 per share to be paid on June 10, 2010  317,246  (47,587)  269,659 

Total at 12/31/2009 - R$0.2835 net per share  1,406,671  (174,490)  1,232,181 

Total at 12/31/2008 - R$0.3315 net per share (*)  1,596,841  (181,595)  1,415,246 

(*) For better comparability was considered as subsidies.

c) Revenue reserves

 12/31/2009   12/31/2008

Revenue reserves  11,282,559  12,356,570 

Legal  1,556,019  1,410,917 

Unrealized profits (1)  -    220,125 

Statutory  9,726,540  10,725,528 

Dividends equalization (2)  3,636,511  4,149,040 

Working capital increase (3)  3,052,899  2,813,499 

Increase in capital of investees (4)  3,037,130  3,762,989 

(1) Refers to the amount of mandatory minimum dividend in excess of the portion of realized net income for 2008, set up according to Article 197 of Brazilian Corporate Law;
(2)  Reserve for Dividends Equalization – its purpose is to guarantee funds for the payment or advances of dividends, including interest on capital, to maintain the flow of 
      the stockholders’ compensation;
(3) Reserve for Working Capital Increase – its purpose is to guarantee funds for the Company’s operations;
(4) Reserve for Increase in Capital of Investees – its purpose is to guarantee the preferred subscription right in the capital increases of investees.

d) Reconciliation of net income and stockholders’ equity between ITAÚSA and ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED (Note 3)

Net income Stockholders’ equity

01/01 to  
12/31/2009

01/01 to  
12/31/2008  12/31/2009  12/31/2008

ITAÚSA  2,902,039  6,885,773  24,506,353  22,340,470 

Amortization of goodwill  1,459,657  (6,414,531)  (6,999,691)  (8,459,346)

Deferred tax assets  (431,492)  2,228,438  2,279,330  2,710,821 

ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED  3,930,204  2,699,680  19,785,992  16,591,945 

NOTE 18 – RELATED PARTIES

a)  Transactions between related parties are disclosed in compliance with CVM Resolution No. 560, of December 11, 2008, and CMN 
Resolution No. 3,750 of June 30, 2009. These transactions are carried out at amounts, terms and average rates in accordance with 
normal market practices during the period, as well as under reciprocal conditions.
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Transactions between companies included in consolidation 
were eliminated from the consolidated financial statements and 
take into consideration the lack of risk.

The unconsolidated related parties are the following:

• The controlling stockholders of ITAÚSA;

•  Fundação Itaubanco, FUNBEP – Fundo de Pensão 
Multipatrocinado, Caixa de Previdência dos Funcionários 
do BEG (PREBEG), Fundação Bemgeprev, Itaubank 
Sociedade de Previdência Privada, UBB-PREV – Previdência 
Complementar, Banorte – Fundação Manoel Baptista da 
Silva de Seguridade Social and Fundação Itaúsa Industrial, 

ITAÚSA ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED

ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

REVENUE/
(EXPENSES)

ASSETS/ 
(LIABILITIES)

REVENUE/ 
(EXPENSES)

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 01/01 to
12/31/2009

01/01 to
12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008 01/01 to

12/31/2009
01/01 to

12/31/2008

Securities and derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  131,563  -  -  -  - 

Itaú Unibanco S.A.  -  -  -  131,563  -  -  -  -   

Amounts receivable from (payable to) related parties  72,556  -  72,556  -  -  (89,929)  -  (14,249)

Itaú Unibanco S.A.  72,556  -  72,556  -  -  -  -  - 

UBB Prev Previdência Complementar  -  -  -  -  -  (13,242)  -  (2,900)

Banorte – Fundação Manoel Baptista da Silva de Seguridade Social  -  -  -  -  -  (76,687)  -  (11,349)

Demand deposits  -  -  -  -  478  755  -  - 

Fundação Itaú Social  -  -  -  -  24  23  -  - 

Fundação Itaú Clube  -  -  -  -  47  74  -  - 

Instituto Itaú Cultural  -  -  -  -  204  523  -  - 

Instituto Unibanco  -  -  -  -  37  125  -  - 

Associação Clube "A"  -  -  -  -  41  -  -  - 

Instituto Unibanco de Cinema  -  -  -  -  3  -  -  - 

Instituto Assistencial Pedro Di Perna  -  -  -  -  122  10  -  - 

Banking service fees  -  -  -  -  -  -  15,137  12,654 

Fundação Itaubanco  -  -  -  -  -  -  9,334  6,438 

FUNBEP – Fundo de Pensão Multipatrocinado  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,409  2,068 

PREBEG – Caixa de Previdência dos Funcionários do BEG  -  -  -  -  -  -  389  258 

BEMGEPREV –  -  -  -  -  -  -  241  129 

UBB Prev Previdência Complementar  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,611  3,664 

Banorte - Fundação Manoel Baptista da Silva de Seguridade Social  -  -  -  -  -  -  153  97 

Rent expenses  -  -  -  -  -  -  (32,486)  (29,820)

UBB Prev Previdência Complementar  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,316)  (507)

Banorte – Fundação Manoel Baptista da Silva de Seguridade Social  -  -  -  -  -  -  (330)  (245)

PREBEG – Caixa de Previdência dos Funcionários do BEG  -  -  -  -  -  -  (219)  (205)

Fundação Itaubanco  -  -  -  -  -  -  (24,092)  (22,858)

FUNBEP – Fundo de Pensão Multipatrocinado  -  -  -  -  -  -  (6,529)  (6,005)

Donation expenses  -  -  -  -  -  -  (49,839)  (37,365)

Instituto Itaú Cultural  -  -  -  -  -  -  (39,150)  (36,750)

Instituto Unibanco de Cinema  -  -  -  -  -  -  (9,674)  - 

Associação Clube "A"  -  -  -  -  -  -  (575)  (300)

Fundação Itaú Social  -  -  -  -  -  -  (440)  (315)

closed-end private pension entities, that administer 
supplementary retirement plans sponsored by ITAÚSA  
and/or its subsidiaries (Note 20a);

•  Fundação Itaú Social, Instituto Itaú Cultural – IIC, Instituto 
Unibanco, Instituto Assistencial Pedro Di Perna, Instituto 
Unibanco de Cinema and Associação Classe “A”, entities 
sponsored by ITAÚ UNIBANCO and subsidiaries to act in their 
respective areas of interest.

The transactions with these related parties are not significant 
in the overall context of ITAÚSA CONSOLIDATED operations, 
and, besides those already mentioned above, are basically 
characterized by:

In addition to the aforementioned operations, ITAÚSA and non-consolidated related parties, as an integral part of the Agreement for 
Apportionment of Common Costs, recorded, in Other Administrative Expenses, the amount of R$4,010 (R$4,988 from January 1st to 
December 31, 2008) in view of the use of the common structure.
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12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Duratex S.A.  365,493   253,282 

Elekeiroz S.A.  21,320   60,329 

Itautec S.A.  151,721   167,502 

Total  538,534  481,113 

b) Compensation of the Management Key Personnel
    
The fees attributed in the period to ITAÚSA officers are as follows:

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Compensation  8,949  7,806 

Profit sharing  6,635  6,827 

Contributions to pension plans  1,310  1,175 

Total  16,894  15,808 

Information related to benefits to employees and post-employment are detailed in Notes 20a and 20b, respectively.

NOTE 19 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS –  
MARKET VALUE    

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles which assume the normal continuity of the 
operations of ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries.

Book value Market Unrealized income/(loss) (*)

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008
Results Stockholders’ equity

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Interbank investments  139,441,967  124,546,088  139,485,532  124,602,539  43,565  56,451  43,565  56,451 

Securities and derivative financial 
instruments  120,910,027  139,562,199  121,272,448  140,083,998    794,053   383,253   362,421   521,799 

Adjustment of available-for-sale securities  415,855  (159,357)  -    -   

Adjustment of held-to-maturity securities  378,198  542,610  362,421  521,799 

Loan, lease and other credit operations  221,899,081  221,018,117  222,266,167  220,425,567  367,086  (592,550)  367,086  (592,550)

Investments

BM&FBOVESPA S.A.  74,572  74,526  735,256  360,613  660,684  286,087  660,684  286,087 

BPI  913,842  1,010,926  902,872  962,529  (10,970)  (48,397)  (10,970)  (48,397)

Cetip S.A.  32,163  -    317,327  -    285,164  -    285,164  -   

Redecard S.A.  1,560,840  550,778  9,758,075  8,028,738  8,197,235  7,477,960  8,197,235  7,477,960 

Serasa S.A.  248,745  154,279  647,705  629,963  398,960  475,684  398,960  475,684 

Visa Inc.  -    16  -    153,925  -    153,909  -    153,909 

Funds raised by subsidiaries  374,219,109  392,349,485  374,304,579  391,974,085  (85,470)  375,400  (85,470)  375,400 

Securitization of foreign payment orders  -    3,828,733  -    3,858,636  -    (29,903)  -    (29,903)

Subordinated debt and redeemable 
preferred shares (Note 11)  22,725,927  23,356,398  22,845,413  23,102,781  (119,486)  253,617  (119,486)  253,617 

Treasury shares  1,048,748  1,647,819  1,710,379  1,606,699  660,498  (30,899)  661,631  (41,120)

Total unrealized  11,191,319  8,760,612  10,760,820  8,888,937 

(*)  It does not consider the related tax effects. Includes unrealized income of minority stockholders in the amount of R$7,334,879 (R$7,143,398 at 12/31/2008) in results and  
R$7,479,142 (R$7,237,867 at 12/31/2008) in stockholders’ equity.

In addition to these transactions, there are guarantees provided by ITAÚSA, represented by endorsements, sureties and other, as follows:

The book value of each financial instrument, whether included or 
not in the balance sheet, when compared to the value that might 
be obtained in an active market or, in the absence of such market, 
using the net present value of future cash flows adjusted based on 
the current market interest, is approximately equal to the market 
value, or does not have a market quotation available, except for 
the instruments in the table below:
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To obtain the market values for these financial instruments, the following criteria were adopted:

•  Interbank investments were determined based on their nominal amounts, monetarily restated to maturity dates and discounted to 
present value using future market interest rates and swap market rates for fixed-rate securities and using market interest rates for 
fixed-rate securities, achieved at the closing of BM&F at the balance sheet date, for floating-rate securities;

•  Securities and derivative financial instruments, according to the rules established by CVM Resolution No. 566 of December 17, 2008, 
and Circulars Nos. 3,068 and 3,082 of November 8, 2001 and January 30, 2002, respectively, issued by the Central Bank of Brazil 
(BACEN), are recorded at their market value, except for those classified as Held to Maturity. Government securities allocated in this 
category have their market value calculated based on the rates obtained in the market, and validated through the comparison 
with information provided by the National Association of Financial Market Institutions (ANDIMA). Private securities included in this 
category have their market value calculated using a criterion similar to the one adopted for Investments in Interbank Deposits, as 
described above;

•  Loans with maturity over 90 days, when available, were calculated based on their net present value of future cash flows discounted at 
market interest rates effective on the balance sheet date, taking into account the effects of hedges as well (swap contracts);

•  Investments – in BPI, Redecard S.A., BM&FBovespa S.A. and Visa Inc. are determined based on stock market quotations, and in Serasa 
S.A. are determined based on the last transaction prices;

•  Time and interbank deposits and funds from acceptance and issuance of securities and foreign borrowings through securities, when 
available, were caclulated based on their present value determined by future cash flows, discounted at market rates achieved at the 
closing of BM&F at the balance sheet date;

•  Securitization of foreign payment orders, based on the net present value of the future cash flows estimated as from the interest 
curves of the indexation market places, net of the interest rates practiced in the market on the balance sheet date, considering the 
credit risk of the issuer, calculated based on the market price of other securities issued by the same issuer;

•  Subordinated debt, based on the net present value of future fixed or floating cash flows in foreign currency, net of the interest rates 
practiced in the market on the balance sheet date and considering the credit risk of the issuer. The floating cash flows are estimated 
as from the interest curves of the indexation market places;

•  Treasury shares are valued according to the average quotation available on the last trading day of the month or, if this is not available, 
according to the most recent quotation on prior trading days, published in the daily bulletin of each Stock Exchange.
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The basic purpose of the defined benefit and variable contribution 
plans is to grant a benefit that, as a life annuity benefit (in case 
of FUNBEP, PREBEG, PB002, Credicard, UBB Prev and Fundação 
Banorte, also as survivorship annuities), will supplement the 
pension paid by social security. In case of the defined contribution 
plan, the benefit is calculated based on the contributions made 
and its payment is made for an established period, which does not 
require actuarial calculation. 

All of these plans, except for the PAI-CD plan, are closed to 
new participants. As regards the new employees hired after 
the closing, they have the option to participate in a defined 
contribution plan managed by Itaú Vida e Previdência S.A. 
(PGBL) and in the case of the Financial Services Area and 
Insurance Area companies, or by Fundação Itaúsa Industrial (PAI-
CD), in case of the Industrial Area companies.

Entity Benefit plan

Fundação Itaubanco

Supplementary Retirement Plan – PAC (1)

Franprev Benefit Plan – PBF (1)

002 Benefit Plan – PB002 (1)

Itaulam Basic Plan – PBI (1)

Itaulam Supplementary Plan – PSI (2) 

Fundação Bemgeprev Supplementary Retirement Plan – Flexible Premium Annuity (ACMV) (1)

Fundação Itaúsa Industrial
Defined Contribution Benefit Plan – PAI-CD (3)

Defined Benefit Plan -– BD (1) 

Funbep Fundo de Pensão Multipatrocinado
Funbep I Benefit Plan (1)

Funbep II Benefit Plan (2)

Caixa de Previdência dos Funcionários do Banco Beg – Prebeg Prebeg Benefit Plan (1)

Itaú Fundo Multipatrocinado Itaú Defined Benefit Plan (1)

 (Orbitall/Credicard Itaú) Itaú Defined Contribution Plan (2)

Citiprev - Entidade Fechada de Previdência Complementar
Redecard Basic Retirement Plan (1)

Redecard Supplementary Retirement Plan (2)

Itaubank Sociedade de Previdência Privada Itaubank Retirement Plan (3)

UBB-PREV – Previdência Complementar

Unibanco Pension Plan (3)

Basic Plan (1) 

IJMS Plan (1)

Banorte Fundação Manoel Baptista da Silva de Seguridade Social
Benefit Plan I (1)

Benefit Plan II (1)

 (1) Defined benefit plan;
 (2) Variable contribution plan;
 (3) Defined contribution plan.

NOTE 20 – BENEFITS TO EMPLOYEES

Under the terms of CVM Resolution No. 371, dated December 13, 2000, we present the policies adopted by ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries 
regarding benefits to employees, as well as the accounting procedures adopted:

a) Supplementary retirement benefits:

ITAÚSA and its subsidiary companies sponsor the following supplementary retirement plans:

During the period, the contributions paid totaled R$51,556 
(R$45,040 from January 1st to December 31, 2008). The 
contribution rate increases based on the participant’s salary.

b)  Post-employment benefits:

ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries do not offer other post-employment 
benefits, except in those cases arising from maintenance 
obligations according to the acquisition agreements signed by ITAÚ 
UNIBANCO, under the terms and conditions established, in which 
health plans are totally or partially sponsored for retired workers 
and beneficiaries. During the period, the contributions made 
totaled R$5,383 (R$6,658 from January 1st to December 31, 2008). 
The contribution rate increases based on the beneficiary’s age.



119

c) Net amount of assets and actuarial liabilities of the benefit plans:

The net assets and actuarial liabilities, which consider the actuarial obligations, calculated in conformity with the criteria established by 
CVM Resolution No. 371, of December 13, 2000, are summarized below:

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Net assets of the plans  14,745,458  12,955,945 

Actuarial liabilities  (12,186,634)  (11,331,330)

Surplus (*)  2,558,824  1,624,615 

 (*) According to paragraph 49g of the attachment to CVM Resolution No. 371 of December 13, 2000, the net asset was not recognized.

In addition to the reserves recorded by the plans, the sponsors record provisions in the amount of R$111,880 (R$118,151 at 12/31/2008) 
to cover possible actuarial liabilities.

d) Changes in net assets, actuarial liabilities, and surplus:

01/01 to 12/31/2009 01/01 to 12/31/2008

Assets Actuarial li-
abilities Surplus Assets Actuarial li-

abilities Surplus

Present value – beginning of the period  12,955,945  (11,331,330)  1,624,615  12,767,343  (9,540,927)  3,226,416 

Adjustments in the period (1)  -    (127,661)  (127,661)  -    (107)  (107)

Balance arising from the ITAÚ UNIBANCO 
merger at 09/30/2008  -    -    -    113,860  (181,820)  (67,960)

Balance arising from REDECARD at 
12/31/2009 (3)  59,677  (53,239)  6,438  -    -    -   

"Expected return on assets/Cost

 of current service + Interest"  1,602,274  (1,054,812)  547,462  1,553,943  (1,173,731)  380,212 

Benefits paid  (580,711)  580,711  -    (480,597)  480,597  -   

Contributions of sponsors/participants  104,475  -    104,475  66,551  -    66,551 

Gains/(losses) in the period (2)  603,798  (200,303)  403,495  (1,065,155)  (915,342)  (1,980,497)

Present value – end of the period  14,745,458  (12,186,634)  2,558,824  12,955,945  (11,331,330)  1,624,615 

 (1) Effect corresponding to the reclassification of the option of former employees.
 (2) Losses in assets correspond to the actual earnings obtained below the expected return rate of assets.
 (3) It considers minority interest (Note 21c).

e) Main assumptions used in actuarial valuation:

Financial services area  

Industrial Area (2)Itaú Unibanco  
Holding (1) Redecard Plan 

Discount rate 10.24% p.a. 12.00% p.a. 9.20% p.a. 

Expected return rate on assets 12.32% p.a. 12.50 % p.a. 11.02% p.a.  

Mortality table (3) AT-2000 AT-83 AT-2000 

Turnover Itaú Exp. 2003/2004 Mercer Service Towers Exp. 

Future salary growth 7.12% p.a. 6.50 % p.a. 7.12% p.a.

Growth of the pension fund and social security benefits 4.00% p.a. 4.50 % p.a. 4.00% p.a. 

Inflation 4.00% p.a. 4.50 % p.a. 4.00% p.a. 

Actuarial method (4) Projected Unit Credit Projected Unit Credit Projected Unit Credit 
(1) Corresponds to the assumptions adopted by the plans managed by Fundação Itaubanco, Bemgeprev, Funbep, Prebeg, UBB Prev and Fundação Banorte;
(2) Corresponds to the assumptions adopted by the Defined Benefit plan managed by Fundação Itaúsa Industrial;
(3)  The mortality tables adopted correspond to those disclosed by SOA -– “Society of Actuaries”, the North-American Entity which corresponds to IBA – Brazilian Institute of 

Actuarial Science, which reflects a 10% increase in the probabilities of survival as compared to the respective basic tables;
(4)  Using the Projected Unit Credit, the mathematical reserve is determined by the current projected benefit amount multiplied by the ratio between the length of service in 

the company at the assessment date and the length of service that will be reached at the date when the benefit is granted. The cost is determined taking into account the 
current projected benefit amount distributed over the years that each participant is employed.
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NOTE 21 – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

a) Insured assets  

ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries, despite the low risk exposure due to a non-physical concentration of their assets, have the policy to insure 
their securities and assets at amounts considered sufficient to cover possible claims. 

b) Foreign currencies    

The balance in r           eais linked to foreign currency were:

12/31/2009 12/31/2008

Permanent foreign investments  17,861,417  19,897,885 

Net amount of other assets and liabilities indexed to foreign currency, including derivatives  (31,963,878)  (36,813,416)

Net foreign exchange position  (14,102,461)  (16,915,531)

The net foreign exchange position, considering the tax effects on the net balance of other assets and liabilities indexed to foreign 
currency, reflects the low exposure to exchange variations.

c) Minority interest in subsidiaries

Stockholders’ equity Results

12/31/2009 12/31/2008 01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01 to 
12/31/2008

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.  33,063,543  28,144,301  (6,833,553)  (2,389,364)

Unibanco Participações Societárias S.A.  1,118,000  1,078,137  (58,943)  (68,999)

Duratex S.A.  1,523,461  985,282  (110,994)  (170,944)

Itau Bank, Ltd (*)  687,711  930,575  -    -   

Redecard S.A. (Note 2)  713,444  -    (704,837)  -   

Itaú BBA Participações S.A.  -    -    -    (60,185)

Itaú XL Seguros Corporativos S.A.  123,265  106,572  (21,891)  (6,673)

Financeira Itaú CBD S.A. Crédito, Financiamento e Investimento  171,797  85,994  (20,433)  4,199 

Biu Participações S.A.  80,766  -    (22,681)  -   

Três "B" Empreendimentos e Participações Ltda.  -    70,201  (10,852)  (7,834)

Itaú Gestão de Ativos S.A.  60,037  59,816  (289)  1,114 

Itautec S.A.  29,898  27,377  (3,206)  (2,452)

Biogeração de Energia S.A.  29,212  25,504  (6,305)  (3,533)

Investimentos Bemge S.A.  16,446  15,945  (1,231)  (1,049)

Elekeiroz S.A.  14,953  14,908  (135)  (3,026)

Other  537,273  146,617  (16,632)  (22,760)

Total  38,169,806  31,691,229  (7,811,982)  (2,731,506)

 (*) Represented by redeemable preferred shares issued on December 31, 2002 by Itau Bank Ltd., in the amount of US$393,072, with maturity on March 31, 2015 and semian-
nual dividends calculated based on Libor plus 1.25% p.a.
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d) Nonrecurring results         

In order to allow the appropriate analysis of the financial statements for the period, we present the net income with exclusion of the 
following main nonrecurring effects, net of respective tax effects:

 Itaúsa Itaúsa Consolidated

01/01 to 
12/31/2009

01/01  to 
12/31/2008

 01/01  to 
12/31/2009

01/01  to 
12/31/2008

Net income  2,902,039  6,885,773  3,930,204  2,699,680 

Exclusion of Nonrecurring effects  18,026 (3,294,550)  18,026  1,377,323 

Goodwill on purchase  -    -    -    85,550 

Shares of ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING  -    -    -    61,041 

Shares of BPI  -    -    -    10,935 

Shares of Delle Holding  -    -    -    604 

Shares of Unión Capital  -    -    -    4,250 

Shares of Cerâmica Monte Carlo – Duratex  -    -    -    8,720 

Purchase of treasury shares – Duratex S.A.  68  6,223  68  6,223 

Purchase of treasury shares – ITAÚ UNIBANCO HOLDING (*)  4,436  474,680  4,436  474,680 

Purchase of treasury shares – Other companies  -    2,486  -    2,486 

Provision for contingencies – economic plans  67,881  80,079  67,881  80,079 

Allowance for loan losses  -    1,104,582  -    1,104,582 

Sale of investments  (81,031)  (101,166)  (81,031)  (101,166)

Mastercard, Inc.  -    (24,580)  -    (24,580)

Visa Inc. and Visa Net  (75,207)  (43,060)  (75,207)  (43,060)

Capital gain – Allianz Operation  (5,824)  -    (5,824)  -   

Banco de Fomento de Angola (investment which was held by BPI)  -    (14,298)  -    (14,298)

BM&FBovespa  -    (19,228)  -    (19,228)

Itaú Unibanco x CBD joint venture  128,901  -    128,901  -   

Loss on the realization of inventories  27,598  -    27,598  -   

Program for tax recovery – Law No. 11,941/09  (104,376)  -    (104,376)  -   

Discontinuance of Jundiaí and Taquari Units – Duratex  7,187  -    7,187  -   

Duratex x Satipel joint venture (Note 2)  (32,638)  -    (32,638)  -   

Equalization of criteria:  23,615  -    23,615  -   

Equity in earnings from change in ownership interest  (56,253)  -    (56,253)  -   

Sale and adjustment to market value of shares of Banco Comercial 
Português, S.A. held by BPI  -    33,659  -    33,659 

Recovery of taxes and other nonrecurring effects – Duratex S.A. / Itautec S.A.  -    (7,724)  -    (7,724)

Effects of adoption of Law No. 11,638  -    59,560  -    59,560 

Provision for integration expenditures  -    315,760  -    315,760 

Effect arising from merger  -   (5,686,092)  -   (1,142,606)

Equalization of criteria ITAÚ UNIBANCO  -    502,487  -    502,487 

Other nonrecurring events  -    (79,084)  -    (36,247)

Recurring net income  2,920,065  3,591,223  3,948,230  4,077,003 

 (*)  Effect of the purchase of shares to be held in treasury by the subsidiary ITAÚ HOLDING, which acquired its own shares in the amount of R$1,290 million in the period, 
increasing the non-operating expense in the equity of ITAÚSA by R$396 million (without representing a cash outflow in the parent company), resulting in the increase in the 
interest held in this subsidiary from 44.76% at December 31, 2007 to 45.35% at June 30, 2008.
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e) Reclassifications for comparison purposes – The Company 
reclassified the balances at December 31, 2008, for financial 
statements comparison purposes, in view of the regrouping of the 
following headings: in the Balance Sheet, the reclassification of 
operations costs incurred from Prepaid Expenses to Subordinated 
Debt; the reclassification of operations with credit card issuing 
banks, from Other Receivables – Income Receivable to Transactions 
with Credit Card Issuers and Other Liabilities – Credit Card 
Operations; and the reclassification of Reinsurance operations from 

Prior disclosure Reclassification  Reclassified balances  

Current assets and long-term receivables  626,409,000  4,206,242  630,615,242 

Other receivables  105,666,349  3,770,342  109,436,691 

Deferred tax assets  27,096,740  (1,693,831)  25,402,909 

Transactions with credit card issuers  -    5,100,495  5,100,495 

Receivables from insurance and reinsurance operations  -    3,646,249  3,646,249 

Sundry  26,852,469  (3,282,571)  23,569,898 

Other assets  365,756  500,789  866,545 

Prepaid expenses  4,299,874  (64,889)  4,234,985 

Permanent assets  12,318,388  267,580  12,585,968 

Fixed assets  6,184,478  (8,762)  6,175,716 

Fixed assets for own use  13,524,799  (8,762)  13,516,037 

Intangible assets  3,863,432  276,342  4,139,774 
TOTAL ASSETS  638,727,388  4,473,822  643,201,210 

Current and long-term liabilities  590,444,214  4,473,822  594,918,036 
Subordinated debt  22,464,616  (38,793)  22,425,823 

Taxes and social security contributions  19,851,462  (1,504,288)  18,347,174 

Other liabilities  90,899,474  4,408,361  95,307,835 

Credit card operations  14,584,368  4,527,377  19,111,745 

Sundry  21,725,211  (119,016)  21,606,195 

Technical provisions for insurance, pension plan and capitalization  41,573,543  1,608,542  43,182,085 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  638,727,388  4,473,822  643,201,210 

OPERATING REVENUES  92,058,385  (8,776,143)  83,282,242 
Sales of products and services  15,734,681  (235,102)  15,499,579 

Financial  46,008,698  (5,601,213)  40,407,485 

Securities  16,671,605  (2,708,285)  13,963,320 

Equity in earnings of affiliates  (2,655,450)  (223,564)  (2,879,014)

Other operating revenues  2,056,598  (7,979)  2,048,619 

OPERATING EXPENSES  (95,082,772)  8,767,362  (86,315,410)

Equity  (13,764,373)  45,611  (13,718,762)

Administrative  (14,776,802)  439,985  (14,336,817)

Financial  (39,717,781)  8,243,632  (31,474,149)

Other operating expenses  (10,598,202)  38,133  (10,560,069)

OPERATING INCOME  (3,024,387)  (8,781)  (3,033,168)

INCOME BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME AND PROFIT SHARING  (3,024,387)  (8,781)  (3,033,168)

INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION  9,372,031  8,781  9,380,812 

Due on operations for the period  (2,789,244)  (135,060)  (2,924,304)

Related to temporary differences  12,161,275  143,841  12,305,116 

NET INCOME OF THE GROUP  5,431,186  -  5,431,186 
NET INCOME OF PARENT COMPANY  2,699,680  -  2,699,680 

Technical Provisions of Insurance, Pension Plan and Capitalization 
to Other Receivables and Other Assets, in order to comply with 
SUSEP requirements. In Statement of Income, the reclassification 
of amounts related to recovery of interbank costs in Income from 
Bank Charges and  Administrative Operating Expenses to Other 
Operating Expenses, based on recent changes to the bylaws and 
regulation of the Interbank Payment Chamber (CIP); and in view 
of the change in the criteria to distribute the effects of foreign 
exchange variation on foreign investments (Note 2).
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f) Laws Nos. 11,638 and 11,941

Laws Nos. 6,404/76, of December 15, 1976, and 6,385, of December 
7, 1976, were amended by Laws Nos. 11,638, of December 28, 2007, 
and 11,941, of May 27, 2009, on aspects related to accounting 
practices, preparation and disclosure of financial statements, 
effective as from January 1st, 2008. According to the new legislation, 
the Law sets forth that the rules issued by CVM shall be prepared in 
conformity with international accounting standards.

Number Technical Pronouncement

15 Business combinations

16 Inventories

18 Investments in associates

20 Borrowing costs

21 Interim financial reporting

22 Segment reporting

23 Accounting policies, changes in estimates and errors

24 Events after the balance sheet date

25 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

26 Presentation of financial statements

27 Property, plant and equipment

29 Agriculture

30 Revenue

31 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

32 Income taxes

33 Employee benefits

36 Consolidated financial statements

37 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

38 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement

39 Financial instruments: presentation

40 Financial instruments: disclosures

43 First-time adoption of technical pronouncements CPC Nos. 15 to 40

Number Technical interpretation

03 Additional aspects of lease operations

06 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

08 Accounting for the proposal for payment of dividends

09 Individual financial statements, separate financial statements, consolidation and equity method

10 Interpretation about the first-time adoption of property, plant and equipment and property for rent of technical 
pronouncements CPCs 27, 28, 37 and 43

 In 2009 26 new Technical Pronouncements and 12 Technical 
Interpretation were issued by the Accounting Pronouncement 
Committee, approved by CVM Resolutions, to be applied from 
2010 and 2009 for purposes of comparability. ITAÚSA and its 
subsidiaries, except the financial institutions, evaluate the new 
pronouncements and interpretations, considering the operations 
that they conduct, and concluded that the standards that apply to 
their current businesses are the following:

ITAÚSA and its subsidiaries are assessing the effects that the new pronouncements may produce on their financial statements and 
income for the following years.

The subsidiaries that operate in the financial sector adopted the standards that do not conflict with the BACEN rules, such as: disclosure 
of related parties, transaction costs and premium on issuance of securities, statement of added value and share-based payment. BACEN, 
through resolution No. 3,786 of September 24, 2009, established that the financial institutions shall adopt the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, according to the pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), for consolidated 
financial statements from December 31, 2010.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Management and Shareholders of

Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A.

São Paulo — SP 

1  We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. (Company and Consolidated) as of 31 
December 2009 and 2008, and the related statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity, cash flows and value added for 
the years then ended, all expressed in Brazilian reais and prepared under the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements. The financial statements of Itaú Unibanco Participações S.A. 
and its controlled company Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A., and of controlled companies Duratex S.A., and Itautec S.A. for the years 
ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, whose amounts were the basis for the valuation under the equity method and consolidation 
(Note 16.a), were audited by other independent auditors, whose report thereon was unqualified. Our opinion, insofar as it relates 
to the carrying value of the Company’s investments in those controlled companies, is exclusively based on the reports of these 
other independent auditors.

2  Our audits were conducted in accordance with auditing standards in Brazil and comprised: (a) planning of the work, taking into 
consideration the significance of the balances, volume of transactions, and the accounting and internal control systems of the 
Company, (b) checking, on a test basis, the evidence and records that support the amounts and accounting information disclosed, 
and (c) evaluating the significant accounting practices and estimates adopted by management, as well as the presentation of the 
financial statements taken as a whole.

3  In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Itaúsa – 
Investimentos Itaú S.A. (Company and consolidated) as of 31 December 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations,  
the changes in shareholders’ equity, cash flows and value added for the years then ended, in conformity with Brazilian  
accounting practices.

4 The accompanying financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of readers outside Brazil.

São Paulo, 1st March 2010

BDO Auditores Independentes

Orlando Octávio de Freitas Júnior   Márcio Serpejante Peppe

Engagement Partner     Concurring Partner
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. 

1  We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. (Itaúsa) and of Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú 
S.A. and its subsidiaries (consolidated) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related statements of income, of changes in 
stockholders’ equity, of cash flows and of added value for the years then ended, as well as the consolidated statements of income, 
of cash flows and of the added value corresponding to the years then ended, prepared under the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements.

2  We conducted our audits in accordance with approved Brazilian auditing standards, which require that we perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are fairly presented in all material respects. Accordingly, our 
work included, among other procedures: (a) planning our audit taking into consideration the significance of balances, the volume 
of transactions and the accounting and internal control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, (b) examining, on a test 
basis, evidence and records supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, and (c) assessing the accounting 
practices used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

3  In our opinion, the financial statements audited by us present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Itaúsa – 
Investimentos Itaú S.A. (Itaúsa) and of Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A. and its subsidiaries (consolidated) at December 31, 2009 and 
2008, and the results of operations, the changes in stockholders’ equity, the cash flows and the added value of the operations for 
the years then ended, as well as the consolidated results of operations and consolidated statements of cash flows and added value 
of the operations for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil.

São Paulo, 1st March 2010

PricewaterhouseCoopers    Paulo Sergio Miron

Auditores Independentes    Contador CRC 1SP173647/O-5

CRC 2SP000160/O-5



126        2009  Financial Statements     

ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A.
             CNPJ. 61.532.644/0001-15     Public company  NIRE. 35300022220

  

OPINION OF THE FISCAL COUNCIL

The effective members of the Fiscal Council of ITAÚSA – INVESTIMENTOS ITAÚ S.A., having reviewed the management report and 
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, have verified the accuracy of all items examined and, in view of the 
unqualified opinions of BDO Auditores Independentes and PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores Independentes, understand that 
they adequately reflect the Company’s capital structure, financial position and the activities conducted during the period, being of 
the opinion that should be approved at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.

São Paulo, March 1st, 2010.

José Marcos Konder Comparato
President

Paulo Ricardo Moraes Amaral
Member

Marcos De Andrade Reis Villela
Member
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GLOSSARY OF FOREIGN TERMS USED IN THE STANDARDIZED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Accrual: Recognition of revenues and expenses under the accrual method.

2. ATM: Automated teller machine, automated banking services machine.

3. CEO (Chief Executive Officer): Principal executive of the company.

4. Corporate: Corporations or large corporate groups Segment of clients identified as large.

5. Desktops: Tabletop micro computer.

6. Default: Inability or unwillingness to repay by a borrower of a loan, counterparty to an agreement or issuer of securities.

7. EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization): Earnings before Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortization.

8. Eurobonds/Euronotes: Bonds issued on the European market by a government or company through a bank of a given country 
and in the currency thereof, but sold internationally, usually by banks.

9. Field Service: Service to the public.

10. Hedge: Protection for a position. A financial strategy employed to minimize the risk arising from market fluctuations on risk 
investments.

11. Help Desk: User support service for solving technical problems.

12. Holding Company: A company that holds voting stock in another company, in a sufficient quantity for influencing its board of 
directors and controlling its policy and management.

13. IBNR (Incurred But Not Reported): Acronym used in insurance claims.

14. Joint Bookrunner: The bank that structures a securities issue, defines the price and invites other underwriters to participate.

15. Leasing: Leasing.

16. Libor: The London Interbank Offered Rate.

17. MDF: ( Medium Density Fibreboard) Medium-density reconstituted fiberboard.

18. MDP: ( Medium Density Particleboard) Medium-density wood particleboard.

19. Ranking: Classification, categorization.

20. Rating: Classification of financial assets or companies according to credit risk.

21. ROE (Return On Equity): Return on Shareholders' Equity.

22. Software: A set of programs, methods and procedures, rules and documentation involving the operation and handling of a 
data system.

23. Stress: Tension. State of difficulty, pressure or extreme worry.

24. Swap: Contractual rights to exchange financial results.

25. Write-off: (Writing off the books a credit transaction that is fully provisioned). Writing off the value of an asset against its 
respective provision.



Itaúsa has adopted the international directives of the Global Reporting Initiative 

(GRI) in its current version, G3, in preparing the 2009 Annual Report, disclosing its 

economic, environmental and social performance, in addition to its management 

model and prospects. This Report was submitted for verification by the GRI.

The Company warrants that this Report qualifies for Level C, fulfilling all profile indicators 

required for this level, with 17 performance indicators having been fully complied with.

 • Economic (EC): two essential indicators.

 • The Environment (EN): three essential and one additional indicator.

 • Labor Practices and Decent Work (LA): two essential indicators.

 • Human Rights (HR): four essential and one additional indicator.

 • Society (SO): two essential indicators.

 • Product Responsibility (PR): two essential indicators.

C C+ B+ A+2002 B A

 

 

 

 

 

 

GRI Index  GRI 3.12
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1
Strategy and  
Analysis 

1.1
Statement by the holder of the highest decision-making power in the organization regarding the relevance of sustainability for the 
company and its strategy.

4 to 7

1.2 Description of the principal impacts, risks and opportunities. 31

2
Organizational  
Profile

2.1 Name of organization. Back cover

2.2 Principal brands, products and/or services. Back cover

2.3 Operating structure of the organization, including the principal divisions, operating units, subsidiaries and joint ventures. Back cover

2.4 Location of the organization’s head office. Back cover

2.5
Number of countries in which the organization operates and names of the countries where its principal operations are located or 
are especially relevant in regard to the sustainability matters covered in the report.

Back cover

2.6 Type and legal nature of ownership. Back cover

2.7 Markets served (including geographical breakdown, industries served and the types of clients/beneficiaries). Back cover

2.8 Size of the organization. Back cover

2.9 Principal changes during the reporting period, regarding size, structure or equity interest. 18

2.10 Awards received in the reporting period. 35

3
Parameters for  
the Report

3.1 Reporting period (such as civil/accounting year) for the information presented. 2

3.2 Date of the most recent previous report (if any). 2

3.3 Report publication cycle (annual, biennial, etc). 2

3.4 Data for contact in case of questions concerning the report or its content. 3 and 131

3.5
The process for defining the content of the report, including: a) determining materiality; b) prioritization of themes within the 
report; c) identification of which stakeholders the organization expects to use the report.

2

3.6 Limit of the report (such as countries, divisions, subsidiaries, leased premises, joint ventures, suppliers). 2

3.7 Statement regarding any specific limitations where the scope or limit of the report is concerned. 2

3.8
The basis for preparing the report in regard to joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased premises, outsourced operations and other 
organizations that might have a significant effect on the comparability between periods and/or between organizations.

2

3.10
Explanation of the consequences of any restatement of information provided in previous reports and the reason behind these 
reformulations (like mergers and acquisitions, change to the period or base year, the nature of the business, methods of measurement).

2

3.11
Significant changes in comparison with previous years in regard to the scope,  
limit or methods of measurement applied in the report.

2

3.12 A table identifying the location of the information in the report. 128

3.13 Current policy and practice concerning external verification for the report. 3 124 and 125

4
Governance,  
Commitments and  
Engagement

4.1
Governance structure of the organization, including committees under the highest governance body responsible for specific tasks, 
such as establishing strategy or supervising the organization.

23

4.2
Indication where the president of the highest governance body is also an executive officer (and if so, their functions within the 
organization’s administration and the reasons for this set-up).

24

4.3
For organizations with a single administrative structure, a statement of the number of independent or independent members of 
the highest governance body.

24

4.4 Mechanisms so that shareholders and employees can make recommendations or provide guidance to the highest governance body. 28

4.8
Mission and value statements, internal codes of conduct and principals relevant for economic, environmental and social perfor-
mance, including their stage of implementation.

11 to 15

4.14 A list of the groups of stakeholders engaged by the organization. 2

4.15 The basis for identifying and selecting stakeholders with whom to engage. 2 and 39

Profile Indicators
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Economic Performance Indicators

Aspect: Economic Performance

EC1 ESSENTIAL
Direct economic value created and distributed, including revenues, operating costs, employee remuneration, donations and other 
investments in the community, retained earnings and payments to providers of capital and to governments.

30, 50 and  
Back cover

76

EC3 ESSENTIAL Coverage of the obligations of the defined benefit pension plan which the organization offers. 118 and 119

Environmental Performance Indicators 

Aspect: Energy

EN3 ESSENTIAL Direct energy consumption broken down by primary energy source. 58

Aspect: Water

EN8 ESSENTIAL Total water withdrawn, per source. 58

Aspect: Emissions, Effluents and Waste

EN16 ESSENTIAL Direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases, by weight. 59

Aspect: General

EN30 ADDITIONAL Total investments and expenditures with environmental protection, per type. 54

Social Performance Indicators

Social Performance Indicators Regarding Labor Practices and Decent Work

Aspect: Employment

LA1 ESSENTIAL Total employees per type of job, work contract and region. 41

Aspect: Relations between the Workers and Governance

LA4 ESSENTIAL Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreements.  41

Social Performance Indicators Regarding Human Rights

Aspect: Non Discrimination 

HR4 ESSENTIAL Total number of cases of discrimination and the measures taken. 43

Aspect: Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining

HR5 ESSENTIAL
Operations identified in which the entitlement to freedom of association and collective bargaining may be running a significant risk and the 
measures taken to support this entitlement.

41

Aspect: Child Labor

HR6 ESSENTIAL
Operations identified as posing a significant risk of child labor occurring and the measures  
taken to contribute to the abolition of child labor.

48

Aspect: Forced or Slave Labor  

HR7 ESSENTIAL
Operations identified as posing a significant risk of the occurrence of forced or slave labor and  
the measures taken to contribute to the eradication of forced and analogous slave labor. 

48

Aspect: Indigenous Rights

HR9 ADDITIONAL Total number of cases of violation of the rights of the indigenous peoples and the measures taken. 

In 2009 there were 
no records of cases of 

violation of the rights of 
the indigenous peoples, 

since the units of all 
subsidiaries are to be 
found In urban areas.

Social Performance Indicators Regarding Society 

Aspect: Corruption

SO4 ESSENTIAL Measures taken in response to cases of corruption. 43

Aspect: Conformity

SO8 ESSENTIAL Monetary value of significant penalties and the total number of non monetary sanctions resulting from non compliance with laws and regulations. 45

Social Performance Indicators Regarding Product Responsibility

Aspect: Marketing Communications  

PR6 ESSENTIAL
Program for abiding by laws, standards and voluntary codes involving marketing communication, including advertising, promotion 
and sponsorship. 

40

PR7 ADDITIONAL
Total number of cases of non compliance with regulations and voluntary codes regarding marketing communications, including advertising, 
promotion and sponsorship, with a breakdown by type of result.  

40
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Itaúsa – Investimentos Itaú S.A.

Praça Alfredo Egydio de Souza Aranha, No. 100 – Olavo Setubal Tower  

04344-902 – São Paulo – SP

www.itausa.com.br

Corporate information  GRI 3.4

Itaú Unibanco Holding S.A.

Praça Alfredo Egydio de Souza Aranha, No. 100 – Olavo Setubal Tower 

04344-902 – São Paulo – SP

www.itau.com.br

Duratex S.A.

Av. Paulista, No. 1.938 – 5th floor

01310-942 – São Paulo – SP

www.duratex.com.br

Elekeiroz S.A.

Rua Dr. Edgardo de Azevedo Soares, No. 392

13224-030 – Várzea Paulista – SP 

www.elekeiroz.com.br

Itautec S.A.

Avenida Paulista, No. 2.028 – 15th floor – Bela Vista District

01310-200 – São Paulo – SP

www.itautec.com.br
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